
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

Audit and Risk Management Committee 

 
Date: THURSDAY, 1 OCTOBER 2020 

Time: 2.00 pm 

Venue: VIRTUAL PUBLIC MEETING (ACCESSIBLE REMOTELY) 

 
Members: Randall Anderson 

Alexander Barr 
Chris Boden 
Hilary Daniels (External Member) 
Anne Fairweather 
Marianne Fredericks (Ex-Officio) 
Alderman Prem Goyal 
Deputy Jamie Ingham Clark (Ex-Officio) 
 

Alderman Ian Luder 
Paul Martinelli 
Caroline Mawhood (External Member) 
Jeremy Mayhew (Ex-Officio) 
Andrien Meyers 
John Petrie 
Ruby Sayed 
Dan Worsley (External Member) 
 

 
 
Enquiries: Chloe Rew 

tel. no.: 020 7332 1427 
chloe.rew@cityoflondon.gov.uk 

 
 

Accessing the virtual public meeting 
 

Members of the public can observe this virtual public meeting at the below link: 
https://youtu.be/x2WRMdBdrX8 

  
This meeting will be a virtual meeting and therefore will not take place in a physical 
location following regulations made under Section 78 of the Coronavirus Act 2020. A 
recording of the public meeting will be available via the above link following the end of the 
public meeting for up to one municipal year. Please note: Online meeting recordings do 
not constitute the formal minutes of the meeting; minutes are written and are available on 
the City of London Corporation’s website. Recordings may be edited, at the discretion of 
the proper officer, to remove any inappropriate material. 

 

 
John Barradell 

Town Clerk and Chief Executive 
 

Public Document Pack

https://youtu.be/x2WRMdBdrX8


2 
 

AGENDA 
 

Part 1 - Public Agenda 
 
1. APOLOGIES 
 
2. MEMBERS' DECLARATIONS UNDER THE CODE OF CONDUCT IN RESPECT OF 

ITEMS ON THE AGENDA 
 
3. ORDER OF THE COURT 
 

 To receive the Order of the Court of Common Council dated 16 July 2020 appointing 
the Committee and setting its terms of reference. 
 

 For Information 
 (Pages 1 - 2) 

 
4. ELECTION OF A CHAIRMAN 
 

 To elect a Chairman in accordance with Standing Order 29. 
 

 For Decision 
5. ELECTION OF DEPUTY CHAIRMEN 
 

 To elect 1 Deputy Chairman (Member) in accordance with Standing Order 30, and 1 
Deputy Chairman (External) in accordance with a convention adopted by the 
Committee on 6 March 2018. 
 

 For Decision 
6. VOTE OF THANKS 
 

For Decision 
7. MINUTES 
 

 To agree the public minutes and non-public summary of the meeting held on 14 July 
2020. 
 

 For Decision 
 (Pages 3 - 6) 

 
8. APPOINTMENT TO SUB-COMMITTEES 
 

 Report of the Town Clerk & Chief Executive. 
 

 For Decision 
 (Pages 7 - 12) 

 
9. OUTSTANDING ACTIONS OF THE COMMITTEE 
 

 Members are asked to note the Committee’s Outstanding Actions List. 
 For Information 
 (Pages 13 - 14) 

 



3 
 

10. COMMITTEE WORK PROGRAMME 
 

 Members are asked to note the Committee’s Work Programme. 
 

 For Information 
 (Pages 15 - 18) 

 
Financial Statements 

 
11. BRIDGE HOUSE ESTATES ANNUAL REPORT AND FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

2019/20 
 

 Report of the Chamberlain. 
 

 For Decision 
 (Pages 19 - 148) 

 
Internal Audit 

 
12. INTERNAL AUDIT UPDATE REPORT 
 

 Report of the Head of Audit and Risk Management. 
 

 For Information 
 (Pages 149 - 158) 

 
Risk Management 

 
13. RISK UPDATE 
 

 Report of the Chamberlain.  
Non-public appendices found at Agenda Item 20. 
 

 For Information 
 (Pages 159 - 190) 

 
14. DEEP DIVE RISK REVIEWS 

 
 a) CR29: Information Management Programme Progress Update and CR29 

Information Management Deep Dive 
 
Report of the Town Clerk & Chief Executive. 

For Information 
(Pages 191 - 198) 

 

   
 b) CR30: Refresh of CR30 for Implementation Phase of Climate Action 

Strategy   
 

  Report of the Town Clerk & Chief Executive. 
For Information 

(Pages 199 - 208) 
 



4 
 

External Inspections 
 
15. ANNUAL SUMMARY OF HMICFRS INSPECTIONS AND REPORTS 
 

 Report of the Commissioner of the City of London Police. 
 

 For Information 
 (Pages 209 - 214) 

 
16. QUESTIONS ON MATTERS RELATING TO THE WORK OF THE COMMITTEE 
 
17. ANY OTHER BUSINESS THAT THE CHAIRMAN CONSIDERS URGENT 
 
18. EXCLUSION OF THE PUBLIC 
 

 MOTION, that – under Section 100(A) of the Local Government Act 1972, the public 
be excluded from the meeting for the following items on the grounds that they involve 
the likely disclosure of exempt information as defined in Part I of the Schedule 12A of 
the Local Government Act.  
 

 For Decision 
Part 2 - Non-Public Agenda 

 
19. NON-PUBLIC MINUTES OF THE PREVIOUS MEETING 
 

 To agree the Non-Public minutes of the meeting held on 14 July 2020. 
 

 For Decision 
 (Pages 215 - 216) 

 
20. NON-PUBLIC APPENDICES TO THE RISK UPDATE 
 

 Non-Public Appendices to be read in conjunction with the report of the Chamberlain 
at Agenda Item 13 – Risk Update. 
 

 For Information 
 (Pages 217 - 232) 

 
21. NON-PUBLIC QUESTIONS ON MATTERS RELATING TO THE WORK OF THE 

COMMITTEE 
 
22. ANY OTHER BUSINESS THAT THE CHAIRMAN CONSIDERS URGENT AND 

WHICH THE COMMITTEE AGREE SHOULD BE CONSIDERED WHILST THE 
PUBLIC ARE EXCLUDED 

 
Part 3 - Confidential Agenda 

 
23. CONFIDENTIAL MINUTES OF THE PREVIOUS MEETING 
 

 To agree the confidential minutes of the previous meeting held 14 July 2020. 
 

 For Decision 



5 
 

24. CONFIDENTIAL QUESTIONS ON MATTERS RELATING TO THE WORK OF THE 
COMMITTEE 

 
25. ANY OTHER BUSINESS THAT THE CHAIRMAN CONSIDERS URGENT AND THE 

COMMITTEE AGREES SHOULD BE CONSIDERED IN CONFIDENTIAL SESSION 
 



This page is intentionally left blank



RUSSELL, Mayor RESOLVED: That the Court of Common 
Council holden in the Guildhall of the City of 
London on Thursday 16th July 2020, doth 
hereby appoint the following Committee until 
the first meeting of the Court in April, 2021. 

 
AUDIT & RISK MANAGEMENT COMMITTEE 

 
1. Constitution 
 A Non-Ward Committee consisting of, 

• ten Members elected by the Court of Common Council* at least one of whom shall have fewer than five years’ 
service on the Court at the time of their appointment 

• three external representatives (i.e. non-Members of the Court of Common Council with no voting rights) 

• the Chairman and Deputy Chairman of the Finance Committee (ex-officio with no voting rights) 

• a representative of the Policy & Resources Committee (ex-officio with no voting rights) 
 

*NB:- The Chairmen of the Policy and Resources, Finance and Investment Committees are not eligible for election to 
this Committee and the Deputy Chairman of the Audit & Risk Management Committee for the time being may not be a 
Chairman of another Committee. 

 
From April 2017 onwards, Members of the Court of Common Council are appointed for terms of three years. The 
maximum continuous period of service (except when serving as Chairman or Deputy Chairman) shall be nine years in 
any twelve-year period. 
 
The Committee shall also have a second Deputy Chairman, appointed from the External Membership of the 
Committee. 
 

2. Quorum  
The quorum consists of five Members i.e. at least three Members elected by the Court of Common Council and at least 
one external representative. 

 
3. Membership 2020/21 
  

3 (3) Anne Helen Fairweather 

10 (3) Ian David Luder, J.P., Alderman 

3 (1) John Petrie, for one year 

4 (2) Alexander Robertson Martin Barr 

3 (2) Andrien Gereith Dominic Meyers 

1 (1) Ruby Sayed, for two years 

4 (1) Randall Keith Anderson 

4 (1) Christopher Paul Boden 

1 (1) Alderman Prem Goyal, O.B.E., J.P. 

4 (1) Paul Nicholas Martinelli 

 
 

together with three external representatives :-  

 Caroline Mawhood (appointed for a three-year term expiring in March 2021) 

 Hilary Daniels (appointed for a three-year term expiring in March 2022) 

 Dan Worsley (appointed for a three-year term expiring in April 2023) 

and together with the Members referred to in paragraph 1. 
 

4. Terms of Reference  
 
 Audit 
(a) To consider and approve annually the rolling three-year plan for Internal Audit. 

 
(b) To consider and approve the annual External Audit Plan. 

 
(c) To commission and to receive reports from the Chief Internal Auditor on the extent that the City of London Corporation 

can rely on its system of internal control and to provide reasonable assurance that the City of London Corporation’s 
objectives will be achieved efficiently. 
 

(d) To meet with the external auditors prior to the presentation of the Accounts to the Court, consider the audited annual 
accounts of the City Fund and the various non-local authority funds, to receive and consider the formal reports, letters 
and recommendations of the City of London Corporation’s external auditors and to make recommendations relating to 
the approval of the accounts (to the Finance Committee). 
 

Page 1

Agenda Item 3



(e) To meet with the external auditors of the City’s various funds at least once in each calendar year prior to the 
presentation of the financial statements to the Court. 
 

(f) In addition to (e), to meet with the external auditors of the City’s various funds at least once in each calendar year. 
 

(g) To report back, as necessary and at least annually, to the Court of Common Council. 
 

(h) To appoint an Independent Audit Panel to make recommendations on the appointment of external auditors to the 
Court of Common Council. 
 

 Risk Management 
(a) To monitor and oversee the City of London Corporation’s risk management strategy, anti-fraud and anti-corruption 

arrangements; and to be satisfied that the authority’s assurance framework properly reflect the risk environment. 
 

(b) To consider all audit or external inspection reports relating to any department at the City of London Corporation and 
seek assurance that action has been taken where necessary. 
 

(c) 
 
 
(d) 

To receive an annual report from the Chamberlain reviewing the effectiveness of the City of London’s risk 
management strategy. 
 
To consider and report back to the Court on any risks related to all governance issues. 
 

(e) To undertake periodic reviews of the risk management procedures, financial capabilities, controls, and safeguarding 
procedures of the City of London School, the City of London School for Girls, the City of London Freemens’ School, 
the City of London Academies Trust (including its embedded academies) and the City Academies which are free-
standing entities. 

 

Page 2



AUDIT AND RISK MANAGEMENT COMMITTEE 
 

Tuesday, 14 July 2020  
 

Minutes of the meeting of the Audit and Risk Management Committee held at Virtual 
Public Meeting (Accessible Remotely) on Tuesday, 14 July 2020 at 2.00 pm 

 
Present 
 
Members: 
Alderman Ian Luder (Chairman) 
Hilary Daniels (Deputy Chairman) 
Alexander Barr (Deputy Chairman) 
Randall Anderson 
Chris Boden 
Deputy Jamie Ingham Clark (Ex-Officio) 
Anne Fairweather 
 

Marianne Fredericks (Ex-Officio) 
Paul Martinelli 
Caroline Mawhood (External Member) 
Jeremy Mayhew (Ex-Officio) 
Andrien Meyers 
John Petrie 
 

Officers: 
Chloe Rew - Town Clerk's Department 

Rofikul Islam - Town Clerk's Department 

Kerry Nicholls - Town Clerk's Department 

Peter Kane - The Chamberlain 

Caroline Al-Beyerty - Chamberlain's Department 

Paul Dudley - Chamberlain's Department 

James Gibson - Chamberlain's Department 

Sean Green - Chamberlain's Department 

Chris Keesing - Chamberlain’s Department 

Matthew Lock - Chamberlain's Department 

Michael Cogher - Comptroller and City Solicitor 

Gary Brailsford-Hart - City of London Police 

Chris Pelham - Department of Community and Children's Services 

  

Also in attendance:  

Alderman Prem Goyal - Court of Common Council 

Ruby Sayed - Court of Common Council 

Fiona Condron - External Auditor, BDO 

Leigh Lloyd-Thomas - External Auditor, BDO 

 
 

1. APOLOGIES  
The Chairman opened the meeting thanking Alderman Nick Anstee and 
Alderman John Garbutt for their service on the Committee, as they would not 
be seeking reappointment following the end of their terms. 
 
Apologies were received from Dan Worsley. 
 

Public Document Pack

Page 3

Agenda Item 7



2. MEMBERS' DECLARATIONS UNDER THE CODE OF CONDUCT IN 
RESPECT OF ITEMS ON THE AGENDA  
There were no declarations.  
 

3. MINUTES OF THE PREVIOUS MEETING  
RESOLVED, that – the public minutes and non-public summary of the previous 
meeting held on 2 June 2020 be agreed as a correct record. 
 

4. OUTSTANDING ACTIONS OF THE COMMITTEE  
Members received the Committee’s list of outstanding actions, noting that the 
outstanding action regarding Brexit assessments would be removed. 
 

5. COMMITTEE WORK PROGRAMME  
Members received the Committee’s work programme, noting that changes to 
the informal risk challenge session arrangements would be agreed for the 
accompanying report at item 10a).  
 

6. INTERNAL AUDIT UPDATE REPORT  
Members received a report of the Head of Audit and Risk Management relative 
to Internal Audit. 
 
RESOLVED, that – the report be received and the following points be noted 
with respect to project management: 

1) Members expressed concern regarding Corporate Wide Project 
Management at paragraph 3 of the report, and the Head of Audit and 
Risk Management confirmed that officers were working with internal 
audit to reach a solution; 

2) Members requested that this report be brought to the Projects Sub-
Committee; 

3) The Chamberlain would work with the Head of Audit and Risk 
Management and the Town Clerk to ensure Chief Officers were aware of 
the need to undertake internal audit work and the importance of 
resuming full delivery of the Internal Audit Plan as restrictions from the 
COVID-19 pandemic ease. 

 
7. CORPORATE RISK UPDATE  

Members considered a report of the Chamberlain relative to the Corporate Risk 
Register. The report sought approval for a new risk, CR35 Unsustainable 
Medium-Term Finances risk, to be added to the Corporate Risk Register, into 
which other risks could be incorporated.  
 
Following discussion, Members did not agree to incorporating CR23 Police 
Funding into CR35 as this would minimise the focus on the risks and issues 
specific to the Police. 
 
RESOLVED, that – Members agree the following: 

1) to endorse the inclusion of CR35 Unsustainable Medium-Term Finances 
risk on the corporate risk register; 

2) to not incorporate CR23 Police Funding into CR35; 
3) to incorporate CR31 Fundamental Review risk into CR35; 

Page 4



4) to note the de-escalation of CR27 Change Management to the 
departmental level (Town Clerk’s) 

 
8. OFSTED INSPECTION 2020  

Members received a report of the Director of Community & Children’s Services 
relative to the 2020 Ofsted Inspection, noting that children’s social services 
received an ‘Outstanding’ judgement. 
 
RESOLVED, that – the report be received and its contents noted. 
 

9. QUESTIONS ON MATTERS RELATING TO THE WORK OF THE 
COMMITTEE  
There were no questions. 
 

10. ANY OTHER BUSINESS THAT THE CHAIRMAN CONSIDERS URGENT  
 
a) FUTURE ARRANGEMENTS FOR THE INFORMAL RISK CHALLENGE 

SESSIONS 
 
Members considered a report of the Chamberlain relative to future 
arrangements for the Informal Risk Challenge Session, requesting that the 
sessions be disaggregated from the Grand Committee meetings in order to 
hold more regular sessions, therefore ensuring all departments would 
participate in the sessions within two years. 
 
RESOLVED, that – Members agree the following: 

1) that the Chief Officer Informal Risk Challenge (IRC) sessions be held 
separately from the cycle of Committee meetings with effect from 
September 2020; 

2) that the IRC sessions be held on a more frequent basis, with up to two 
sessions between each Committee meeting, depending on the 
Committee meeting date schedule; 

3) that the schedule of IRC sessions gives due consideration to the 
potential risk exposure of the City Corporation of both existing and new 
risk areas, as well as the effectiveness of the departmental risk 
management arrangements. The duration of each IRC will be 
proportionate to risk exposure and effectiveness of each departmental 
risk management arrangements – up to one hour maximum per IRC 
session; 

4) that lighter-touch IRC sessions take place where the Committee is 
satisfied that there are effective risk management arrangements in 
place. This proportionate approach would be reviewed on a regular 
basis, subject to the continued effectiveness of departmental risk 
management arrangements and the overall and up-to-date risk profile of 
departments; 

5) agree that, subject to the views of the Committee in relation to the 
above, the IRC administrative working arrangements be approved by the 
Chairman and Deputy Chairmen; 

Page 5



6) that further consideration be given to incorporating the session note into 
the Grand Committee agenda, aiming to balance the public interest with 
the candid nature of the discussion.  
 

b) ANY OTHER BUSINESS 
 

The Deputy Chairman (Member) raised one item of business, noting that this 
was Alderman Luder’s last meeting as Chairman of the Committee, and 
expressed thanks on behalf of the Committee for the Chairman’s contributions. 
A formal tribute would take place at the following meeting. 
 

11. EXCLUSION OF THE PUBLIC  
RESOLVED, that – under Section 100(A) of the Local Government Act 1972, 
the public be excluded from the meeting for the following items on the grounds 
that they involve the likely disclosure of exempt information as defined in Part I 
of the Schedule 12A of the Local Government Act. 
 

12. NON-PUBLIC MINUTES OF THE PREVIOUS MEETING  
RESOLVED, that – the non-public minutes of the previous meeting held 2 June 
2020 be agreed as a correct record. 
 

13. DEEP DIVE - CR16: INFORMATION SECURITY RISK  
Members received a report and presentation of the Chamberlain relative a 
Deep Dive of CR16 – Information Security. 
 
RESOLVED, that – the report be received and its contents noted. 
 

14. NON-PUBLIC QUESTIONS ON MATTERS RELATING TO THE WORK OF 
THE COMMITTEE  
There were no questions. 
 

15. ANY OTHER BUSINESS THAT THE CHAIRMAN CONSIDERS URGENT 
AND WHICH THE COMMITTEE AGREE SHOULD BE CONSIDERED 
WHILST THE PUBLIC ARE EXCLUDED  
There was one item of other business discussed in confidential session. 
 

 
 
The meeting ended at 4.00 pm 
 
 
 

 

Chairman 
 
 
 
Contact Officer: Chloe Rew 
tel. no.: 020 7332 1427 
chloe.rew@cityoflondon.gov.uk 
 

Page 6



Committee: Date: 

Audit and Risk Management Committee 1 October 2020 

Subject:  
Appointment of the Nominations Sub Committee and 
Appointments to the Police Performance and Resource 
Management Sub (of the Police Committee) 

 
 
Public 

Report of: 
Town Clerk & Chief Executive 

 
 
For Decision 

Report author:  
Chloe Rew, Town Clerk’s Department 

Summary 
 

The purpose of this report is to ask the Audit and Risk Management Committee to 
appoint the Nominations Sub-Committee, approve its composition and Terms of 
Reference; and to appoint 2 Members to serve on the Police Performance and 
Resource Management Sub (of the Police Committee). 

 
Recommendations: 

• The Committee is asked to: Agree the appointment, composition and Terms 
of Reference of the Nominations Sub-Committee (up to 6 Members, 
including the Chairman and Deputy Chairman of the Grand Committee and 
one External Member, to give an independent perspective); and, 

• Appoint 2 Members to the Police Performance and Resource Management 
Sub Committee. 

 
Main Report 
 

1. The purpose of this report is to consider the appointment of Members to 
the Nominations Sub Committee for 2020/21 and to approve its 
composition and Terms of Reference. Additionally, the Audit and Risk 
Management Committee is asked to appoint two of its Members to serve 
on the Police Performance and Resource Management Sub Committee 
(Police Committee). 
 

Nominations Sub Committee 
 

2. At your Committee on 16 January 2018 (Appendix A), Members agreed to 
establish a Nominations Sub Committee. Its composition and Terms of 
Reference are included at Appendix B. Nominations Sub Committees 
generally meet up to 3 times a year, but meetings can be arranged as and 
when required, including for the purposes of reviewing applications and 
interviewing candidates. 
 
 
 

Page 7

Agenda Item 8



3. Although the Terms of Reference state one external Member is to be 
appointed to the Sub-Committee in order to give an independent 
perspective, two external Members were appointed for 2018/19 and 
2019/20. 
 

Police Performance and Resource Management Sub (of the Police 
Committee) 
 

4. Members are asked to indicate whether they wish to serve on the Police 
Performance and Resource Management Sub Committee. 2 Members will 
be appointed. External Members are eligible to be appointed. 

 
Conclusion 
 

5. Members are asked to note the contents of this report and consider the 
appointments, compositions and Terms of Reference as set out in the 
recommendations.  

 
Appendices 
 

• Appendix A – Report to the Audit and Risk Management Committee (16 
January 2018) 
 

• Appendix B – Terms and Reference and Composition of the Nominations 
Sub-Committee of the Audit and Risk Management Committee. 

 

• Appendix C – Terms of Reference and Composition of the Police 
Performance and Resource Management Sub-Committee of the Police 
Authority Board 

 
 
 

 
Chloe Rew 
Committee and Member Services Officer 
T: 020 7332 1427 
E: chloe.rew@cityoflondon.gov.uk 

 

Page 8

mailto:chloe.rew@cityoflondon.gov.uk


 

 
 
Committee: Audit and Risk Management  

APPENDIX A 
 
Date:  16 January 2018 

Subject: Succession Planning for External Members: to 
appoint a Nominations Sub Committee of the Audit and 
Risk Management Committee 

Public 

Report of: Town Clerk  

For Decision 

 
Report Author: Julie Mayer  

 
Summary 

 
 
At its meeting on 16 January 2014, the Court of Common Council agreed to vary the 
procedure for the appointment of External Members to the Audit and Risk Management 
Committee, in order to allow them to be appointed for a further term, with a maximum of 
two terms being served as the norm.  Since then, the Court has agreed to renew the terms 
of two External Members for a third term, expiring in 2020 and 2021 respectively.  The 
Committee’s other External Member is currently serving a second term which will expire 
in 2019. 
 
Members are reminded that the UK Corporate Governance Code (Guidance on Audit 
Committees) states that appointments can be extended, by no more than two additional 
three-year periods, so long as Members continue to be independent.  It is not unusual 
practice, in other local authorities, for External Members of both Audit and Standards 
Committees to serve three terms.   
 
However, to keep a fresh perspective and to prepare for future appointments, Members 
are asked to consider the good practice of other City of London Corporation Boards and 
Committees, which appoint External Members, by establishing a Nominations Sub 
Committee and maintaining a portfolio of potential future External Members. 
 
 
RECOMMENDATION – That: 
 

1. A Nominations Sub Committee, of the Audit and Risk Management Committee, be 
established and the number and composition of its membership be agreed. 

 
2. The Draft Terms of Reference at Appendix 1 be considered and approved. 

 
3. Members of the Sub Committee be appointed at the first meeting of the Audit and 

Risk Management Committee, following the Annual Court of Common Council in 
April 2018. 

 
4. The first meeting of the Sub Committee be convened for June 2018 at which 

Members will be asked to recommend, to the Grand Committee, the frequency of 
future meetings.   

 

Page 9



Background 
 
Members of Sub Committees are generally appointed by Grand Committees at their 
first meeting following the Annual Court; i.e. 29th May 2018 for the Audit and Risk 
Management Committee.   As the terms of our External Members expire in 2019, for 
a Member serving a second term, and 2020 and 2021 respectively, for two Members 
serving their third terms, it is timely for Members of the Audit and Risk Management 
Committee to consider appointing a Nominations Sub Committee. 
 
The Barbican Centre Board has run a successful Nominations Sub Committee some 
years and Members are asked to consider the draft Terms of Reference (at 
Appendix 1 to this report) based on this model.   
 
Membership of the Sub Committee could comprise of 5 or 6 Members, including the 
Chairman and Deputy Chairman of the Grand Committee and one External Member, 
to give an independent perspective.     
 
Nominations Sub Committees generally meet 2 or 3 times a year but could be 
arranged as and when required.  At the initial meeting of the Sub Committee, 
Members would be asked to recommend the timing and frequency of meetings to the 
Grand Committee.   
 
The Barbican Centre Board’s Nominations Sub Committee also undertakes regular 
skills audits. Members of the Audit and Risk Management Nominations Sub 
Committee might like to consider either adopting this practice or analysing feedback 
from the Committee Effectiveness Survey.   
 
Implications 
 
There are likely to be costs incurred in advertising, depending on which options 
Members favour.   
 
Conclusion 
 
In order to keep a fresh perspective and to prepare for future appointments, Members 
are asked to consider the good practice of other City of London Corporation Boards 
and Committees, which appoint External Members, by introducing a Nominations Sub 
Committee and maintaining a portfolio of potential future External Members. 

 
Contact: 
Julie Mayer, Committee and Member Services 
Telephone: 020 7332 1410 
Email: julie.mayer@cityoflondon.gov.uk 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 10

mailto:julie.mayer@cityoflondon.gov.uk


APPENDIX B 
Nominations Subcommittee: Current Membership 6 
 
Up to 4 Members to be appointed by the Grand Committee (in addition to the 
Chairman and Deputy Chairman). 
 
Meetings in 2019/20: 1 formal meeting, plus additional meetings for shortlisting and 
interviews 
 
1.1 The current composition is as follows: 
 

Chairman of the Grand Committee 

Deputy Chairman (Member) of the Grand Committee 

2. Randall Anderson 

3. Jamie Ingham Clark 

4. Caroline Mawhood (external) 

5. Dan Worsley (external) 

 
1.2 Terms of Reference and Composition of the Nominations Sub Committee 
 

Membership: 5 or 6 Members, including the Chairman and Deputy Chairman of 
the Grand Committee and one External Member, to give an independent 
perspective.     

 
1. To make recommendations to the Audit and Risk Management Committee on 

the appointment of all External Members to the Committee. 
 
2. To undertake Skills Audits of the Committee periodically (or analyse 

information from the Committee Effectiveness Survey) to inform the 
appointment of External Members to the Committee. 

 
3. To consider the most appropriate way to recruit External Members to the 

Committee, including the placing of advertisements or the use of personal 
contacts. 

 
4. The Sub Committee will have advisory powers only and make 

recommendations to the Board. 

Page 11



APPENDIX C 
 
Performance and Resource Management Committee  
 
Composition 
 

• Up to five Members of the Police Authority Board appointed by the Police Authority 
Board, in addition to the Chairman and Deputy Chairman; 

• Two co-opted Members to be appointed by the Audit and Risk Management 
Committee; and 

• Up to two co-opted Members to be appointed by the Police Authority Board. 

• A co-opted Member to be appointed by the Finance Committee.  
 

Terms of Reference  
 
To be responsible for: 

Policing Plan and Performance  

a. overseeing the monitoring of performance against the City of 
London Policing Plan and measure crime and harm reduction 
against appropriate benchmarks;  

b. monitoring government, policing bodies and other external 
agencies’ policies and actions relating to police performance and 
advising the Police Authority Board or Commissioner as 
appropriate; 

c. Oversight of the delivery of the City of London Police Corporate 
Plan and Strategic Policing Requirement; 

d. Monitoring of HMICFRS reporting and implementation of 
recommendations, and other relevant reporting.  

e. Monitoring of Human Resources issues not covered by the 
Professional Standards and Integrity Committee.  

Finance, Asset Management and Change  

f. overseeing the Force’s resource management in order to maximise 
the efficient and effective use of resources to deliver its strategic 
priorities including monitoring against budget, scrutiny of proposed 
budgets, and the Medium Term Financial Plan;  

g. Scrutiny and recommendations around capital spend and 
programmes.  

h. Oversight of Force Commercial Projects; 

i. Oversight of Risk and Transform;  

j. Scrutiny of Police Accommodation strategy requirements.  

k. Scrutiny of internal audit reporting and implementation of 
recommendations.  

l. Making recommendations to the Police Authority Board to change 
procedures, where necessary. 

m. Any other matters referred to it by the Police Authority Board. 

Page 12



AUDIT AND RISK MANAGEMENT COMMITTEE - Outstanding Actions - October 2020 

 

 

11. Items from meeting held 14 July 2020 12.   

ITEM Action Officer and target date 

13. 5. WORK PROGRAMME 14. A report to be brought to the next committee meeting regarding 
departmental COVID-19 risks 

Chamberlain 
 
Date: 1 October 2020 
 

 
 

15. Items from meeting held 28 January 2020 16.   

ITEM Action Officer and target date 

17. 9. INTERNAL AUDIT 
RECOMMENDATIONS 
FOLLOW UP 

18. City of London School for Girls to provide the Town Clerk with the number of 
outstanding recommendations ahead of a future committee meeting. 

Bursar, City of London 
School for Girls 
 
Date: TBC 
 

 
 
 

P
age 13

A
genda Item

 9



T
his page is intentionally left blank

P
age 14



 

 
Audit & Risk Management Committee - Work Programme: October 2020 – May 2021  

 
 

1 October 2020 
 

 3 November 2020 
 

19 January 2021 23 March 2021 25 May 2021 

Financial Statements and External Auditors 

Bridge House Estate 
Accounts 
 
 
 

City’s Cash Accounts 
 
Open Spaces Accounts 
 
Sundry Trusts Accounts 
 
City Fund and Pension 
Fund Accounts (moved 
from October) 
 

   

Risk Management (Regular update reports, Deep Dive Risk Reviews and Independent Risk Challenge  

Deep Dive: 
 
1. CR29 Information 

Management (Town 
Clerk) 
 
 

2. CR30 Climate Action 
(Town Clerk) 

Deep Dive: 
 
1. CR10 Adverse 

Political 
Developments 
(Remembrancer) 
 

2. CR09 Health & 
Safety (Town Clerk) 

Deep Dive: 
 
1. CR23 Police 

Funding 
(Chamberlain’s/
COLP) 
 

2. CR21 Air Quality 
(M&CP) 
 

Deep Dive: 
 
1.  CR17 Safeguarding 

(DCCS) 
 
 
 

2. CR35 Medium-Term 
Financial Plan 
(Chamberlain’s) 
 

Deep Dive: 
 
1. TBC – CR34 COVID 

Recovery (Town 
Clerk’s) 
 
 

2. TBC – CR28 Action 
Fraud (Chamberlain’s/ 
CoLP)   
 
 

P
age 15

A
genda Item

 10



 

Corporate Risk Update Risk Management 
Update  
 
Review of Risk 
Management Strategy  

Risk Management 
Update 

 Risk Management Update 

*  Deferred Deep Dives          
- CR27: Change Management (Town Clerk) – March 2020       
- CR28: Action Fraud (Chamberlain/CoLP) – March 2020     
- CR02: Loss of Business Support for the City (Town Clerk) – June 2020 
- CR24: Operational Security (Town Clerk) – July 2020 
 

Internal Audit/Corporate Anti-fraud  

Internal Audit Update 
 

Internal Audit Update 
(6-month plan 
delivery) 
 
 
Anti-Fraud Update 

Internal Audit Update 
(9-month plan 
delivery) 
 
 
Draft 2021/22 Internal 
Audit Plan 

Internal Audit Update 
(Provisional 12-month 
plan delivery outturn) 

Internal Audit Update (12-
month plan delivery) 
 
 
 
Head of Internal Audit 
Annual Opinion 

Governance 

Election of Chairman and 
Deputy Chairman 
 
Appointment to Sub-
Committees 

AGS Methodology 
Report 

 Annual Report of the 
Committee 
 
Annual Review of the 
Audit Charter 

Annual Governance 
Statement 

External Inspections/OFSTED Reports etc 

HMIC (City of London 
Police) 

    

 
 
 
 
 
 

P
age 16



 
Risk Challenge Session Schedule:  
 
Note – Following the Committee’s decision on 14 July 2020, from September 2020 Informal Risk Challenge Sessions will be 
conducted virtually, and will take place once per month outside the of the committee schedule. 
 

Month Committee Date  Risk Challenge Date Department 

Sep-20 - 9 September 2020 Town Clerk’s Department 

Oct-20 1 October 2020 21 October 2020 Markets and Consumer Protection (deferred from June 2020) 

Nov-20 3 November 2020 18 November 2020  City of London School 

Dec-20 - 4 December 2020 Remembrancer (deferred from March 2020) 

Jan-21  January 2021 20 January 2021 Department of Built Environment (deferred from July 2020) 

Feb-21 - 24 February 2021 City of London Freemen’s School 

Mar-21 23 March 2021 24 March 2021 City Surveyor’s 

Apr-21 - 28 April 2021 Department of Community and Children’s Services 

May-21 25 March 2021 12 May 2021 City of London School for Girls 

Jun-21 - 2 June 2021 Comptroller and City Solicitor 

Jul-21 13 July 2021 28 July 2021 Department of Open Spaces 

Sep-21  September 2021 29 September 2021 Barbican Centre 

Oct-21 - 13 October 2021 Mansion House/Central Criminal Court 

Nov-21 30 November 2021 3 November 2021 Guildhall School of Music and Drama 
 

P
age 17



T
his page is intentionally left blank

P
age 18



 

 

Committees: 

Audit and Risk Management – For decision 

 

Dates:  

1st October 2020 
 

Subject:  
Bridge House Estates Annual Report and Financial 
Statements 2019/20 

Public 

Report of: The Chamberlain 
 

For decision 

Report author:  
Karen Atkinson, Head of Charity and Social Investment 
Finance, Chamberlain’s Department 

 
 

Summary  
 

The draft Annual Report and Financial Statements for Bridge House Estates (BHE) 
for the year ended 31 March 2020 are attached at Annex 1 for approval.  Members 
should note that the version included in your papers is not the designed version of 
the report for publication. 

The audit work has been substantially completed and the Audit Panel has met, with 
positive feedback presented to the Chamberlain. BDO LLP is intending to issue an 
unqualified opinion with the inclusion of an ‘emphasis of matter’ paragraph on the 
uncertainty relating to property valuations as a result of Covid-19. 

 
The key points to highlight within the financial statements are: 

• The funds of the charity are split between the permanent endowment fund 
(£984.2m), unrestricted income funds (£549.4m) and a restricted fund 
(£2.8m) with total funds (net assets) held being £1,536.4m – an increase of 
£41.7m or 2.8% on the previous year. 

• The net surplus for the year of £47.1m includes gains on property 
investments of £80.2m, losses on financial investments of £16.0m and 
minor losses on social investments of £0.9m.  

• Grant-making activities and associated spend reaching a record high for the 
charity at £33.7m, with £30.7m of this being new grant commitments. 

• The transfer of £200m from unrestricted income funds to the grant-making 
designated fund for application under the agreed funding policy of the 
charity ‘Bridging Divides’, as approved by Court in March 2020. 

• The inclusion of a revised reserves policy for the charity, also approved by 
Court in March 2020, stating the need to hold free reserves of £35m. 

• The inclusion of increased disclosures relating to the ‘going concern’ status 
of the charity, as a result of uncertainties relating to the long-term impact of 
Covid-19. Specific disclosures reflect the uncertainty relating to property 
valuations as at 31 March 2020, which have led to the inclusion of the 
‘emphasis of matter’ paragraph within the auditor’s opinion. 
 

Page 19

Agenda Item 11



 

• The re-investment of £41m, including the purchase of 4 Chiswell Street in 
July 2019 within the property portfolio utilising disposal proceeds from 
previous years that had been held as short- term financial investments. 

 
BDO LLP commenced its audit on 3 July, conducting their work remotely due to 
the pandemic. BDO’s representatives will be in attendance at the Audit and Risk 
Management Committee to present their report. 
 
 
 

Recommendations: 

The Audit and Risk Management Committee are asked to: 

• Consider the contents of the audit management report issued by BDO 
(Annex 2); 

• Recommend approval of the BHE Annual Report and Financial Statements 
for the year ended 31 March 2020 to the Finance Committee; and  

• Delegate authority to the Chamberlain, in consultation with the Chairman 
and Deputy Chairman of the Audit and Risk Management Committee, for 
approval of any material change to the financial statements required before 
the signing of the audit opinion by BDO. 

 

 

Page 20



 

Main Report 

Introduction 
 

1. The 2019/20 Annual Report and Financial Statements for BHE for the year 
ended 31 March 2020 are presented for review.   
 
The Charity Commission require charities to submit their annual report 
within 10 months of their financial year-end, however good practice expects 
submission earlier than this deadline.  As a significant charity within the 
sector, BHE looks to demonstrate good governance in making available its 
annual report on a timely basis.  
 

2. Approval of each year’s annual report and financial statements has been 
delegated by the Court of Common Council to the Finance Committee. For 
the 2019/20 annual report and financial statements, approval is planned to 
take place at the October Finance Committee. 

 
Audit Opinion 
 
3. BDO LLP intend to issue an unqualified audit opinion. It will however 

reference within their opinion an “Emphasis of Matter” given the uncertainty 
relating to the valuation of investment properties as at the year-end date. 
The external valuers are required to take into account the conditions that 
existed as at this date, and therefore the valuations of the BHE investment 
properties have been reported on the basis of ‘material valuation 
uncertainty’ as per the RICS Red Book Global, which contains mandatory 
rules, best practice guidance and related commentary for all RICS members 
undertaking asset valuations. 
 

4. Full disclosure of this issue is made within the accounting policies of the 
charity (pages 41-42), noting that the absence of significant transactional 
evidence and the macro-economic effect of Covid-19 at that time was a 
cause for uncertainty. Subsequent to the valuation date, transactional 
evidence has become available in respect of Central London properties, 
however this does not impact upon the valuation as at 31st March 2020. 

 
Statement of Financial Activities 
 
5. Income for the year came to £46.6m, an increase of £3.5m (8.1%) on the 

previous year.  
 

6. Restricted grant income of £1.8m was received in the final month of the 
year (2018/19: £0.2m). This represents donations by various funders 
towards the London Community Response Fund (LCRF), a restricted trust 
that was swiftly established within BHE to support the response to the 
Coronavirus pandemic.  
 

7. Income from charitable activities consists of the combined income derived 

Page 21



 

from visitor admissions, retail and events at Tower Bridge. With 2019 being 
the 125th Anniversary of Tower Bridge, the first 11 months of the year 
produced record levels of income. However, the visitor attraction had to 
close as a result of the pandemic in March 2020, which impacted on the full 
year results. Total income across the year was £6.7m (2018/19: £6.8m). 
 

8. Investment income is principally driven by the rental income earned from 
the property portfolio held by the charity, which is currently all held within 
the endowment fund. Property income totalled £34.6m, an increase of 
£3.1m against the previous year (2018/19: £31.5m). This included a 
surrender payment of £3.1m following a tenant exiting their lease 2 years 
ahead of the lease end date. The majority of the charity’s financial 
investments are held on a pooled basis, the income equivalent of which 
forms part of the movement in the value of assets within the balance sheet. 
Income arising from financial investments held on a non-pooled basis is 
reported within the statement of financial activities, at £2.5m (2018/19: 
£2.8m). Interest earnt from social investments and treasury deposits held 
makes up the balance of investment income, at £0.8m (2018/19: £0.8m). 
 

9. Other income of £0.2m includes fees received by City Bridge Trust (CBT) to 
undertake grant administrative services on behalf of other organisations, 
with the prior year amount of £1.0m being higher due to a one-off receipt by 
BHE relating to access to land. 
 

10. Expenditure totalled £62.8m, an increase of £9.7m on the prior year 
(£53.1m), driven by increased grant-making activities. The majority of 
expenditure was unrestricted with the exception of £0.2m (2018/19: nil) of 
grants against a funded programme and £0.6m (2018/19: £0.6m) costs 
attributable to the maintenance of the capital value of the endowment.  
 

11. Expenditure on raising funds increased slightly to £15.3m (2018/19: 
£15.1m). There were minor changes in the amounts expended on some of 
the activities relating to raising income, which comprise the costs of 
managing the charity’s investment portfolio and fees attributable to financial 
investments held. Expenditure relating to the Tower Bridge tourism 
operations is now reported within charitable activities, matching the 
disclosure of income earnt. 
 

12. Spend on charitable activities increased by £9.3m in the year, to £46.4m 
(2018/19: £37.1m). Spend on maintaining the five Thames bridges totalled 
£6.5m, against £6.6m in the previous year. Work on several major 
refurbishments has progressed, notably that of Blackfriars Bridge and 
London Bridge, however delays were experienced in the year in being able 
to gain access as a result of other projects taking place in the vicinity of 
both bridges. Planned expenditure will now take place in the coming 
months. Expenditure on the tourism activities at Tower Bridge reduced 
slightly against the previous year to £6.2m (2018/19: £6.4m). Grant-making 
activities and related spend achieved a record high for the charity at £33.7m 
(2018/19: £24.1m), with £30.7m of this amount being new grant 
commitments (2018/19: £21.9m). Additional funds were allocated by the 

Page 22



 

charity to grant-making activities in the year, enabling this increased level of 
support in response to the needs of London’s Communities. 
 

13. Other expenditure covers the net costs of the pension scheme for the staff 
of the City Corporation that work on behalf of the charity. 

 
14. Net gains on investment properties and financial investments totalled 

£63.3m (2018/19: £108.6m), split between gains on investment properties 
£80.2m, unrealised losses on financial investments £16.0m, and an 
unrealised loss on social investments of £0.9m. 

 
Balance Sheet 

 
15. The Balance Sheet presents the increase in total funds held by the charity 

of £41.7m, resulting in a year-end total of £1,536.4m. This has been driven 
by the gains noted above. Total funds held comprise: 

a. the permanent endowment fund at £984.2m, held in perpetuity to 
generate sufficient returns to support the five river bridges, with any 
income surplus above that required for the charity’s principal object 
to be utilised by CBT in line with their approved funding policy; 

b. the unrestricted income fund at £549.4m, being net of the pension 
deficit of £18.9m. An element of the unrestricted income fund has 
been designated for agreed purposes, as noted in section 15 below; 
and 

c. a restricted fund of £2.8m held at the year-end, being donations 
received from various funders, alongside an initial £1m contribution 
by BHE, towards the LCRF - a restricted trust that was established 
within BHE to support the response to the Coronavirus pandemic.  
 

16. Designated funds consist of unrestricted income funds which the Trustee 
has decided to set aside for specific purposes over the short to medium 
term. These total £440.7m (2018/19: £183.5m), with key funds being: 

a. Bridges Repair Fund - representing the funds required to maintain 
the five bridges for the next five years, being the higher of the 
average annual cost over the 50-year plan or the next five years 
forecast activity. In 2019/20 £13.4m was transferred to this fund with 
£41.7m now set aside to cover costs planned over the next five 
years (2018/19: £34.0m); 

b. Bridges replacement fund - this is based upon the present value of 
estimated future costs, adjusted for forecast increases in 
construction costs. The balance held within the bridges replacement 
fund has increased by £53.9m to £158.5m (2018/19: £104.6m) 
following a review in-year of expected replacement dates of each 
bridge; 

c. Grant-making fund - representing the annual income surplus to that 
required for the primary object of the charity (to maintain and support 
the five bridges) and which may be applied for future funding 
activities undertaken by CBT in accordance with the Bridging Divides 
strategy. As approved by Court, an additional £200m was transferred 
to this designated fund in 2019/20 bringing the total ring-fenced for 

Page 23



 

this purpose to £219.2m (2018/19: £22.4m); and  
d. Social Investment fund – the balance represents the amount 

available to finance social investments, which includes the original 
£20m allocation alongside the net returns generated to date over the 
life of this fund. 

  
17.  Deducting the designated funds from the total unrestricted income funds 

results a remaining balance of £108.7m, being the free reserves of the 
charity. During the year, the Trustee approved a revision to the BHE 
reserves policy, recommending that free reserves of £35m be held as at 31 
March 2020. The actual amount held as at the year-end, was £73.7m above 
the stated policy, with the Trustee being mindful to the as yet unknown 
long-term impacts of the Covid-19 pandemic on investments held.  

 
Audit Progress, Opinion and Emphasis of Matter 
 
18. BDO’s audit work is substantially complete, with the exception of final 

reviews prior to sign-off. It is anticipated that the audit will be concluded 
satisfactorily to enable BDO to issue an unqualified opinion with the 
inclusion of an emphasis of matter paragraph in relation to the material 
valuation uncertainty relating to investment property valuations, as stated 
within paragraphs 3-4 of this report. 
 

19. The review by the Audit Panel has also concluded satisfactorily with no 
concerns raised. Representatives from BDO will be in attendance at the 
Audit and Risk Management Committee to present their report, update on 
the status of the audit and to clarify any points or issues raised. 
 

Conclusion 
 
20. The Chairman and Deputy Chairman of the Finance Committee will be 

requested to approve and sign the financial statements on behalf of the 
Court of Common Council, following recommendation by the Audit 
Committee.   

 
21. The Charity Commission require charities to submit their annual report 

within 10 months of their financial year-end, however good practice expects 
charities to submit earlier than this deadline. A designed version of this 
report will be made available online and submitted to the Charity 
Commission. The final management report from BDO on its audit will be 
presented to the Court of Common Council for information. 

 

Contact: 
Karen Atkinson, Head of Charity and Social Investment Finance  
T: 020 7332 1395  
E: karen.atkinson@cityoflondon.gov.uk 
 
Annex 1: Annual Report and Financial Statements for Bridge House Estates  
Annex 2: BDO’s Report to the Audit & Risk Management Committee 

Page 24

mailto:karen.atkinson@cityoflondon.gov.uk


 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Annual Report 

and Financial Statements 

for the year ended 31 March 2020 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Charity registration number 1035628 

Page 25



1 

Bridge House Estates – Annual Report and Financial Statements 2019/20 

Contents 

 

Overview of the year .................................................................................................. 2 

Origins of the charity .................................................................................................. 4 

Trustee’s Annual Report ............................................................................................. 6 

Trustee Responsibilities ........................................................................................... 33 

Independent Auditor’s Report ................................................................................... 34 

Report of the Audit Review Panel ............................................................................ 37 

Statement of Financial Activities .............................................................................. 38 

Balance Sheet .......................................................................................................... 39 

Statement of Cash Flows ......................................................................................... 40 

Notes to the Financial Statements............................................................................ 41 

Reference and Administration Details ...................................................................... 72 

 

                        

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 26



2 

Bridge House Estates – Annual Report and Financial Statements 2019/20 

Overview of the Year  

 

For more than 900 years Bridge House Estates (BHE) has been proudly safeguarding 

and maintaining the City of London’s iconic bridges; there are now five bridges supported 

and maintained by the charity. Over the centuries, the city has experienced life changing 

plagues, wars, fires and acts of terrorism. History proves that following these tragedies, 

communities came together to support those affected, helping to rebuild lives and 

produce a sense of renewal and hope amongst the despair. The courage and resilience 

of Londoners has once again been highly visible during the global Coronavirus crisis 

which sadly has claimed thousands of lives and plunged the city into lockdown in March 

2020. It is reassuring how quickly the funding and voluntary landscape was able to 

collaborate, establish new systems and react to a fast-changing situation.  

BHE’s charitable funding arm, City Bridge Trust (CBT) moved swiftly to respond to the 

pandemic’s impact on civil society in London. Working collaboratively with other funders 

operating in London and London Funders (an umbrella charity), the London Community 

Response (the LCR programme) was launched as a collective response to support 

London’s civil society organisations by providing a single portal for organisations to apply 

for support from all participating funders. As part of BHE’s support for the collective 

response, the London Community Response Fund (LCRF) was established as a 

separate fund within the charity by its Trustee, the City of London Corporation, to allow 

donors to support the LCR programme, where they did not wish to directly fund 

themselves. BHE, from its existing CBT grant-making budget, allocated £1m to the 

LCRF, and early donations into the LCRF were also received from the Mayor of London, 

Bloomberg L.P., Paul Hamlyn Foundation and the Clothworkers’ Foundation, with a view 

to encouraging further donations. In addition, under the CBT grants programme existing 

recipients of CBT grants with an income of up to £500,000 received additional one-off 

unrestricted funding in early 2020/21, to support increased service demands during a 

period of severely reduced income. This was all in addition to CBT’s ‘business as usual’ 

delivering the second year of the charity’s ‘Bridging Divides’ strategy.  During the year 

CBT gave £30.7m across Greater London via, 277 grants, with the demand on funding 

far exceeding expectations.  

Before the pandemic took its grip, a key activity for BHE during 2019/20 was the 

continuation of a strategic governance review started in 2017, aiming to enhance the 

impact and reach of the charity’s activities for the public benefit and to model good 

practice. This included confirming the funding requirements for the maintenance and 

replacement of the five Thames bridges and work to develop an overarching charitable 

strategy and investment strategy. Once the funding requirements had been confirmed, 

and the amount of reserves determined, it was readily agreed by the Trustee to allocate 

an additional £200m of income, surplus to that required for the bridges, to apply under 

the ‘Bridging Divides’ strategy.  The negative impact of the Coronavirus health pandemic 

will mean that in 2020/21, consideration will need to be given as to how these additional 

funds will be allocated, including to alleviate the pressure on the charity and voluntary 

sector so hard hit by the crisis. Undoubtedly, the pandemic’s impact will also affect the 

future levels of funds held by BHE, with the loss of income from property rentals and from 

Tower Bridge as a visitor attraction. In the meantime, work to complete the overarching 

Page 27



3 

Bridge House Estates – Annual Report and Financial Statements 2019/20 

BHE Strategy and Investment Strategy continues, and is expected to be completed by 

the end of 2020.  

Prior to the Coronavirus lockdown, the maintenance and preservation of the charity’s 

bridges, which are some of the capital’s most iconic, continued. Over the year the 

appearance of London, Southwark and Millennium Bridges changed dramatically through 

the successful implementation of the first phase of the Illuminated River Project (see 

page 10). During the year, the bridges team have also continued to investigate the 

potential for creating a long-term replacement strategy for the bridges.  

The visitor attraction at Tower Bridge (which celebrated its 125th Anniversary in 2019) 

experienced record performance in the first 11 months of 2019/20 prior to March 2020, 

when it closed due to the pandemic. Several accolades were maintained or achieved for 

the first time this year, reconfirming the Bridge as one of London’s most popular 

attractions. The Sunday of the Anniversary weekend attracted 5,922 visitors, a record for 

a single day in the history of Tower Bridge as a visitor attraction.  

The bridges team continue to work closely with the City of London Police, the 

Metropolitan Police and Transport for London to ensure they are meeting the 

requirements to keep the city safe. Tragically in November 2019, five people were 

stabbed, two fatally, in a terrorist attack at Fishmongers’ Hall, which spilled out on to the 

adjacent London Bridge. BHE was an Interested Party for the Coroner’s Inquest, 

providing documents and assisting colleagues who were called as witnesses.  

BHE is one of London’s oldest ‘institutions’. Established to support the physical 

infrastructure of London Bridge, including the shops, houses and places of worship which 

were once perched upon it; the charity and its five bridges continue to have people very 

much as its focus to this day - from the tourists visiting these iconic structures, to the 

throngs of people crossing the bridges during their daily commute, and the very many 

Londoners who have been supported through CBT. Coronavirus has had an 

unimaginable impact on the lives of all Londoners.  It is hoped that the energy and 

cooperation across the funding and voluntary landscape stays strong, in what will 

undoubtedly be a challenging year for everyone. The charity remains committed to its 

ethos of collaboration in achieving maximum impact for the beneficiaries it serves. 

The staff working on behalf of BHE, employed by the City Corporation, must be 

recognised and praised for their swiftness to adjust to working from home, whilst 

maintaining professionalism and meeting deadlines. Their willingness to adapt to the 

ever-changing landscape meant that BHE could meet the emerging and changing needs 

of the sector. 

 

 

 

 

 

  

Page 28



4 

Bridge House Estates – Annual Report and Financial Statements 2019/20 

Origins of the charity 
 

The origins of Bridge House Estates can be traced back to 1097 when William II, 

successor as King to William the Conqueror, raised a special tax to help repair London 

Bridge. By the end of the twelfth century, the shops and houses adorning Peter de 

Colechurch’s new stone London Bridge were beginning to generate not only increased 

cross-river trade, but also increased taxes, rents and bequests. A significant fund began 

to accumulate, administered from a building on the south side of the bridge called Bridge 

House. Over succeeding centuries this fund has been administered by the City of London 

Corporation (‘the City Corporation’) as Trustee. 

The Bridge House Estates mark has been the identifying emblem of the charity for many 

centuries. It is likely that the ‘bridge mark’ as we know it today was designed by William 

Leybourn, a famous seventeenth century surveyor. Leybourn is thought to have adapted 

a similar mark drawn against plots owned by Bridge House Estates on an earlier plan of 

St George’s Fields, London. 

The work of Bridge House Estates now reaches out across the whole of London in many 

important and diverse ways: 

The River Bridges  

The maintenance and support of five of the bridges that cross the Thames into or by the 

City of London – Tower Bridge, London Bridge, Southwark Bridge, Blackfriars Bridge and 

Millennium Bridge – is the primary objective of the charity. They are gateways to the City 

of London and require sustained investment and expert care. 

Blackfriars Bridge - Blackfriars Bridge was originally built between 1760-1769 and was 

known as ‘Pitt Bridge’ after William Pitt the Elder. This structure was replaced between 

1860-1869 with a design by Joseph Cubitt of five wrought iron arches faced with cast-

iron, on granite piers. The decorations include ornithological sculptures surmounting the 

granite columns on each cutwater, archaded cast iron parapets and enormous attached 

columns in red granite with Portland stone capitals.  The sculptures depict land birds on 

the landward side of the bridge and sea birds on the side facing the sea. Queen Victoria 

opened the bridge in 1869. 

Millennium Bridge – As the first new pedestrian bridge to be built across the Thames for 

over a century, Millennium Bridge links the City of London at St Paul’s Cathedral with the 

Tate Modern Gallery at Bankside. Funded by the charity and the Millennium Commission, 

the ‘Blade of Light’ is a 325 metre steel pedestrian bridge, conceived by Sir Anthony Caro 

OM CBE and built by Ove Arup and Foster Associates under the project management of 

the London Borough of Southwark and subsequently transferred to the charity to own 

and maintain. 

Southwark Bridge - Originally built between 1814-1819, Southwark Bridge was 

purchased by the charity in 1868. The City of London had been trying to obtain control 

since 1827 to catch criminals escaping to Southwark, outside its jurisdiction! It was 

replaced between 1912-1921 with a design by Sir Ernest George and Basil Mott and 

comprises five steel arches with granite cutwaters and piers.  

Page 29



5 

Bridge House Estates – Annual Report and Financial Statements 2019/20 

London Bridge - The first stone bridge across the Thames was built between 1176-1209 

and replaced between 1823-1831. The current bridge was built between 1967-1972 and 

designed by the City Engineer, Harold Knox King with architects Mott, Hay & Anderson 

and William Holford & Partners. Made of concrete with polished granite, the Bridge has 

three spans founded on concrete piers fixed deep into the river clay.  It was opened by 

Her Majesty, The Queen in 1973. 

Tower Bridge - Designed by the Victorian architect Sir Horace Jones, the City Architect, 

in collaboration with Sir John Wolfe Barry, Tower Bridge was opened in June 1894 after 

eight years of construction. It is a working bascule, suspension and girder bridge, 

constructed as a steel frame clad in stone and granite in Gothic style to complement the 

neighbouring Tower of London. Under the Corporation of London (Tower Bridge) Act 

1885, the City Corporation is required to raise the Bridge to provide access to and egress 

from the Upper Pool of London for registered vessels with a mast or superstructure of 30 

feet or more. The service is provided free of charge subject to 24 hours’ notice and is 

available any time, day or night, 365 days per year. The City Corporation as Trustee 

ensures that the Bridge, a designated Grade 1 listed building, is properly maintained and 

protected as part of the nation’s heritage.  

As a world-famous icon of London, Tower Bridge enables tourists to have access to the 

internal areas of the Bridge, with a public exhibition having been in place since 1982. The 

exhibition showcases the Victorian architecture, engineering and also the original 

Victorian engines used to power the lifting of the Bridge. The operational and tourism 

activities at Tower Bridge are managed by the Trustee on behalf of the charity. 

 

The Grant-Making and Other Charitable Activities of City Bridge Trust 

After the responsibilities relating to the bridges have been met, the charity can use any 

surplus income for the provision of transport for elderly and disabled people in Greater 

London and for other charitable purposes for the general benefit of the inhabitants of 

Greater London, further to a scheme agreed with the Charity Commission in 1995. This 

scheme enables the charity to work through its charitable funding arm, City Bridge Trust 

(CBT), for a fairer London through tackling disadvantage. CBT works collaboratively to 

meet the charity’s ancillary objectives through three key areas of activity, namely: 

• Grant-making; 

• Social investment; and 

• Encouraging philanthropy. 
 

Further information on the activities of CBT is available at www.citybridgetrust.org.uk  

 

Page 30

http://www.citybridgetrust.org.uk/


6 

Bridge House Estates – Annual Report and Financial Statements 2019/20 

Trustee’s Annual Report 

Structure and Governance 

Governing Document 

Reflecting its ancient nature, complex history and long connection to the City Corporation, Bridge 

House Estates’ (BHE) “governing document” is made up of a number of different sources or 

instruments, which are referenced below. In March 1994 the charity was registered with the 

Charity Commission. 

Founders By various gifts and bequests over the centuries 

Governing Instruments Historic trust documents governing the gifts and bequests including, a 

Royal Charter of 24 May 1282 

A supplemental Royal Charter of 26 November 1957 

Acts of Parliament including: 

The Blackfriars Bridge Act 1863 

The Blackfriars and Southwark Bridges Act 1867 

The Corporation of London (Tower Bridge) Act 1885 

The Corporation of London (Bridges) Act 1911 

The City of London (Various Powers) Act 1926, section 11 

The City of London (Various Powers) Act 1949, section 13 

The City of London (Various Powers) Act 1963, section 32 

The London Bridge Act 1967 

The City of London (Various Powers) Act 1979, section 19 

Various Schemes and Orders made by the Charity Commission: 

The Charities (Bridge House Estates) Order 1995 (S.I.1995/1047) 

and the Charity Commission Scheme which took effect by that 

Order 

An Order of the Charity Commission sealed 10 July 1997 (350.97) 

An Order of the Charity Commission sealed 20 July 1998 (251.98) 

The Charities (Bridge House Estates) Order 2001 (S.I.2001/4017)  

The Charity Commission Scheme dated 26 August 2005 

The Charities (Bridge House Estates) Order 2007 (S.I. 2007/550) 

Ancient custom and practice. 

Governance Arrangements 

The Mayor and Commonalty and Citizens of the City of London (also referred to as ‘the 

City Corporation’ or ‘the City of London Corporation’), a body corporate and politic, is the 

Page 31



7 

Bridge House Estates – Annual Report and Financial Statements 2019/20 

trustee of BHE. The City Corporation is trustee acting by the Court of Common Council 

of the City of London and that executive assembly has delegated responsibility in respect 

of the administration and management of this charity to various committees and sub-

committees of the Common Council, membership of which is drawn from the 125 elected 

Members of the Common Council together with external appointees to those committees.  

In making appointments to committees, the Court of Common Council will take into 

consideration any particular expertise and knowledge of the elected Members, and 

where relevant, external appointees. External appointments are made after a skills audit. 

Members of the Court of Common Council are unpaid and are elected by the electorate 

of the City of London. The key committees which had responsibility for directly managing 

matters related to the charity during 2019/20 were as follows: 

Policy and Resources Committee - responsible for allocating resources, administering 

the charity, and for determining the investment strategy between property and financial 

investments. 

Investment Committee - responsible for the strategic oversight and monitoring of the 

performance of the charity’s investments, which are managed by three separate sub-

committees, namely the Financial Investment Board, the Property Investment Board and 

the Social Investment Board. 

Finance Committee - responsible for controlling budgets, support costs and other central 

charges that affect the charity as a whole. 

Audit and Risk Management Committee – responsible for overseeing systems of internal 

control, risk management and making recommendations to the Finance Committee 

relating to the approval of the Annual Report and Financial Statements of the charity. 

Planning and Transportation Committee - responsible for the maintenance and upkeep 

of the bridges with the exception of the tourism operation at Tower Bridge. 

Culture, Heritage and Libraries Committee - responsible for the tourism operation at 

Tower Bridge. 

The City Bridge Trust Committee - responsible for reviewing and approving individual 

grants to voluntary organisations up to the value of £500,000 and otherwise for other 

charitable expenditure under the Bridging Divides Strategy.  Funding commitments 

above £500,000 are agreed by the Court of Common Council, on recommendation of 

this committee. 

All of the above committees are ultimately responsible to the Court of Common Council 

of the City of London. Meetings are held at the Trustee’s discretion in public (except 

where it is considered not in the charity’s best interests to do so), enabling the decision-

making process to be clear, transparent and publicly accountable. 

Details of the current membership of Committees of the City Corporation is available at 

www.cityoflondon.gov.uk  

The Trustee believes that good governance is fundamental to the success of the charity. 

A comprehensive review of governance, which commenced in 2017/18, continues with 

its aim of enhancing the impact and reach of the charity’s activities for the public benefit. 

Page 32

http://www.cityoflondon.gov.uk/


8 

Bridge House Estates – Annual Report and Financial Statements 2019/20 

During the year, being a key outcome from its governance review, the Trustee approved 

a revision to its reserves policy in recommending that free reserves of £35m be held as 

at 31 March 2020 – an amount to be subject to at least annual review. A designated fund 

entitled ‘Income Generation’, that enables BHE to set-aside funds in any year where it is 

considered that the endowment fund does not hold sufficient funds to generate income 

to meet agreed objectives both now and in the future was also approved. 

Due to the manner in which the charity is governed, further changes to governance 

arrangements are being sought by way of a supplemental Royal Charter through the 

Privy Council. Additional powers sought will enable the charity to modernise its 

operations whilst demonstrating good practice. Appropriate reference is being made to 

the practices recommended within the Charity Governance Code throughout this review. 

Organisational structure and decision-making process 

The charity is administered in accordance with its governing instruments and the City 

Corporation’s own corporate governance and administration framework, including 

Standing Orders, Committee Terms of Reference, Financial Regulations and Officer 

Scheme of Delegations. These governance documents can be obtained via a request to 

the email address stated on page 72. 

Each Member by virtue of their membership of the Court of Common Council, its relevant 

committees and sub-committees, has a duty to support the City Corporation in the proper 

exercise of its functions and in meeting its duties as Trustee of the charity by faithfully 

acting in accordance with charity law, the Terms of Reference of the relevant committee 

or sub-committee, and the City Corporation’s agreed corporate governance framework 

as noted above, backed up by its standards regime. 

Induction and Training of Members 

The City Corporation makes available to its Members, seminars and briefings on various 

aspects of its activities, including those concerning the charity, to enable Members to 

carry out their duties efficiently and effectively. Induction meetings are provided on 

specific aspects of the work of BHE.  If suitable seminars or other training options are 

identified that are relevant to the charity, Members are advised of these opportunities. 

The City Corporation has the Investor in People accreditation, which is an external 

validation of the approach to valuing and developing the skills of both Members and staff 

who may be involved in administering and managing the charity. 

Objectives and activities 

The objectives of the charity are the support and maintenance of Tower Bridge, London 

Bridge, Southwark Bridge, Blackfriars Bridge and Millennium Bridge. After these 

responsibilities are met, any income surplus to that which can be usefully applied in 

accordance with the subsisting trusts in any given year is applied for the provision of 

transport for elderly and disabled people in Greater London and/or for other charitable 

purposes for the general benefit of the inhabitants of Greater London in accordance with 

a policy settled by the Trustee following consultation. 

 

Page 33



9 

Bridge House Estates – Annual Report and Financial Statements 2019/20 

Public benefit statement 

The Trustee confirms that it has referred to the guidance contained in the Charity 

Commission’s general guidance on public benefit when reviewing Bridge House Estates’ 

aims and objectives and in planning future activities. The five river bridges maintained 

and supported by the charity are available to the general public on an open access basis. 

Regarding grant-making activities of the charity and other support for the charitable 

sector undertaken under the name ‘City Bridge Trust’, the Trustee awards grants at its 

discretion to address disadvantage across London’s diverse communities and provides 

more general support to the charitable sector through various strategic initiatives. This 

process is based upon published criteria, and through thoughtful analysis and 

collaboration with other partners in the sector regarding the needs of marginalised 

communities in Greater London. The charity utilises a transparent and fair assessment 

process and ensures that a robust monitoring system is in place to establish the public 

benefit derived from each grant approved alongside the other activities of the charity. 

Consequently, the Trustee considers that BHE operates to benefit the general public and 

satisfies the public benefit test. 

 

Reference and administrative details 

The administrative details of the charity are stated on page 72. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

Page 34



10 

Bridge House Estates – Annual Report and Financial Statements 2019/20 

Achievements and Performance 
 

The Bridges 

Over 2019/20 the night-time appearance of three of the bridges changed dramatically 

through the successful implementation of the first phase of the Illuminated River Project, 

a long-term art installation managed by the Illuminated River Foundation (charity 

registration 1168375). London, Southwark and Millennium Bridges have been lit up with 

a unified light installation. The bridges team in conjunction with lighting colleagues within 

the City Corporation, have been working closely with the project to provide technical 

approval and ensure that BHE’s assets are protected throughout the design, installation 

and operation of the artwork.  

The other major project impacting the bridges over the year has been the Tideway Tunnel 

project, with a particular focus on the works being carried out in the foreshore adjacent 

to Blackfriars Bridge. The bridges team have been embedded in the Tideway Tunnel 

project team, to ensure there are no adverse effects on the bridges from both the 

construction works in the river and the tunnelling beneath them due to start in the coming 

year. Significant monitoring regimes have been agreed with the contractor and installed 

on the bridges to ensure there is a high level of understanding of how the structures 

move during normal operation and how the effects of tunnelling can be minimised. 

Monitoring of works in the foreshore has also been extensive and is being used alongside 

innovative construction techniques to minimise any impacts on the adjacent Blackfriars 

Bridge. Although there are still several years of construction left on the Tideway Tunnel 

project, the new foreshore site at Blackfriars will eventually offer up untapped views of 

the bridge for the future newly created ‘Bazalgette Embankment’. 

The planned refurbishment of Blackfriars Bridge has progressed but access restrictions 

due to adjacent projects have limited opportunities to get the construction phase of the 

refurbishment started. The bridges team continue to work with nearby construction 

projects to push the refurbishment scheme forward and continue to protect the bridge in 

the long term. Innovative paint technologies are being explored to minimise aesthetic 

degradation in the future. 

Work to re-waterproof and replace key bearings on London Bridge started in March 2020. 

This was previously postponed twice having waited for availability of road space following 

Network Rail’s refurbishment of London Bridge station and by essential gas works 

planned in the City of London. Close collaboration has been required with Transport for 

London to ensure that these works can proceed to protect the structure as one of 

London’s most important river crossings. 

BHE was also an ‘Interested Party’ for the Coroner’s Inquest following the terrorist attack 

at Fishmongers’ Hall (which spilled out on to the adjacent London Bridge), providing 

documents and assisting colleagues who were called as witnesses. BHE has been 

working with stakeholders to address the relevant recommendations and with the input 

and assistance of the City Surveyor of the City Corporation the charity’s Risk Register 

has been updated. 

Page 35



11 

Bridge House Estates – Annual Report and Financial Statements 2019/20 

During the year, the bridges team have continued to explore the potential for creating a 

long-term replacement strategy for the bridges. An initial study carried out by specialist 

consultants investigated the expected life span of each of the structures, the form of the 

replacement and maintenance liabilities. The study’s findings have been reviewed in 

detail to determine an order for substitution and a strategy for how the replacement of 

any of the bridges would be delivered. This exercise highlighted the importance of having 

a long-term strategy and how the timing of each replacement was crucial to minimising 

unnecessary costs. 

The previous six-year inspection and maintenance contract for all five bridges completed 
at the end of March 2020. Following an extensive competitive tendering process, the 
contract (again a six-year commission to reflect the inspection cycle of the bridges) was 
re-awarded to the existing incumbent, AECOM, bringing continuity and comprehensive 
experience to the service provided.  

 

Tourism at Tower Bridge 

The iconic architecture and engineering of Tower Bridge are showcased to the public in 
the form of a paid visitor attraction within the historic structure, offering panoramic views 
from the high-level walkways of Wapping, Canary Wharf and Greenwich to the east, of 
the City of London and the central London skyline to the west. Steam machinery which 
originally powered the Bridge is preserved, curated and on display as a key element of 
the attraction, and in addition, glass flooring panels installed in 2014 continue to attract 
visitors, providing a unique aspect of the roadway, the river and the Bridge raising to 
allow the movement of river traffic directly beneath. Additional income generating 
activities for the charity include on site and online retail sales, venue hire charges, cultural 
public events, catering commissions and filming activities.  
 
The visitor attraction at the bridge experienced record performance in the first 11 months 
of 2019/20, with numbers of visitors and turnover both representing 3% increases on the 
previous year from April 2019 to the end of February 2020. In March 2020, the effect of 
the pandemic saw visitors to the bridge decrease in line with other major London 
attractions, and a full closure to the public from the middle of the month. Despite the 
severe impact this made on visitor numbers and income in the last month of the financial 
year, overall the bridge still welcomed 97% of visitors and generated 98% of the total 
income achieved across the previous year. In terms of profile, awareness growth and 
perceptions within the highly competitive London tourism sector, the bridge received 
excellent feedback, achieving consistently positive reviews from visitors. Current Trip 
Advisor ratings average Tower Bridge 4.5 out of 5 stars and rank it 4th amongst all 
London attractions.  
 
This positive year was assisted by the celebration of Tower Bridge’s 125th anniversary, 
which saw a year-long programme of activities and events including a series of special 
talks and tours. For the first time ever, an outdoor exhibition entitled ‘Tower Bridge – 
What If’ installed across the bridge’s pavements for all to enjoy as part of the City’s 
Fantastic Feats festival  offered pedestrians a glimpse at some of the alternative river 
crossing designs, which were presented for consideration to the City’s special committee 
in 1877.  
 

Page 36



12 

Bridge House Estates – Annual Report and Financial Statements 2019/20 

Over the anniversary weekend of 29 & 30 June, all visitors to Tower Bridge gained entry 
for the special price of £1.25, which included exciting activities and Victorian costumed 
actors throughout the visitor journey, resulting in just under 5,000 visitors on the Saturday 
and 5,922 on Sunday: the latter being a record for as single day in the history of the 
bridge as a visitor attraction. 
 
As part of their quality assurance scheme, Visit England rated Tower Bridge as Excellent 
(89%). In addition, the experience of viewing a bridge lift through the Glass Floor feature 
received ‘Best for Bucket List’ at the 2019 TripSavvy Editor’s Choice awards. A number 
of accolades were maintained or achieved for the first time also with specific reference 
to the bridge’s growing learning offer, including the Sandford Award for Heritage 
Education, the quality marque for Learning Outside the Classroom and the Family Arts 
Standard.  
 
Tower Bridge’s long-term interpretation plan, commemorating and celebrating the human 
stories and social heritage of the bridge, saw the overhaul of all content within the high-
level west walkway, following the redevelopment of permanent content over the last few 
years in the bridge’s towers and Engine Rooms. Visitor feedback has been 
overwhelmingly positive as a result, testament to the success of telling these personal 
stories of the bridge’s local community to a global audience. 
 
The Tower Bridge formal learning programme continued to attract new and repeat school 
visits in 2019. May 2019 saw the new accessible learning space in use for school and 
other groups for the first time, enabling the expansion of the education programme. In 
terms of numbers, the team is now able to welcome 60 pupils per day, doubling capacity. 
In addition, the learning team has been able to broaden its audience reach, providing 
Key Stage 1 workshops for the first time, along with onsite Special Education Needs and 
Disabilities workshops. 
 
Participation in national and local initiatives continues to be an important strand of the 
learning team’s engagement work, increasing general awareness of Tower Bridge’s 
informal learning offer and specific activities such as autism friendly mornings, and 
offering new ways for families to engage with the  bridge’s stories. Getting out into the 
community is key to increasing local awareness of and participation in the bridge’s vibrant 
family offer, as such the team attended the Barbican Fun Day and Queen Mary University 
of London’s Festival of Communities, amongst other events.  A new relationship with 
Tower Hamlets Idea Stores has opened access to fresh audiences and engagement 
opportunities, with the team delivering after-school and family activities within the 
community. 
 
In terms of cultural development, the operational Bascule Chamber was again utilised as 
a cultural venue for the Thames Festival.  A special series of projection shows focusing 
on the bridge’s rich heritage took place in December 2019 for the 125th anniversary in 
association with the Guildhall School of Music and Drama. 
 
The bridge’s Artist in Residence programme was reconfigured in 2019 to enable an 
opportunity to explore the potential of a commission-led approach. In recognition of the 
bridge’s 125th anniversary, and the opportunity this presented for creative exploration of 
its structure and history, artist Di Mainstone was commissioned to create a film, which 
was displayed for visitors alongside an accompanying exhibition from January. This 

Page 37



13 

Bridge House Estates – Annual Report and Financial Statements 2019/20 

artwork reimagined the bridge as a giant musical instrument to retell the story of one of 
the Bridge’s first female workers, Hannah Griggs. Through the use of technology such 
as accelerometers, Di revealed the underlying sounds of the Bridge itself, such as the 
‘scale’ produced by its famous suspension rods.   
 
Tower Bridge was raised across 2019/20 almost 600 times to allow Thames river vessels 
safe access to and egress from the Pool of London. The bridge’s security planning, 
protocols and facilities were further developed throughout the year, achieving an NSI 
Gold accreditation and commendations from the City of London Police and the National 
Counter Terrorism Security Office in the context of best practice and exemplary 
standards.   
 

 

 

Bridge House Estates’ Funding and Philanthropic Activities 

BHE and the City Corporation share a joint Philanthropy Strategy. Millions of pounds are 

raised and distributed each year by City businesses, the City Livery Companies and the 

City of London’s Mayoralty and their associated charities, alongside significant 

volunteering efforts. However, there is huge potential for additional giving, whether 

through the donation of money, time, skills or assets. A copy of the Philanthropy Strategy 

can be obtained from the City Bridge Trust (CBT) website – www.citybridgetrust.org.uk 

This year has seen a key focus on delivering an implementation plan under the joint 

Philanthropy Strategy for BHE and the City Corporation, looking at analysing ‘giving 

practice’ across the City Corporation activities as a whole, including reviewing the many 

grant-making charities for which the City Corporation is also the charity Trustee. This is 

to establish potential operating synergies and to enhance the effectiveness of these 

charities to generate greater impact from those charitable funds. CBT funded a range of 

different initiatives geared towards increasing the engagement with and impact of 

different types of giving (such as the highly localised place-based giving championed by 

London’s Giving and  projects delivered by the Beacon Collaborative to drive up the value 

Performance indicators for 2019/20

Target 

2019/20

Actual 

2019/20

Actual 

2018/19

Visitor numbers to Tower Bridge 820,000 835,821 862,696

Visitors to second part of the Exhibition: Engine Rooms 80% 78% 72%

No. of pupils participating in Education Programme 4,000 4,344 3,975

Visit England VAQAS Score 90% 89% 93%

£ £ £

Admissions income 4,054,000 4,033,965 4,367,647

Retail income 1,668,000 1,698,765 1,498,267

Venue hire 895,000 931,116 916,478

Page 38



14 

Bridge House Estates – Annual Report and Financial Statements 2019/20 

and impact of giving undertaken by high net worth individuals). In addition, CBT continues 

to scope the potential of developing a physical space in which to co-locate organisations 

specialising in philanthropy and social investment (‘Philanthropy House’).  

The delivery of the City Corporation’s Corporate Volunteering Strategy (2018-23) 

continues, with much work undertaken in preparation for the launch of an exciting new 

Employee Volunteering Programme in the coming year which will complement the 

philanthropic aims and objectives of BHE.  

City Bridge Trust 

BHE income funds that fall surplus to the requirements of the five bridges, as noted 

above, are used to benefit the most marginalised people in London. Grants are made 

and other activities funded through BHE’s charitable funding arm, CBT – London’s 

largest independent funder. Operational for almost 25 years, CBT is able to offer 

constancy and continued commitment to communities and organisations across Greater 

London, whatever challenges arise. 

CBT Activities  

In its second year, the ‘Bridging Divides’ five year strategy (operating from 2018 to 2023)  

continues to support CBT’s work with partners from across society and the sourcing of 

other non-monetary resources to bridge the inequality gaps that exist within London. 

Bridging Divides originally set out a commitment to use £100 million of charitable funding 

over five years. As announced at the CBT Committee’s Annual Dinner held at the 

Barbican in March 2020, an additional £25m has now been allocated to this programme, 

giving £125m to be committed across the five-year period. Further, as part of the BHE 

governance review, it was agreed by the Trustee to allocate an additional £200m of 

income funds, surplus to that required for the bridges, to apply under the ‘Bridging 

Divides’ strategy. Over the coming year, the Trustee will consider and determine how 

these funds might be allocated, taking into account the devasting impact the Coronavirus 

pandemic has had on many of London’s communities, charities and civil society coupled 

with the pre-existing charitable need and deprivation in Greater London. 

In March 2020, the pandemic led to a lockdown across the UK, with London being initially 

the most impacted area. David Farnsworth (CBT Director & Chief Grants Officer), also 

acting in his capacity as Chair of London Funders, worked closely with the funding and 

voluntary sector and London Plus (London’s civil society charity, previously known as 

Greater London Volunteering) to assess the priority needs of London’s community and 

voluntary sector, and to set up a speedy response in relation to the impact of Covid-19.  

This resulted in various initiatives, including the London Community Response (the LCR 

programme), launched as a collective response to support London’s civil society 

organisations by providing a single portal for organisations to apply for support from all 

participating funders. As part of BHE’s support for the collective response, the London 

Community Response Fund (LCRF) was established within the charity by its Trustee, the 

City of London Corporation, to allow donors to support the LCR programme where they 

Page 39



15 

Bridge House Estates – Annual Report and Financial Statements 2019/20 

did not wish to directly fund themselves. BHE, from its existing CBT grant-making budget, 

initially allocated £1m to the LCRF, and early donations into the LCRF were also received 

from the Mayor of London, Bloomberg L.P., Paul Hamlyn Foundation and the 

Clothworkers’ Foundation, with a view to encouraging further donations. In addition, 

under the CBT grants programme, the CBT Committee agreed that current recipients of 

CBT grants with an income of up to £500,000, will receive additional one-off unrestricted 

funding in 2020/21 to help them through the initial difficult phase, as many immediately 

had their demands increased at the same time they had their income reduced. 

Since its inception in 1995, CBT has awarded over 8,000 grants, totalling more than 

£400m. Thanks to the additional £25m funding allocated to the Bridging Divides 

programme, the five-year spending target increased to £125m. During the 2019/20 

financial year, in response to the needs of London’s communities and an augmented 

team, CBT distributed £30.7m across Greater London via 277 grants. CBT is confident 

that due to the extraordinary charities it is privileged to support, this additional funding 

will make a positive difference to Londoners impacted by disadvantage and inequality. 

‘Bridging Divides’ is a vision and values led strategy and all CBT’s work links to their 

vision for a London where individuals and communities can thrive, especially those 

experiencing disadvantage and marginalisation. Throughout 2019/20 much work was 

undertaken to embed and implement new values within CBT. (CBT aims to be 

Progressive; Adaptive; Collaborative; Inclusive; Environmentally Responsible and 

Representative.) 

CBT appointed two co-opted (external and independent) members to its Committee 

during the year, ensuring that it has the broad range of skills and experience necessary 

to deliver its strategy. An open recruitment process was undertaken through a variety of 

outlets and networks, resulting in nearly 50 applications.  Following a rigorous long-

listing, short-listing and interview process, two candidates were appointed:  Jannat 

Hossain, with a background in the charitable sector and campaigning; and William Hoyle, 

with a digital and social enterprise background.  Both took up their voluntary positions in 

May 2019. 

CBT is unique in the breadth and diversity of support and input it can provide. It has 

exceptionally strong connections to civil society, the voluntary sector, their funded 

organisations and the communities they represent, yet also has long-established links to 

local, national and regional Government and the business sector through the charity’s 

Trustee, the City of London Corporation. CBT uses this point of advantage to work 

together with this unique set of partners to innovate and convene. It is rightly proud of its 

collaborative work to deliver specific initiatives such as:  the ‘Strengthening Voices, 

Realising Rights’ programme with Trust for London which invests in and encourages 

collaborative approaches to advancing equal rights for Deaf and Disabled Londoners 

(CBT provided a £400,000 grant in January 2020 towards the £1m project); its continuing 

partnership with Trust for London on the Moving on Up project to increase the 

employment rates for young black men (CBT provided a £300,000 grant in March 2018 

Page 40



16 

Bridge House Estates – Annual Report and Financial Statements 2019/20 

towards the £1m project);  or on broader issues, such as CBT’s work with London 

Funders to encourage more funders to give multi-year grants to small organisations. 

Bridging Divides committed CBT to becoming a learning team; to understand what works, 

how best to contribute to societal needs and the optimum way to adapt and respond to 

the changing needs of London.  The CBT team is therefore reflecting on and improving 

how it supports organisations and refines processes (such as grant monitoring; statistical 

reporting; data sharing and external evaluations), and will continually seek to deliver 

these in a more joined-up way, which will be a priority during 2020/21.   

During 2019/20 significant research was undertaken with internal and external 

stakeholders to understand and measure the status and future progress of the learning 

strategy. Happily, funded organisations generally fed back a positive picture but there is 

always room for improvement, and CBT is very keen to do things better. Encouragingly, 

grantees found CBT open to having honest, two-way conversations. Feedback from the 

trial version of the online review service Grant Advisor UK suggests that CBT are getting 

many things right, with reviewers describing them as ‘responsive’, ‘approachable’ and 

‘an incredible convenor’. The new ‘impact and learning strategy and implementation plan’ 

focuses on delivering several ‘organisational’ changes, including becoming more 

evidence and data driven and improving on its own internal learning culture. 

Bridging Divides 

Given the increasing inequality, cost of living, poverty and growing needs faced by 

Londoners, it is vitally important to offer funding that can enable a positive impact. Grants 

activity covers four priority funding programmes to support individuals and communities 

to move from surviving to thriving. 

Importantly, Bridging Divides outlines an ambition to have a ‘total assets’ approach, 

taking advantage of the collective non-financial resources of Bridge House Estates and 

the City Corporation, including expertise, networks, venues and training. Such an 

approach is a significant step change, requiring asset mapping and establishing a diverse 

and dynamic way to work collaboratively with its Trustee, the City Corporation. The 

development and implementation of this work will remain on-going in 2020/21.  

Bridging Divides sets out the ambition for CBT to further embed learning and impact in 

its working practices. To meet this ambition, the learning and impact team was 

established and a learning partner, Renaisi, was engaged to support this work. After 

completing year one of the new strategy, research was carried out with Renaisi to assess 

the impact and effectiveness of the CBT Team’s performance in delivering the charity’s 

objectives. Their report published in April 2019 maps out the progress made towards 

reaching organisational goals and identifies areas where there is still work to be done. 

During 2019/20 four grants totalling £390,300 were awarded under CBT’s previous 

grants strategy, Investing in Londoners and its various grants programmes.  251 Bridging 

Divides grants were awarded, totalling £26.4m (including seven grants totalling £278,990 

under the ‘Ideas Please’ initiative) including: 

Page 41



17 

Bridge House Estates – Annual Report and Financial Statements 2019/20 

Connecting the Capital – CBT remains committed to ensuring that Londoners 
experiencing inequality or disadvantage are better heard and represented. It is a high 
priority to empower individuals and communities to come together to create the 
differences they want to see and to provide them with the tools to do this. As 
‘Environmental responsibility’ is an organisational value, funding was provided to 
organisations tackling issues such as environmental inequalities and air pollution, 
especially in areas of deprivation. During 2019/20, 130 grants were awarded totalling 
£13.1m including: 

• Stepney City Farm Ltd - £191,800 (over four years) to provide strategic leadership 
and successful expansion of this working farm, supporting its sustainability.  

• CREATE London - £58,000 (over three years) towards costs of running a 
community garden. 

• 21 eco-audit grants (totalling £48,400) to organisations including the Anna Freud 
National Centre for Children and Families providing training and support for child 
mental health services and the Furzedown Project activity centre for older people 
located in the borough of Wandsworth. 
 

Positive transitions – A clear focus is to support Londoners experiencing inequality 
to make important transitions to change their lives for the better. This could be a 
young person wanting to break out of the cycle of being in and out of education or 
employment, to support for a survivor of domestic abuse to leave their relationship 
and begin the journey of re-building their life. This year 78 grants were awarded 
totalling £9.5m including: 

• Human Trafficking Foundation - £123,000 (over two years) to transform London’s 
response to identifying survivors of human trafficking and modern slavery. 

• Auditory Verbal Centre - £135,000 (over three years) to provide auditory verbal 
therapy to deaf children and their families. 
 

Advice and support – Another priority focus for support are organisations delivering 
advice and advocacy services supporting individuals and communities 
experiencing/at risk of - severe debt; in-work poverty; homelessness; suicide; mental 
health difficulties; food poverty; violent crimes; sexual assault and difficulties in 
relation to refugee, asylum seeker, immigrant or economic migrant status. During 
2019/20, 29 grants were awarded totalling £3.8m including: 

• Bail for Immigration Detainees - £150,000 (over five years) towards the costs of 
legal advice and representation to Londoners in immigration detention.  

• Trussell Trust - £317,700 (over five years) to support the capital’s foodbank 
demands and provide clients with access to help and advice. 
 

Small grants - most voluntary organisations in London have an income below 
£100,000, so it is key to support them to be as impactful and sustainable as possible. 
A commitment to being responsive and adaptive led the CBT Committee to agree to 
extend the programme period from one year up to three years, relieving small 
organisations from having to apply frequently. 11 grants (of between £1,000 and 
£10,000 per year) were awarded this year totalling £100,500 included: 

Page 42



18 

Bridge House Estates – Annual Report and Financial Statements 2019/20 

• Sport4Health Community Interest Company - £9,920 (for one year) to provide 
weekly badminton sessions for older people at the Battersea Sports Centre. 

• Hawa Trust Ltd - £9,000 (for one year) towards monthly yoga sessions for women 
living with female genital mutilation to improve their physical and mental wellbeing.  
 

Bridge Programme - this year CBT piloted their new ‘funder plus’ model, the ‘Bridge 
Programme’, to help its funded organisations become stronger and more sustainable, 
against a backdrop of shrinking resources and increased challenges. Working with 
partners – Cranfield Trust, Locality and Rocket Science – alongside a wider pool of 
support, it is hoped the programme will help all stakeholders understand what support 
works best for the organisations they fund.   

Strategic Initiatives 

Up to 20% of the annual CBT funding budget is set aside for Strategic Initiatives 
instigated by CBT (organisations are not able to apply) which extend beyond traditional 
grant making to include research, feasibility studies, one-off programmes and 
conferences, often undertaken in partnership with other bodies. 

During 2019/20, 16 strategic grants were awarded by CBT totalling £2.8m, covering a 
broad range of projects including: 

Responding to resilience risk – this initiative was developed to directly support the 
growing need to strengthen the resilience of frontline workers in the voluntary sector. 
An open call for applications was launched at an event at Guildhall during Mental 
Health Awareness Week in May 2019, inviting organisations to design and deliver 
six-month long pilot interventions between October 2019 and March 2020. The impact 
of these projects has been independently evaluated by Renaisi using a recognised 
resilience measurement tool and a report of the findings will be published in Autumn 
2020. CBT and the sector at large have a lot more to learn about this subject, and the 
need to work closely together to draw on common knowledge and experience to 
develop CBT’s thinking in this area is acknowledged.  

During 2019/20 a total of six grants were awarded totalling £1.1m from the historic CBT 
Anniversary Programme, covering a number of projects including:   

Bridge to Work – in line with CBT’s aim of reducing inequality, this five-year 
programme focuses on a range of projects delivered by six partners to tackle the 
disproportionately high level of unemployment amongst young disabled Londoners. 
An external evaluation of year one delivery undertaken by Disability Rights UK and 
the Learning & Work Institute showed 82% of participants had a positive outcome, 
with 28% progressing into paid employment. The findings also demonstrated two key 
growth areas - partners leveraged relationships with existing companies, rather than 
making connections with new employers and uptake of bursary funding has been 
limited. In response, Year Two will see bursary funding utilised to support other 
activities, such as establishing whether this can help partners to broaden engagement 
to new employers. CBT is  delighted to have provided input into the design of the 
DWP Intensive Personalised Employment Support programme aimed at people living 
with a disability who are unlikely to move into work within the next year or longer – it 
is rewarding to see Bridge to Work already informing policy making. 

Page 43



19 

Bridge House Estates – Annual Report and Financial Statements 2019/20 

Cornerstone Fund - an alliance between CBT, National Lottery Community Fund, 
Trust for London, John Lyon’s Charity and the GLA, this Fund aims to understand 
and develop new and more effective ways of working to support civil society in the 
future. Other partners contributing valuable expertise and advice include London 
Plus, London Funders, the Mercers Company and London Councils. CBT has been 
working with the Fund’s learning partner Collaborate CIC to review the progress of 
the first year. During 2019/20 a second round of grants were awarded including: 

• Kingston Voluntary Action: Superhighways - £303,600 (over two years) towards a 
project increasing and embedding digital skills amongst small voluntary 
organisations across London. 

• Community Links Bromley - £191,630 (over three years) to cover a range of 
activities including project delivery for five Volunteering Matters (formerly CVS) 
projects. 
 

The following project is a ten-year strategic partnership, funded outside of the Strategic 
Initiatives allocation: 

The Prince’s Trust - A partnership with The Prince’s Trust entered its fifth year. To 
date, just under 9,000 hard-to-reach, young Londoners have been supported through 
CBT funding. Services range from in-school support to developing employment 
opportunities across a range of industries. Key partnerships have also been 
developed with police forces and local community and voluntary sector organisations 
with a focus on preventative work to tackle youth violence.   

Social Investment 

The voluntary, community and social enterprise sector is going through significant 
change in the way it secures funding and organisations now need to consider new or 
extended ways of generating income. Social investment can be an appropriate financing 
route for those able to generate sufficient revenue. However, there are many issues to 
consider before taking on any form of repayable finance – and the social investment team 
offer several innovative routes to tackle these barriers. 

CBT manages the BHE Social Investment Fund, a £21.4m income fund invested for 
positive financial return with demonstrable social benefit. Since its inception in 2012, the 
Fund has committed a total of £19.3m and achieved a return of 2.80% (gross) on invested 
funds, a fall on the previous year due to provisions made against two portfolio 
investments. During the financial year, the Fund committed and deployed £2m in funds 
to the Social and Sustainable Housing Fund to provide loans to small and medium sized 
charities providing accommodation and support to vulnerable people. By the end of 
2019/20, a total of £12.6m was invested within the Fund, with a further £2.0m either 
committed but not yet placed or awaiting agreement of terms.  

In April 2019, the CBT Team decided to re-open the “Stepping Stones Fund”, an award-
winning social investment facility delivered in partnership with UBS.  This unique initiative 
supports charitable organisations looking to access social investments as a funding 
source in the future, giving grants that increase their financial sustainability. Grants of up 
to £50,000 are available to provide charities with a “safe space” to road-test an idea, 
encouraging innovation and sustainable growth. During the financial year there were no 

Page 44



20 

Bridge House Estates – Annual Report and Financial Statements 2019/20 

grants awarded under this Fund. Further promotional work is ongoing to increase the 
number of applications, as well as recognising other market initiatives such as the work 
of Access – The Foundation for Social Investment, to inform future development of the 
Stepping Stones Fund. 

The “Stepping Stones Finance Facility” is a follow-on loan scheme for Stepping Stones 
programme alumni. A partnership programme between The Clothworkers’ Foundation, 
UBS and CBT, this facility provides repayable loans of up to £50,000 at affordable rates 
designed to help borrowers build their organisations before they approach the main 
social investment market. During the financial year there were no grants awarded under 
this programme, although CBT is fortunate to have additional pro bono support from UBS 
corporate volunteers to assist organisations considering taking on their first loans. 

 

Property Investments 

BHE has an income driven investment property fund comprising of assets located 
primarily in the City of London and the London Borough of Southwark, with one building 
in the West End and a small estate in Lewisham.  The fund is predominately comprised 
of offices, with the majority of the remainder of the properties being a mix of office and 
retail uses within each building. There are 72 assets within the fund of which around 45% 
by value are ground leases. Due to their nature, 12 of these assets are not benchmarked 
alongside the rest of the portfolio, however these are externally valued annually. 

The objectives, as stated within the Investment Policy on page 29, are to maximise rental 
income and to outperform the MSCI Benchmark (Greater London Properties including 
owner occupied) total return on an annualised 5-year basis.  The rental income has been 
maximised in accordance with the business plans for each asset and the property fund 
outperformed the relevant benchmarks on an annual basis (11.6% versus MSCI 
benchmark of 2.2% and MSCI universe of -1.1%) and on an annualised 5-year basis as 
detailed below. The underlying value of the property portfolio increased by £114m 
(15.6%) to £846.8m, including the value of net acquisitions in the year.  The income 
return as measured by MSCI increased from 2.9% to 3.2%. The performance of the fund 
is depicted in the table below: 

 31 March 2020 31 March 2019 

Capital Value £846.8m £732.8m 

Gross Rental Income*  £34.6m £31.5m 

5-year annualised Total Return 13.3% 14.7% 

Benchmark 5-year annualised Total 
Return  

7.4% 11.4% 

MSCI Universe (All UK Property) 5-year 
annualised Total Return 

5.4% 9.1% 

*inclusive of service charge income 

Page 45



21 

Bridge House Estates – Annual Report and Financial Statements 2019/20 

Within the portfolio the key achievements during the year were as follows: 

• Maximised the price achieved from the sale of a long lease of Colechurch House 
SE1: agreement for lease and development agreement exchanged with the 
developer, CIT, in October 2019 which will provide an estimated premium of £31m 
subject to planning permission; 

• Completed the acquisition of head leaseholds and any new investments where 
opportunities arose, with a view to increasing income across the portfolio: 
exchanged on the purchase of 30 Engate Street for £2.75m in March 2020 (with 
completion due by August 2020 following dilapidations works) to increase 
exposure to industrial assets and purchased 4 Chiswell Street in July 2019 for 
£36.4m with a passing rent of £1.8m per annum; 

• Progressed the refurbishment of 120 Cannon Street following planning 
permission: started on site in May 2019 with completion due in mid-2021; 

• Sold 185 Tower Bridge Road (vacant building) and adjacent cleared site in 

September 2019 for £5.6m, £1.1m above the March 2019 portfolio valuation of 

£4.5m with proceeds reinvested in the portfolio; 

• 39,600 sq. ft of lettings were completed at a total rent of £1.3m per annum. 
 

In late March the charity made the decision to move to monthly payments and rent 

deferrals for ‘at-risk’ tenants for the March quarter day rent demands. The aim is to 

support BHE to emerge from the Covid-19 pandemic with a portfolio that retains as many 

tenants as possible, whilst simultaneously ensuring it generates the maximum income. 

The portfolio remains well placed due to quality and location together with the diversity 

both in use and lease type. However, values are subject to market conditions and if 

vacancy rates rise it is likely that rental values will reduce and therefore capital values 

will follow. 

 

Financial Investments 

The BHE financial investment portfolio primarily represents the unrestricted income funds 

of the charity, although currently around a fifth of the portfolio forms part of the permanent 

endowment fund. The aim of the portfolio, as set out in the Investment Policy on page 

28, is to seek an absolute return over the long term to provide for real increases in annual 

expenditure whilst preserving its capital base in real terms, which is currently set at CPI 

+ 4%. 

 
To achieve its objective, the portfolio is invested across a diverse array of asset classes, 
on a global basis, which includes exposure to publicly listed equities, fixed income, multi-
asset funds, infrastructure and private equity. The charity primarily accesses these asset 
classes through pooled fund vehicles, managed by specialist appointed fund managers 
in each case. 20% of the portfolio is managed on a segregated account basis by Ruffer 
LLP.   
 
The year to 31 March 2020 began with steadily increasing gains in financial markets. 
Softer economic growth and trade tensions remained a focal point throughout much of 

Page 46



22 

Bridge House Estates – Annual Report and Financial Statements 2019/20 

2019, but progress in negotiations between China and the US together with increasing 
monetary support from central banks led to sustained increases in stock markets over 
the course of the calendar year. 
 
By the start of 2020 awareness of Covid-19 began to emerge and within a matter of 
weeks it became apparent that this new virus marked not just a local or regional threat, 
but rather a global pandemic on a scale without precedent in living memory. Financial 
markets experienced sudden and significant losses as fears over the economic impact 
of Covid-19, and the extraordinary levels of societal intervention warranted by it, came to 
the fore.  
 
Under these conditions, the charity’s financial investments generated an annual return of 
-2.8% in the year to 31 March 2020 (by comparison the FTSE All Share recorded losses 
of -18.5%). Events such as the market downturn in early 2020 are a reminder of the risks 
inherent in investing, and as an informed investor BHE is aware that such risks do 
materialise from time to time. This is one of the reasons why the charity sets a diversified 
asset allocation strategy, to alleviate the volatile episodes in financial markets. By 
protecting capital to a significant extent over the course of 2019/20, the portfolio enters 
2020/21 in a strong position. 
 

 

Plans for future periods 

As the charity moves into 2020/21, it will face similar uncertainties as with other 

organisations in how to ensure that key activities are undertaken and achieved in light of 

the Covid-19 pandemic. The charity will aim to learn and adapt as the year unfolds. Key 

to future success will be the continued work on the governance review, with the intention 

to gain approval for a new over-arching strategy for the charity, alongside changes to 

governance arrangements which are being sought by way of a supplemental Royal 

Charter. Implementation plans for these important changes will be developed during the 

year. 

The vision for the next year across the specific activities of the charity includes: 

The Bridges - essential maintenance work on London Bridge will continue, requiring 

significant traffic and pedestrian restrictions. However, this work will help to protect the 

bridge and allow it to articulate correctly as a structure, preserving its expected life. 

Phase two of the Illuminated River Project is expected to start, meaning that Blackfriars 

Bridge will join London, Southwark and Millennium to be lit in the coordinated, London-

wide artwork. The bridges team will continue to work closely with this project to ensure 

BHE’s assets are protected. 

The refurbishment of Blackfriars Bridge will continue, with the intention that work can 
begin on site around the existing restrictions of other construction projects, to allow the 
historic metalwork to be preserved both aesthetically and structurally.  
 
During 2020/21, the bridges team will continue to work closely with the Tideway Tunnel 

project to provide technical approval and ensure that the bridges are protected whilst 

Page 47



23 

Bridge House Estates – Annual Report and Financial Statements 2019/20 

tunnelling takes place under each of the five bridges and significant work is completed  

in the foreshore adjacent to Blackfriars Bridge. 

We will assist the City’s Highway team to install permanent Security Measures to replace 

the Metropolitan Police’s temporary barriers and amend the containment kerbs, after the 

London Bridge works have been completed. 

It is worth noting that Coronavirus lockdown restrictions put in place in March 2020, may 

impact planned projects such as replacing the duct covers on Tower Bridge shore spans. 

Whilst the effect of these restrictions is yet unknown, the bridges team will continue to 

ensure that the structures are maintained and protected to act as key arteries for London. 

Tower Bridge Tourism - plans for the coming year for the tourism activities at Tower 

Bridge will of course mainly focus on safe operation and business recovery following the 

impact of Covid-19: 

• Work towards achieving revised visitor figure and income targets, adapting the 
recently implemented attraction reopening operational model according to any 
future changes in central Government advice, internal financial planning or wider 
UK/London visitor economy trends and developments. 

• Further develop and execute the Bridge’s new domestic marketing strategy at 
three specific levels: UK visitors, Londoners and ‘hyper-local’. 

• Work closely with Tower Bridge’s events management partner towards the safe 
reinstatement and recovery of its venue hire business. 

• Strive towards better and more efficient ways of working, including the 
continuation of ‘taking our services online’. 

• Implement the new strategy and operational model for learning (resources, 
workshops, partnerships and collaboration) and redevelop the offer for families 
and community engagement. 

• Mitigate the effects of the substantial upcoming high voltage overhaul project on 
operations, visitors to the exhibition, event clients and other stakeholders. 
 

Funding and Philanthropic Activities – key activities planned for 20/21 include: 

• Coronavirus: the administration of the London Community Response Fund will 
continue into the coming year. Undoubtedly, the challenges and longstanding 
changes to society caused by the pandemic will cause many funders to re-
prioritise and adapt their strategies over the coming year. It is yet to be seen what 
this will mean. However, it is encouraging how quickly the funding and voluntary 
landscape was able to work together, establish new systems and react to a fast-
changing situation - it is hoped this drive and cooperation continues during the 
coming year.  

• Bridging Divides: it will be a priority to embed and further develop the ‘total assets’ 
approach, and to continue to externally evaluate the Bridging Divides strategy to 
understand how year two has performed. 

• Philanthropy: 2020 will see the launch of the new volunteering programme, linking 
up the City Corporation’s employees for the benefit of funded and non-funded 
organisations. 

• Bridge to Work:  CBT will continue to evaluate the ways partners are using 
broadening employer engagement and how bursary funding can be used to 

Page 48



24 

Bridge House Estates – Annual Report and Financial Statements 2019/20 

support this. The Government’s ‘National Strategy for Disabled People' is being 
developed and CBT’s Disability consultant has been asked to input, influencing its 
work with the disabled community.   

• Responding to Resilience Risk: The results of the external evaluation of the six 
pilot intervention projects will be launched in Autumn 2020, with findings informing 
the next phase of the programme.  

• Learning organisation: CBT will continue to invest and develop their impact and 
learning plan and will introduce a new internal data function with the recruitment 
of a Data Analyst.  

Property investments - key activities planned within the investment property fund for 

2020/21 include: 

• Progress the refurbishments of 120 Cannon Street; 30 New Bridge Street; 84 
Moorgate (Electra House) and 74 Moorgate (Tower Chambers) which are all 
targeting BREEAM Excellent (a third party certificate assessed on environmental, 
social and economic sustainability performance, with Excellent recognising best 
practice) and EPC B ratings; 

• Complete the acquisition of head leaseholds and any new investments where 
opportunities arise, with a view to increasing income across the portfolio, with a 
particular focus on industrial assets; 

• Progress the sale of the Tower Bridge Road parade to reduce exposure to sub-
prime retail assets; and 

• Progress Joint Ventures on development opportunities at the Ministry of Sound 
site, 32/34 Southwark Bridge Road and 23 Finsbury Circus. 

 

Financial Investments - looking ahead, the Financial Investment Board will continue to 
manage the charity’s financial investment portfolio in line with the overall objectives. 
Throughout 2020/21 it will monitor the performance of the financial investments, ensuring 
that asset allocation remains appropriate and interrogating the performance of appointed 
investment managers. 
 

 

 

 

 

  

Page 49



25 

Bridge House Estates – Annual Report and Financial Statements 2019/20 

Financial Review 

Overview of financial performance 

Income 

The total income for the year was £46.6m, an increase of £3.5m when compared to the 

previous year (£43.1m). 

Restricted grant income of £1.8m was received in the final month of the year (2018/19: 

£0.2m). This was donated by various funders towards the London Community Response 

Fund, a restricted trust that was swiftly established within BHE to support the response 

to the Coronavirus pandemic.  

Income from charitable activities consists of the combined income derived from visitor 

admissions, retail and events at Tower Bridge. With 2019 being the 125th Anniversary of 

Tower Bridge, the first 11 months of the year produced record levels of income. However 

the visitor attraction had to close as a result of the pandemic in March 2020, which 

impacted on the full year results. Total income across the year was £6.7m (2018/19: 

£6.8m). 

Investment income is principally driven by the rental income earned from the property 

portfolio held by the charity, which is currently all held within the endowment fund. 

Property income totalled £34.6m, an increase of £3.1m against the previous year 

(2018/19: £31.5m). This included a surrender payment of £3.1m following a tenant exiting 

their lease 2 years ahead of the lease end date which will allow the opportunity for a 

major refurbishment of the buildings. The majority of the charity’s financial investments 

are held on a pooled basis, the income equivalent of which forms part of the movement 

in the value of assets within the balance sheet. Income arising from financial investments 

held on a non-pooled basis is reported within the statement of financial activities, at 

£2.5m (2018/19: £2.8m). Interest earnt from social investments and treasury deposits 

held makes up the balance of investment income, at £0.8m (2018/19: £0.8m). 

Other income of £0.2m includes fees received by CBT to undertake grant administrative 

services on behalf of other organisations, with the prior year amount of £1.0m being 

higher due to a one-off receipt relating to access to land. 

Expenditure 

Total expenditure for the year amounted to £62.8m, an increase of £9.7m on the prior 

year (£53.1m), driven by increased grant-making activities. The majority of expenditure 

was unrestricted with the exception of £0.2m (2018/19: nil) of grants against a funded 

programme and £0.6m (2018/19: £0.6m) costs attributable to the maintenance of the 

capital value of the endowment.  

Expenditure on raising funds increased slightly to £15.3m (2018/19: £15.1m). There were 

minor changes in the amounts expended on some of the activities relating to raising 

income, which comprise the costs of managing the charity’s investment portfolio and fees 

attributable to financial investments held. Expenditure relating to the Tower Bridge 

tourism operations is now reported within charitable activities, matching the disclosure of 

income earnt. 

Page 50



26 

Bridge House Estates – Annual Report and Financial Statements 2019/20 

Spend on charitable activities increased by £9.3m in the year, to £46.4m (2018/19: 

£37.1m). Spend on maintaining the five Thames bridges totalled £6.5m, against £6.6m 

in the previous year. Work on several major refurbishments has progressed, notably that 

of Blackfriars Bridge and London Bridge, however delays were experienced in the year 

in being able to gain access as a result of other projects taking place in the vicinity of 

both bridges. Planned expenditure will now take place in the coming months. Expenditure 

on the tourism activities at Tower Bridge reduced slightly against the previous year to 

£6.2m (2018/19: £6.4m). Grant-making activities and related spend achieved a record 

high for the charity at £33.7m (2018/19: £24.1m), with £30.7m of this amount being new 

grant commitments (2018/19: £21.9m). Additional funds were allocated by the charity to 

grant-making activities in the year, enabling this increased level of support in response 

to the needs of London’s Communities. 

Other expenditure covers the net costs of the pension scheme for the staff of the City 

Corporation that work on behalf of the charity. 

Overall Performance 

An overall deficit of £16.2m resulted for the year (2018/19: deficit £10.0m), prior to 

movements on investments held. The charity has delivered an overall increase in the 

value of investments as at 31 March 2020 of £63.3m (2018/19: £108.6m), with varying 

performances on asset types held. 

Property investments held reported gains of £80.2m (2018/19: £69.6m). During the year, 

the charity re-invested £41m within the property portfolio utilising disposal proceeds from 

previous transactions that had been held in the meantime as short-term financial 

investments. Over the past one, three, five and ten years respectively, property 

investments achieved an annualised total return (including income return in brackets) of 

11.6% (3.2%), 12.0% (3.1%), 13.3% (3.2%) and 13.8% (3.9%). 

An unrealised loss of £16.0m (2018/19: gains of £39.1m) resulted within financial 

investments held, due largely to the impacts of Covid-19 as at the year-end. Values have 

recovered post this date. An absolute return target of CPI (Consumer Prices Index) plus 

4% was set for the non-property investments, being 5.5% as at 31 March 2020 (31 March 

2019: 6.0%). The fund achieved an overall return of -2.8% in the year (2018/19: +5.6%), 

due to the impact of Covid-19 on the economy. Over the past three years and five years 

respectively, the fund has achieved an overall return of 1.5% and 3.6% per annum. This 

performance consists of both capital gains and in-year earnings retained across the 

various holdings, resulting in the overall loss in the year reported above. During the year, 

the charity decided to add an additional £17m to the multi-asset allocation within the 

portfolio from cash holdings. 

The social investment fund delivered an unrealised loss of £0.9m (2018/19: £0.1m). 

Funds held 

The charity’s total funds held increased by £41.7m or 2.8% to £1,536.4m as at 31 March 

2020 (2018/19: £1,494.7m). Within total funds held, £984.2m (2018/19: £907.5m) 

represent permanent endowment funds which are held in perpetuity as a capital fund to 

generate income for the future activities of the charity. All income arising from this capital 

Page 51



27 

Bridge House Estates – Annual Report and Financial Statements 2019/20 

fund is accounted for within unrestricted funds. Such income enables the charity to meet 

its primary objective of maintaining and supporting the five river bridges across the 

Thames, with the remaining surplus income available to undertake the activities of City 

Bridge Trust.  

Restricted funds of £2.8m (2019: £0.2m) were held at year-end. In response to the 

Coronavirus pandemic, BHE established the London Community Response Fund 

(LCRF) in March 2020, a restricted fund within its ancillary object that established a 

collective response with other funders to support London’s civil society. Of the £2.8m 

held at year-end, £1.8m represented income from donors alongside a transfer of £1.0m 

from the BHE grant-making designated fund.  

Unrestricted income funds held include the general fund and a number of designated 

funds. The total unrestricted income fund was £549.4m as at 31 March 2020 (2019: 

£587.0m), net of £18.9m held to cover the pension deficit (2019: £12.4m).  

The charity’s designated funds consist of unrestricted income funds which the Trustee 

has chosen to set aside for specific purposes. Such designations are not legally binding, 

and the Trustee can decide to “undesignate” these funds at any time. Designations as at 

31 March 2020 totalled £440.7m (2019: £183.5m). During the year, £200m was 

transferred from unrestricted income funds to the grant-making designated fund for 

application under the agreed funding policy of the charity ‘Bridging Divides’. Plans for the 

commitment of these funds will be developed by CBT during the coming months. 

 £13.4m was transferred to the bridges repair fund in the year to meet the future 

maintenance costs of its five bridges, with £41.7m now set aside to cover costs planned 

over the next 5 years (2018/19: £34.0m). The increase provides for higher expenditure 

planned over the next few years as a result of delays in the commencement of projects 

on both Blackfriars and London Bridges. The balance held within the bridges 

replacement fund has increased by £53.9m to £158.5m (2018/19: £104.6m) following a 

review in-year of expected replacement dates of each bridge.  

Detail of all funds held, including their purpose, is set out within Note 23 to the financial 

statements. 

Reserves Policy 

The permanent endowment funds are held in perpetuity. It is the Trustee’s policy to invest 

the assets of the charity held within this fund to retain the real value of the endowment, 

while also generating sufficient returns to fund the charity’s primary objectives of 

maintaining and supporting the five river bridges, whilst preserving both the ‘real’ value 

of the asset base and the purchasing power of the sums available for annual expenditure 

over the long term. 

Any income surplus to that required to be applied to the charity’s principal object is 

predominantly used to provide assistance in the form of grants to charitable organisations 

across Greater London. The level of funds available for grant awards is monitored and 

adjusted to ensure compliance with the policy to preserve the ‘real’ value of the asset 

base.  

Page 52



28 

Bridge House Estates – Annual Report and Financial Statements 2019/20 

The free reserves of the charity are held to cover working capital needs and a provision 

for unplanned urgent activities. The Trustee believes that an amount of £35m should be 

held at present, which will be subject to at least annual review. 

The charity is considering, within its governance review, adopting a total return basis for 

its permanent endowment fund. With this approach, the Trustee decides each year how 

much of the total return within the endowment fund can be released to income for 

spending against the objectives and how much is retained for investment. Prior to 

adopting this approach, the charity will be maintaining a designated fund for bridge 

replacement out of its unrestricted income funds. 

Reserve levels held as at 31 March 2020 are set out in Note 23. The charity holds free 

reserves of £108.7m (2019: £403.5m). Amounts held are £73.7m above the stated policy, 

with the Trustee being sensitive to the as yet unknown long-term impacts of the Covid-

19 pandemic on investments held. During the year the Trustee approved the creation of 

an income generation designated fund, as a mitigation against ensuring that the charity 

holds sufficient funds to enable it to undertake future activities at levels determined to 

meet its objectives. Further work will be undertaken during 2020/21 to consider if funds 

should be set aside within this designated fund. 

Investment Policy 

The charity’s financial investments are invested in accordance with the powers set out in 

an Order of the Charity Commission dated 20 July 1998, the Trustee Act 1925, the 

Trustee Act 2000 and within its investment policy. The Order enables the charity to invest 

the property of the charity either: 

• in the acquisition of any securities or property (real or personal) of any sort: or 

• on deposit or loan whether in the UK or elsewhere. 
 

The policy is to seek an absolute return over the long term in order to provide for real 

increases in annual expenditure, whilst preserving the charity’s capital base in real terms. 

Investments are made by the charity’s appointed fund managers in accordance with the 

above policy. The charity considers proactive engagement, via its fund managers, with 

the companies in which it invests to be the most effective means of understanding and 

influencing the social, environmental and governance policies of those companies. It 

expects investment managers to take steps to ensure that these factors are adequately 

addressed in the selection, retention and realisation of investments as far as such factors 

may affect investment performance. The City Corporation is committed to being a 

responsible investor and the long-term steward of the assets in which it invests. The City 

Corporation is a signatory to both the UK Stewardship Code (2012) and the Principles 

for Responsible Investment. The City Corporation has also developed a Responsible 

Investment Policy which applies to the charity. 

Full details of the charity’s Investment Policy are set out in the City Corporation’s 

Investment Strategy Statement which is available from the Chamberlain of London, at 

the email address on page 72. 

The performance of the charity’s financial investments during the year is discussed on 

page 21 and set out in Note 15. 

Page 53



29 

Bridge House Estates – Annual Report and Financial Statements 2019/20 

The property investments of the charity are managed within an approved Estates’ 

strategy, which is reviewed in depth on an annual basis. The strategic objectives of the 

property fund are to: 

• Maintain and maximise rental income; and 

• To outperform the MSCI Benchmark (Greater London properties including owner 
occupied) total return on an annualised 5-year basis. 
 

The performance of the fund during 2019/20 is set out on page 20 and within Note 14. 

Grant-making Policy 

The charity has established its grant making policy to achieve its ancillary objects, as laid 

out on page 5, for the public benefit. In the name of City Bridge Trust, its charitable 

funding arm, BHE considers and funds a large number of grantees and makes awards 

through a wide programme of funding schemes. The majority of grants are for revenue 

expenditure, awarded over 2–5 years. 

All applications are assessed via a robust process to ensure that proposed activities for 

funding will be supported by adequate and appropriate resources and will be used only 

for activities that match the charity’s criteria. Approved grantees are required to report 

annually on the impact of their work. Information is collected in a uniform and systematic 

way, enabling analysis and feedback to take place. The results of monitoring reports are 

used to assess the overall effectiveness of grant-making, along with a commissioned 

grantee perception survey providing benchmarking and performance data. 

Details of how to apply for grants are available on the CBT website – 

www.citybridgetrust.org.uk  

Remuneration Policy 

The charity’s senior staff are employees of the City Corporation and, alongside all staff, 

pay is reviewed annually. The City Corporation is committed to attracting, recruiting and 

retaining skilled people and rewarding employees fairly for their contribution.  As part of 

this commitment, staff are regularly appraised and, subject to performance, eligible for 

the payment of bonuses and recognition awards. 

The above policy applies to staff within the charity’s key management personnel, as 

defined within Note 12 to the financial statements. 

Senior staff posts of the charity are individually evaluated and assessed independently 

against the external market allowing each post to be allocated an individual salary range 

within the relevant grade, which incorporates market factors as well as corporate 

importance. 

The charity is committed to equal opportunities for all employees. An Equality and 

Inclusion Board has been established to actively promote equality, diversity and inclusion 

in service delivery and employment practices.  The Board is responsible for monitoring 

the delivery of the Equality and Inclusion Action Plan. This also includes addressing the 

City Corporation’s gender pay gap. 

 

Page 54

http://www.citybridgetrust.org.uk/


30 

Bridge House Estates – Annual Report and Financial Statements 2019/20 

Fundraising 

Section 162a of the Charities Act 2011 requires charities to make a statement regarding 

fundraising activities. The legislation defines fundraising as “soliciting or otherwise 

procuring money or other property for charitable purposes”. Although the charity does 

not undertake widespread fundraising activities, any such amounts receivable are 

presented in the financial statements as “voluntary income” including grants. 

In relation to the above we confirm that all solicitations are managed internally, without 

involvement of commercial participators or professional fund-raisers, or third parties. The 

day to day management of all income generation is delegated to City Bridge Trust, who 

are accountable to the trustee. The charity is not bound by any regulatory scheme and 

does not consider it necessary to comply with any voluntary code of practice.  

The charity has received no complaints in relation to fundraising activities in the current 

year (2018/19: nil). Individuals are not approached for funds, hence the charity does not 

consider it necessary to design specific procedures to monitor such activities. 

Principal Risks and Uncertainties 

The charity is committed to a programme of risk management as an element of its 

strategy to preserve the charity’s assets. In order to embed sound practice the senior 

leadership team ensures that risk management policies are applied, that there is an on-

going review of activity and that appropriate advice and support is provided. A key risk 

register has been prepared for the charity, which has been reviewed by the Trustee. This 

identifies the potential impact of key risks and the measures which are in place to mitigate 

such risks. 

The principal risks faced by the charity, and actions taken to manage them are as follows:  

Risk Actions to manage risks 
Appropriate returns 
from investment 
activities are not 
achieved to enable the 
charity to maintain its 
asset value and 
support its charitable 
activities, notably as a 
result of the impacts of 
Covid-19. 

 

Property investments 

The property portfolio is managed within an approved 
Estates’ strategy, including diversification between ground 
lease and directly managed properties and property asset 
classes, which is reviewed on an annual basis by the 
Property Investment Board. KPIs are in place to monitor 
rental income, with a working group in place to review 
cyclical maintenance costs to ensure effectiveness. A 
programme of major refurbishments is in place to maximise 
income and value over the next 5 years. Rental income is 
being monitored weekly during Covid-19 and short-term 
assistance in the form of deferrals and rent frees has been 
provided to some tenants for March and June quarters to 
maintain both income and value over the next 5 years.  It is 
likely that both income and value will fall in 2020/21 due to 
Covid-19. 
 
Financial investments 

Risk is reduced through the use of a range of fund 
managers implementing different investment mandates. 

Page 55



31 

Bridge House Estates – Annual Report and Financial Statements 2019/20 

Risk Actions to manage risks 

There is notable uncertainty about the long-term impact of 
Covid-19 on the global economy and, by extension, 
financial asset values. Given these conditions the likelihood 
of this risk materialising has now increased. The Financial 
Investment Board will manage this risk through the careful 
and regular monitoring of the investment portfolio to ensure 
that it remains appropriate.  

The outcome of 
Brexit negotiations 
has an adverse 
impact on the 
charity’s income 
streams, on 
charitable funding 
demand, on 
procurement and 
supply chains and on 
the recruitment and 
retention of staff. 
 

A close watching brief continues to be kept on the 
implications of events following the departure of the UK 
from the EU on 31 January 2020. As we move to the end of 
the transition period on 31 December 2020, risks are being 
identified, assessed, mitigated and recorded.  
The risk of a reduction to property income is considered to 
be low in the short term as a result of Brexit, with tenants 
tied to rental values in long lease agreements. 
Financial investments are mainly invested in pooled global 
securities and therefore have limited exposure to any 
potential deterioration or volatility in the FTSE Index. 
The charitable funding strategy is regularly reviewed to 
ensure it satisfies the needs of Londoners. 

Structural damage to 
one of the bridges 
may cause it to 
become non-
operational. 
 
 

The City Surveyor’s Department and Department of the 
Built Environment within the City Corporation work together, 
alongside other statutory bodies, to manage ongoing 
actions associated with this risk which includes potential 
structural damage as a result of issues such as a substantial 
vessel strike or through acts of terrorism. Possible impacts 
from the Thames Tideway tunnelling continue to be 
monitored, with tunnelling work underway in 2020/21. A 50-
year maintenance plan is in place to manage on-going 
works. 

Grant funding not 
used for its intended 
purpose. 
 

Robust grants monitoring and evaluation systems are in 
place which would pick up if a grant were being used for a 
different purpose. Funding managers maintain strong and 
effective relationships with grantees which helps to flag 
early any potential for change and encourages grantees to 
seek advance permission for a change of use if relevant. 
Grantees may also receive an unannounced visit during the 
life of their grant, although such visits have been suspended 
for a period as a result of Covid-19.   

 

Going Concern 

The financial statements of BHE have been prepared on a going concern basis as the 

Trustee considers that there are no material uncertainties about the charity’s ability to 

continue as a going concern. In making this assessment, the Trustee has considered the 

potential impact of the Covid-19 pandemic on the value of investment assets held, future 

income levels and the liquidity of the charity over the next 12-month period. The 

restrictions put in place in response to Covid-19 has disrupted the property market, which 

Page 56



32 

Bridge House Estates – Annual Report and Financial Statements 2019/20 

has made the valuation process more challenging. To reflect these circumstances our 

valuers have placed a “material valuation uncertainty” caveat to their valuations, which 

states that their valuation carries a greater degree of judgement than would previously 

be the case due to the unprecedented circumstances being faced. 

Financial projections have been considered over the short-term with the assumption that 

income levels will be below former expectations and that investments held are unlikely 

to generate a similar level of gains in line with previous financial years. The primary 

objective of the charity is to meet the needs of the five Thames bridges, ensuring that 

adequate funds have been set aside to cover both the short and long-term. The Trustee 

is satisfied that it will have the necessary resources to meet these needs. The ancillary 

objective of BHE is undertaken only where surplus income is available after 

responsibilities relating to the Bridges have been met, as stated on page 5.  This method 

of operation provides flexibility to the charity when approving future plans. For this 

reason, the Trustee continues to adopt a going concern basis for the preparation of the 

financial statements. 

  

Page 57



33 

Bridge House Estates – Annual Report and Financial Statements 2019/20 

Trustee responsibilities 

 

The Trustee is responsible for preparing the Annual Report and the financial statements 
in accordance with applicable law and regulations.  
 
Charity law requires the Trustee to prepare financial statements for each financial year 
in accordance with United Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting Practice (United 
Kingdom Accounting Standards and applicable law).  Under charity law the Trustee must 
not approve the financial statements unless the Trustee is satisfied that they give a true 
and fair view of the state of affairs of the charity and of the incoming resources and 
application of resources, including the income and expenditure, of the charity for that 
period. In preparing these financial statements, the Trustee is required to: 
 

• select suitable accounting policies and then apply them consistently; 

• make judgements and accounting estimates that are reasonable and prudent; 

• state whether applicable UK Accounting Standards have been followed, subject to 
any material departures disclosed and explained in the financial statements; and 

• prepare the financial statements on the going concern basis unless it is inappropriate 
to presume that the charity will continue in business. 

 
The Trustee is responsible for keeping adequate accounting records that are sufficient 
to show and explain the charity’s transactions and disclose with reasonable accuracy at 
any time the financial position of the charity and enable the Trustee to ensure that the 
financial statements comply with the Charities Act 2011.  The Trustee is also responsible 
for safeguarding the assets of the charity and hence for taking reasonable steps for the 
prevention and detection of fraud and other irregularities. 
 
In so far as the Trustee is aware: 

• there is no relevant audit information of which the charity’s auditors are unaware; and 

• the Trustee has taken all septs that they ought to have taken to make themselves 
aware of any relevant audit information and to establish that the auditors are aware 
of that information. 

Financial statements are published on the Trustee’s website in accordance with 
legislation in the United Kingdom governing the preparation and dissemination of 
financial statements, which may vary from legislation in other jurisdictions.  The 
maintenance and integrity of the Trustee’s website is the responsibility of the Trustee.  
The Trustee’s responsibility also extends to the ongoing integrity of the financial 
statements contained therein. 
Adopted and signed for on behalf of the Trustee. 

Jeremy Paul Mayhew MA MBA    Jamie Ingham Clark FCA, Deputy 

 

Chairman of Finance Committee Deputy Chairman of Finance  

Committee 

Guildhall, London                                                         October 2020  

Page 58



34 

Bridge House Estates – Annual Report and Financial Statements 2019/20 

Independent Auditor’s Report to the Trustee of Bridge House Estates 

 

Opinion 

We have audited the financial statements of Bridge House Estates (“the Charity”) for 

the year ended 31 March 2020 which comprise the Statement of Financial Activities, 

the Balance Sheet, the Statement of Cash Flows and notes to the financial statements, 

including a summary of significant accounting policies. The financial reporting 

framework that has been applied in their preparation is applicable law and United 

Kingdom Accounting Standards, including Financial Reporting Standard 102 The 

Financial Reporting Standard applicable in the UK and Republic of Ireland (United 

Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting Practice). 

In our opinion, the financial statements: 

• give a true and fair view of the state of the Charity’s affairs as at 31 March 2020 and 
of its incoming resources and application of resources for the year then ended; 

• have been properly prepared in accordance with United Kingdom Generally Accepted 
Accounting Practice; and 

• have been prepared in accordance with the requirements of the Charities Act 2011. 
 

Basis for opinion 

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (UK) 

(ISAs (UK)) and applicable law. Our responsibilities under those standards are further 

described in the Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements 

section of our report. We are independent of the Charity in accordance with the ethical 

requirements relevant to our audit of the financial statements in the UK, including the 

FRC’s Ethical Standard, and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in 

accordance with these requirements. We believe that the audit evidence we have 

obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. 

Emphasis of matter: Property valuations 

We draw attention to note 1.c.i, which explains that as a result of the impact of the 

outbreak of the Novel Coronavirus (COVID-19) on the market, the Charity’s property 

valuers have advised that less certainty, and a higher degree of caution, should be 

attached to their valuations than would normally be the case. Our opinion is not 

modified in respect of this matter. 

Conclusions related to going concern  

We have nothing to report in respect of the following matters in relation to which the 

ISAs (UK) require us to report to you where: 

• the Trustee’s use of the going concern basis of accounting in the preparation of the 
financial statements is not appropriate; or 

• the Trustee has not disclosed in the financial statements any identified material 
uncertainties that may cast significant doubt about the Charity’s ability to continue to 

Page 59



35 

Bridge House Estates – Annual Report and Financial Statements 2019/20 

adopt the going concern basis of accounting for a period of at least twelve months 
from the date when the financial statements are authorised for issue. 
 

Other information 

The other information comprises the information included in the Annual Report, other 

than the financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon. The Trustee is 

responsible for the other information.   

Our opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other information and, 

except to the extent otherwise explicitly stated in our report, we do not express any 

form of assurance conclusion thereon. 

In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our responsibility is to read the 

other information and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially 

inconsistent with the financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or 

otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If we identify such material 

inconsistencies or apparent material misstatements, we are required to determine 

whether there is a material misstatement in the financial statements or a material 

misstatement of the other information. If, based on the work we have performed, we 

conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other information, we are required 

to report that fact. 

We have nothing to report in this regard. 

Matters on which we are required to report by exception 

We have nothing to report in respect of the following matters in relation to which the 

Charities Act 2011 requires us to report to you if, in our opinion: 

• the information contained in the financial statements is inconsistent in any material 
respect with the Trustee’s Annual Report; or 

• adequate accounting records have not been kept; or 

• the financial statements are not in agreement with the accounting records and 
returns; or 

• we have not received all the information and explanations we require for our audit. 
 

Responsibilities of the Trustee 

As explained more fully in the Trustee Responsibilities statement, the Trustee is 

responsible for the preparation of the financial statements and for being satisfied that 

they give a true and fair view, and for such internal control as the Trustee determines is 

necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from material 

misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 

In preparing the financial statements, the Trustee is responsible for assessing the 

Charity’s ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters 

related to going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the 

Trustee either intends to liquidate the Charity or to cease operations, or has no realistic 

alternative but to do so.  

Page 60



36 

Bridge House Estates – Annual Report and Financial Statements 2019/20 

Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements  

We have been appointed as auditor under section 144 of the Charities Act 2011 and 

report in accordance with the Act and relevant regulations made or having effect 

thereunder. 

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial 

statements as a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or 

error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance 

is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in 

accordance with ISAs (UK) will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. 

Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually 

or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic 

decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial statements. 

A further description of our responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements is 

located at the Financial Reporting Council’s (“FRC’s”) website at: 

https://www.frc.org.uk/auditorsresponsibilities. This description forms part of our 

auditor’s report.  

Use of our report 

This report is made solely to the Charity’s trustee, as a body, in accordance with the 

Charities Act 2011. Our audit work has been undertaken so that we might state to the 

Charity’s trustee those matters we are required to state to them in an auditor’s report 

and for no other purpose. To the fullest extent permitted by law, we do not accept or 

assume responsibility to anyone other than the Charity and the Charity’s trustee as a 

body, for our audit work, for this report, or for the opinions we have formed. 

 

Fiona Condron (Senior Statutory Auditor)  

For and on behalf of BDO LLP, statutory auditor 

London 

      October 2020 

 

BDO LLP is eligible for appointment as auditor of the charity by virtue of its eligibility for 

appointment as auditor of a company under section 1212 of the Companies Act 2006. 

 

BDO LLP is a limited liability partnership registered in England and Wales (with 

registered number OC305127).  

Page 61



37 

Bridge House Estates – Annual Report and Financial Statements 2019/20 

Report of the Audit Review Panel to the Right Honourable the Lord 
Mayor, Aldermen and Livery of the several Companies of the City of 
London in Common Hall assembled 
 

We, whose names are hereunto subscribed, the Audit Review Panel of the Chamberlain's 

and Bridgemasters' Accounts, elected by the Livery of London in Common Hall assembled 

on 26 June 2017, 25 June 2018 and 24 June 2019 pursuant to Act 11, George 1, Cap. 18, 

an Act for regulating elections within the City of London, etc., do report as follows:- 

We have reviewed the processes adopted by BDO LLP for the audit of the Bridge House 

Estates for the period from 1 April 2019 to 31 March 2020. 

In our view the audit of the Financial Statements has been conducted in accordance with 

auditing procedures as stated on pages 34 to 36. 

This report is made solely to the above-named addressees. Our work has been undertaken 

to enable us to make this report and for no other purpose. 

 

 

P. Dossett 

 

 

A. Francis 

 

 

P. Watts     

 

 

Dated:         October 2020 

The BDO City Corporation Engagement Lead, Leigh Lloyd-Thomas, is also a member of 

the Audit Review Panel. However, as the role of the Panel is to provide independent 

confirmation that the processes adopted by BDO LLP have been conducted in 

accordance with auditing procedures, it is not appropriate for Leigh Lloyd-Thomas to sign 

the report. 

 

 

  

Page 62



38 

Bridge House Estates – Annual Report and Financial Statements 2019/20 

Statement of Financial Activities 

For the year ended 31 March 2020 

 

 

 

All of the above results are derived from continuing activities.     

There were no other recognised gains and losses other than those shown above.  

   

The notes on pages 41 to 71 form part of these financial statements. 
  

 

 

 

Notes

Unrestricted 

Funds

Restricted 

Funds

Endowment 

Funds

2019/20        Total 

Funds

2018/19       

Total Funds

£m £m £m £m £m

Income and Endowments from:

Voluntary income 2 -   1.8 -   1.8 0.2

Charitable activities 3 6.7 -   -   6.7 6.8

Investments 4 37.9 -   -   37.9 35.1

Other income 5 0.2 -   -   0.2 1.0

Total Income 44.8 1.8 -   46.6 43.1

Expenditure on:

Raising funds 6 14.7 -   0.6 15.3 15.1 

Charitable activities  

Repair and maintenance of bridges 6.5 -   -   6.5 6.6 

Tower Bridge tourism 6.2 -   -   6.2 6.4 

Grants to voluntary organisations 33.5 0.2 -   33.7 24.1 

Total charitable activities 7 46.2 0.2 -   46.4 37.1 

Other  

Net pension scheme costs 9 1.1 -   -   1.1 0.9 

Total Expenditure 62.0 0.2 0.6 62.8 53.1 

Net (expenditure)/income (17.2) 1.6 (0.6) (16.2) (10.0)

Net gains on property investments 14 -   -   80.2 80.2 69.6 

Net (losses)/gains on financial investments 15 (13.1) -   (2.9) (16.0) 39.1 

Net (losses) on social investments 16 (0.9) -   -   (0.9) (0.1)

Total (Losses)/Gains on Investments (14.0) -   77.3 63.3 108.6 

Net (expenditure)/income after gains/(losses) 

on investments (31.2) 1.6 76.7 47.1 98.6 

Transfers between funds (1.0) 1.0 -   -   -   

Other recognised gains/(losses):  

Actuarial (losses)/gains on defined benefit 

pension scheme 9 (5.4) -   -   (5.4) 0.3

Net movement in funds (37.6) 2.6 76.7 41.7 98.9 

Reconciliation of funds:

Fund balances brought forward at 1 April 2019 587.0 0.2 907.5          1,494.7 1,395.8 

Total funds carried forward 23 549.4 2.8 984.2 1,536.4 1,494.7 

Page 63



39 

Bridge House Estates – Annual Report and Financial Statements 2019/20 

Balance Sheet  

As at 31 March 2020 

 

 

 

The notes on pages 41 to 71 form part of these financial statements.  

Approved and signed on behalf of the Trustee 

 

 

Dr Peter Kane 

Chamberlain of London  

       October 2020 

 

Notes 2020 2019

Total Total

£m £m

Fixed assets:

Tangible assets 13 3.4 3.7

Investment properties 14 854.9 739.3

Financial investments 15 687.2 687.6

Social Investment Fund 16 12.6 13.2

Total fixed assets 1,558.1 1,443.8

Current assets

Stock 0.3 0.2

Debtors 18 11.6 12.0

Short term investments and deposits 15 49.4 104.3

Cash at bank and in hand 7.7 5.5

Total current assets 69.0 122.0

Creditors: Amounts falling due within one year 19 (37.9) (34.6)

Net current assets 31.1 87.4

Total assets less current liabilities 1,589.2 1,531.2

Creditors: Amounts falling due after more than one year 20 (33.9) (24.1)

Net assets excluding pension scheme liability 1,555.3 1,507.1

Defined benefit pension scheme liability 21 (18.9) (12.4)

Total net assets 1,536.4 1,494.7

The Funds of the charity:

Permanent endowment funds 984.2 907.5

Restricted funds 2.8 0.2

Unrestricted income funds 549.4 587.0

Total funds 23 1,536.4 1,494.7

Page 64



40 

Bridge House Estates – Annual Report and Financial Statements 2019/20 

Statement of Cash Flows  

For the year ended 31 March 2020 

 

     

          

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Notes 2019/20 2018/19

Total Total

£m £m

Cash flows from operating activities:

Net cash (used in) operating activities 24 (4.0) (8.2)

Cash flows from investing activities:

Interest and income from financial investments 2.6 3.5

Cash deducted/(added) to short term deposits 54.9 (78.9)

Purchase of tangible fixed assets -   (0.3)

Sale of investment property 5.6 97.4

Purchase of property (41.0) (0.8)

(Proceeds) from social investments (0.3) (4.8)

Additions to financial investments (119.0) (194.2)

Proceeds from sale of financial investments 103.4 191.1

Net cash provided by investing activities 6.2 13.0

Increase in cash in the year 2.2 4.8

Change in cash and cash equivalents in the 

reporting period 2.2 4.8

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the 

reporting period 5.5 0.7

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year 25 7.7 5.5

Page 65



41 

Bridge House Estates – Annual Report and Financial Statements 2019/20 

Notes to the Financial Statements 

 

1. Accounting policies 

The following accounting policies have been applied consistently in dealing with items 

that are considered material in relation to the financial statements of the charity. 

a. Basis of preparation 
The financial statements of the charity, which is a public benefit entity under 

FRS102,  have been prepared under the historical cost convention, as modified 

for the revaluation of investment property and financial investments measured at 

fair value, and in accordance with the Statement of Recommended Practice 

(SORP) Accounting and Reporting by Charities, published in 2015, Financial 

Reporting Standard 102 ‘The Financial Reporting Standard applicable in the UK 

and Republic of Ireland’ (FRS 102) and the Charities Act 2011.  

b. Going concern  
The financial statements have been prepared on a going concern basis as the 

Trustee considers that there are no material uncertainties about the charity’s ability 

to continue as a going concern. A rolling annual review of the charity’s forecast 

financial position over a five-year period is carried out to confirm that sufficient 

income funds will be generated to finance required expenditure on the bridges with 

any available surplus funds allocated to charitable funding.  

In making this assessment, the Trustee has considered the potential impact of the 

Covid-19 pandemic on the value of investment assets held, future income levels 

and the liquidity of the charity over the next 12-month period. Financial projections 

have been considered over the short-term assuming that income levels will be 

below former expectations, with investments unlikely to generate gains in line with 

previous financial years results. The primary objective of the charity is to meet the 

needs of the bridges, ensuring that adequate funds have been set aside to cover 

both the short and long-term. The Trustee is satisfied that it will have the 

necessary resources to meet these needs. For this reason, the Trustee continues 

to adopt a going concern basis for the preparation of the financial statements. 

c. Critical accounting judgements and assumptions 

Key accounting judgements and assumptions are continually evaluated and are 

based on historical experience and other factors, including expectations of future 

events that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances. The resulting 

accounting estimates will, by definition, seldom equal the related actual results. The 

following are the significant judgements that have been made in the process of 

applying the charity’s accounting policies and that have the most significant effect 

on the amounts recognised in the Financial Statements: 

i. Valuation processes  

Some of the charity’s investment assets are measured at market value for financial 

reporting purposes. The charity applies judgement in approving the appropriate 

values for inclusion, using qualified professionals in such decisions. Where lease 

Page 66



42 

Bridge House Estates – Annual Report and Financial Statements 2019/20 

premia or costs relating to rent free periods are recognised in advance of the related 

cash flows, an adjustment is made to ensure that the carrying value of the relevant 

property, including accrued or deferred income, does not exceed the fair value as 

assessed by the external valuers. 

The outbreak of Covid-19, declared by the World Health Organisation as a global 

pandemic on 11 March 2020, has impacted global financial markets. Whilst real 

estate markets have continued to function, activity levels have been reduced. Less 

weight can therefore be attached to previous market evidence for comparison 

purposes to inform opinions of the value of our property portfolio. Valuers are 

required to take into account the conditions that existed as at the balance sheet 

date, and therefore valuations have been reported on the basis of ‘material 

valuation uncertainty’ as per the RICS Red Book Global, which contains mandatory 

rules, best practice guidance and related commentary for all RICS members 

undertaking asset valuations. 

In considering the specific portfolio of 72 assets which the charity holds, the valuers 

have not identified any assumptions impacting on a single or sub-group of those 

assets which were specifically sensitive to the impacts of the pandemic and which 

were relevant to the judgments applied as at 31 March 2020. However the absence 

of sufficient transactional evidence and the macro-economic effect of the Covid-19 

at that time was a cause for uncertainty. Since a 0.4% decrease in the valuations 

of the assets in the charity’s portfolio would have given rise to a material change in 

the valuations presented on the balance sheet as at 31 March 2020 the Trustee 

considers that this matter should be drawn to the attention of the users of the 

financial statements. 

It is however noted that, subsequent to the valuation date transactional evidence 

did become available in respect of Central London properties (which make up the 

majority of the charity’s investment property portfolio). Accordingly, on 10 July 2020 

RICS encouraged its members to relax the use of a material uncertainty clause in 

respect of this sector. 

Unquoted social investments are in some cases internally valued, and management 

is required to make certain judgemental assumptions.  

ii. Investment property disposals 

When accounting for the disposal of long leaseholds of investment properties, the 

charity utilises the methodology as set out within the RICS Professional Standards 

(“the Red Book”) in apportioning values between land and buildings. This includes 

a number of factors such as insurance values and future construction costs, which 

are subject to judgement. 

iii. Defined benefit pension scheme 

The charity has an obligation to pay pension benefits to those working for it. The 

cost of these benefits and the present value of the obligation depend on a number 

of factors, including; life expectancy, salary increases, asset valuations and the 

discount rate on corporate bonds. Management estimates these factors in 

determining the net pension obligation in the balance sheet. The assumptions 

Page 67



43 

Bridge House Estates – Annual Report and Financial Statements 2019/20 

reflect historical experience and current trends. See note 21 for the disclosures 

relating to the defined benefit pension scheme, alongside further detail on the 

sensitivity of assumptions made. 

d. Income and expenditure 

All income is included in the Statement of Financial Activities (SOFA) when the 

charity is legally entitled to the income; it is more likely than not that the economic 

benefit associated with the transaction will come to the charity and the amount can 

be quantified with reasonable certainty. Income consists of fees and charges from 

the tourism operation at Tower Bridge, grants voluntary income, income from 

property and financial investments and income on money market deposits held. 

Expenditure is accounted for on an accruals basis and has been classified under 

the principal categories of ‘expenditure on raising funds’, ‘expenditure on charitable 

activities’ and ‘other expenditure’. Expenditure on raising funds comprises those 

related to management of the investment property portfolio and financial 

investments, including apportioned support costs. The element of costs relating to 

property and financial investments that are attributable to maintaining the capital 

value of the endowment are charged to that fund, with the balance of these costs 

coming from the unrestricted income fund. Expenditure on charitable activities 

comprises repair and maintenance of the bridges, those related to the operation of 

the Tower Bridge tourist attraction, alongside grant-making, including apportioned 

support costs. Grants are recognised as expenditure at the point at which an 

unconditional commitment is made, with notification made in writing to the grantee, 

and where the liability can be quantified with reasonable certainty. Where the 

payment is planned to be more than 12 months after the reporting date of the 

charity’s accounts, the charity reviews the present value of future payments and 

considers whether the effective financing cost is material to the charity’s reporting. 

If so, the financing charge is disclosed in the SOFA. Otherwise the unadjusted value 

of the grant awarded is shown within creditors. In 2019/20 the charity does not 

consider the effective financing cost of future payments as material, and no 

adjustment has been made.  

Governance costs include the costs of governance arrangements which relate to 

the general running of the charity as opposed to the direct management functions 

inherent in the activities undertaken. These include external audit, internal audit and 

costs associated with constitutional and statutory requirements such as the cost of 

Trustee meetings. 

Support costs (including governance costs) include activities undertaken by the City 

Corporation on behalf of the charity, such as human resources, technology, legal 

support, accounting services, committee administration, public relations and 

premises costs. The basis of the cost allocation is set out in Note 11. 

The Trustee, the City Corporation, accounts centrally for all payroll related 

deductions. As a result, the charity accounts for all such sums due as having been 

paid. 

Page 68



44 

Bridge House Estates – Annual Report and Financial Statements 2019/20 

e. Foreign currencies  

Transactions in foreign currencies are recorded at the rate of exchange ruling at the 

date of the transaction. Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign 

currencies are valued at the year-end rate of exchange. All gains or losses on 

translation are taken to the Statement of Financial Activities in the year in which 

they occur. 

f. Pension costs 

 Defined benefit scheme 

The Trustee operates a funded defined benefit pension scheme for its staff 

employed on its activities, which includes staff acting for the Trustee on behalf of 

Bridge House Estates. The original scheme is based on final salary and length of 

service on retirement. Changes to the Scheme came into effect from 1 April 2014 

and any benefits accrued from this date are based on career average revalued 

salary, with various protections in place for those members in the Scheme before 

the changes took effect.  

The Pension Fund is the responsibility of the City Corporation as a corporate body 

exercising its functions including as Trustee of BHE, and the charity does not have 

an exclusive relationship with the City of London Pension Fund. Although the 

proportion of the Pension Fund that relates to City Corporation employee members 

engaged on BHE activities is not separately identifiable, a share of the total Pension 

Fund has been allocated to BHE based on employer’s pension contributions paid 

into the Fund by BHE as a proportion of total employer’s contributions paid.  

For the defined benefit scheme the amounts charged within expenditure are the 

current service costs and gains and losses on settlements and curtailments. They 

are included as part of staff costs. Past service costs are recognised immediately 

in the Statement of Financial Activities if the benefits have vested. If the benefits 

have not vested immediately, the costs are recognised over the period until vesting 

occurs. The interest cost and expected return on the assets are shown as a net 

amount of other finance costs or credits adjacent to interest. Actuarial gains and 

losses are recognised immediately in other recognised gains and losses.  

The assets of the scheme are held separately from those in the charity, and are 

invested by independent fund managers appointed by the Trustee. Pension 

scheme assets are measured at fair value and liabilities are measured on an 

actuarial basis by a qualified actuary using the projected unit method and 

discounted at a rate equivalent to the current rate of return on a high quality 

corporate bond of equivalent currency and term to the scheme liabilities. The 

resulting defined benefit asset or liability is presented separately after net assets on 

the face of the balance sheet.  

Barnett Waddingham LLP, an independent actuary, carried out the latest triennial 

actuarial assessment of the scheme as at 31 March 2019, using the projected unit 

method. The actuary will carry out the next triennial actuarial assessment of the 

scheme as at 31 March 2022 during 2022/23, which will set contributions for the 

period from 1 April 2023 to 31 March 2026. 

Page 69



45 

Bridge House Estates – Annual Report and Financial Statements 2019/20 

g. Operating leases – Bridge House Estates as the lessor 

Assets subject to operating leases are included in the Balance Sheet according to 

the nature of the assets. Rental income from operating leases, excluding charges 

for services such as insurance and maintenance, are recognised on a straight-line 

basis until the next rent review, even if the payments are not received on this basis, 

unless another basis is more representative of the time pattern in which the benefits 

derived from the leased asset are diminished. Rent- free periods are allocated over 

the term of the lease.  

h. Taxation 

The charity meets the definition of a charitable trust for UK income tax purposes, as 

set out in Paragraph 1 Schedule 6 of the Finance Act 2010. Accordingly, the charity 

is exempt from UK taxation in respect of income or capital gains under part 10 of 

the Income Tax Act 2007 or section 256 of the Taxation of Chargeable Gains Act 

1992, to the extent that such income or gains are applied exclusively to charitable 

purposes. 

i. Fixed Assets 

 Tangible fixed assets 

Assets that are capable of being used for more than one year and have a cost 

greater than £50,000 are capitalised. Such assets are stated at cost less 

accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment losses. Depreciation is 

charged from the year following that of acquisition, on a straight-line basis, in order 

to write off each asset over its estimated useful life as follows: 

Computer Software    3 years 

Computer and other equipment  5 years 

Fixtures and fittings    8-20 years  

Operational assets            10-30 years  

 Land is not depreciated. 

Where a fixed asset (other than freehold land) is not depreciated or has a life of 

more than 50 years, an annual impairment review is carried out. 

       Heritage assets  

In recognition of the historical and cultural nature of the five bridges maintained by 

the charity, these are considered to be heritage assets in line with the definition 

within FRS 102. The bridges are also considered to be inalienable (i.e. they may 

not be replaced or disposed of without specific statutory powers). A valuation of the 

bridges, and certain strategic properties integral to the operation of Tower Bridge, 

is not included in these accounts as the Trustee does not consider that relevant 

cost or valuation information can be obtained at a cost commensurate with the 

benefit to readers of the financial statements. This is because of the unique nature 

of the assets held, the lack of reliable cost information held and the lack of 

Page 70



46 

Bridge House Estates – Annual Report and Financial Statements 2019/20 

comparable market values. The insured value, with cover being for all risks, of the 

five bridges at 31 March 2020 was £939m (2019: £929m). 

Investment properties 

Investment properties for which fair value can be measured reliably without undue 

cost or effort on an on-going basis are measured at fair value annually with any 

change recognised in the Statement of Financial Activities. The valuations are 

estimated by appropriately qualified professional valuers. 

No depreciation or amortisation is provided in respect of freehold or leasehold 

investment properties. 

Financial Investments 

i. Quoted Investments 

Quoted investments comprise publicly quoted, listed securities including shares, 

bonds and units. Quoted investments are stated at fair value at the balance sheet 

date. The basis of fair value for quoted investments is equivalent to the market 

value, using the mid-price. Asset sales and purchases are recognised at the date 

of trade. 

ii. Unquoted Investments 

Unquoted investments are valued at a valuation advised by the fund managers. 

 Social investments 

 Social investments that are loans are accounted for at the outstanding amount of 

the loan less any provision for unrecoverable amounts. Unquoted equity, social 

investment funds and partnerships, and similar social investments are held at cost, 

less any provision for diminution in value, unless the charity is able to obtain a 

reliable estimate of fair value. 

j. Stocks 

Stocks are valued at the lower of cost or net realisable value. All stocks are finished 

goods and are held for resale as part of the Tourism operation at Tower Bridge.  

k. Financial assets and liabilities 
 

Since the charity only has financial instruments which qualify as basic financial 

instruments, it has chosen to adopt Section 11 of FRS 102 in respect of financial 

instruments. Financial assets and liabilities, including debtors and creditors, are 

recognised when the charity becomes party to the contractual provisions of the 

instrument. Additionally, all financial assets and liabilities are classified according to 

the substance of the contractual arrangements entered into. Financial assets and 

liabilities are initially measured at transaction price (including transaction costs) and 

are subsequently re-measured where applicable at amortised cost. 

Financial assets are derecognised when the contractual rights to the cash flows 

from the asset expire, or when the group has transferred substantially all the risks 

Page 71



47 

Bridge House Estates – Annual Report and Financial Statements 2019/20 

and rewards of ownership. Financial liabilities are derecognised only when the 

obligation specified in the contract is discharged, cancelled or expires. 

l. Funds structure 

Income, expenditure and gains/losses are allocated to particular funds according to 

their purpose: 

Permanent Endowment Fund – this fund consists of funds which are held in 

perpetuity for the benefit of the charity as a result of conditions imposed by the 

original donors and trusts. Income generated from the investments which represent 

these funds can be spent on the charitable purposes of the charity, hence is 

allocated to the unrestricted income fund. Gains/losses on the underlying assets 

remain as part of the endowment.  

Restricted funds – these include income that is subject to specific restrictions 

imposed by donors, with related expenditure deducted when incurred. 

Unrestricted income funds – these funds can be used in accordance with the 

charitable objects at the discretion of the Trustee, and include both income 

generated by assets held within the permanent endowment fund and from those 

representing unrestricted funds. Specifically, this represents the surplus of income 

over expenditure for the charity which is carried forward to meet the requirements 

of future years, known as free reserves. 

Designated Funds – these are funds set aside by the Trustee out of unrestricted 

funds for a specific purpose. 

2. Income from voluntary activities 

 

 

 
3. Income from charitable activities 

 

 

 

 

 

Total 

2019/20

Restricted 

Income 

Funds Total 2018/19

£m £m £m £m

Grant income 1.8 1.8 0.2 0.2

1.8 1.8 0.2 0.2

Restricted 

Income Funds

Total 

2019/20

Unrestricted 

Income 

Funds

Total 

2018/19

£m £m £m £m

Tower Bridge tourism fees and charges 6.7 6.7 6.8 6.8

6.7 6.7 6.8 6.8

Unrestricted 

Income Funds

Page 72



48 

Bridge House Estates – Annual Report and Financial Statements 2019/20 

4. Income from investments 
 

 

 All investments are held to provide an investment return to the charity.  

 

5. Other income 

 

 

6. Expenditure on raising funds 

 

Of the total expenditure on raising funds, £14.7m (2018/19: £14.5m) relates to the 

unrestricted income fund and £0.6m (2018/19: £0.6m) to the endowment fund. 

Investment property expenses - staff costs, repairs and maintenance costs, and 

professional fees relating to the management of the investment property portfolio. 

Financial investment expenses – fees paid to fund managers. 

The expenditure relating to Tower Bridge tourism activities is now reported within 

Charitable activities, to reflect the analysis within income. These expenses were 

previously reported within Raising funds. 

 

 

 

 

 

Total 

2019/20

Unrestricted 

Income 

Funds Total 2018/19

£m £m £m £m

Investment property 34.6 34.6 31.5 31.5

Financial investments 2.5 2.5 2.8 2.8

Interest receivable 0.8 0.8 0.8 0.8

Total Investment income 37.9 37.9 35.1 35.1

Unrestricted 

Income Funds

Total 

2019/20

Unrestricted 

Income 

Funds

Total 

2018/19

£m £m £m £m

Other income 0.2 0.2 1.0 1.0

0.2 0.2 1.0 1.0

Unrestricted 

Income Funds

Direct costs

Support 

costs

Total    

2019/20

Direct 

costs

Support 

costs

Total    

2018/19

£m £m £m £m £m £m

Investment property expenses 7.2 3.0 10.2 6.7 3.5 10.2

Financial investment expenses 5.1 -   5.1 4.9 -   4.9

12.3 3.0 15.3 11.6 3.5 15.1

Page 73



49 

Bridge House Estates – Annual Report and Financial Statements 2019/20 

7. Expenditure on charitable activities 

 

Within charitable expenditure, £0.2m is within restricted expenditure (2018/19: nil). All 

other expenditure is unrestricted. 

Repair and maintenance of bridges - Staff costs, repairs and maintenance, 

insurance, equipment and materials costs relating to the Thames river bridges 

maintained by the charity. 

Tower Bridge tourism - Staff costs and other expenses related to the management 

and operation of the Tower Bridge tourist attraction. 

Grants to voluntary organisations - Grants awarded in the name of City Bridge 

Trust, the grant making arm of the charity, for purposes benefiting the inhabitants of 

Greater London. Direct costs include net grants awarded of £30.5m (2018/19: £21.3m) 

and costs of administering the grants process of £2.5m (2018/19: £2.1m). 

 

8. Grants awarded 
During the year ended 31 March 2020, grants were awarded to institutions under the 

following programmes: 

 

Grants were made to 262 organisations in the year (2018/19: 200), supporting 277 

projects (2018/19: 213). The average amount of a grant equalled £110,728 (2018/19: 

£102,962). All grantees receiving funding must work for the benefit of inhabitants of 

Greater London and have to meet stated eligibility criteria. Grants are not given directly 

to individuals. 

Direct costs

Support 

costs

Total 

2019/20

Direct 

costs

Support 

costs

Total 

2018/19

£m £m £m £m £m £m

Repair and maintenance of bridges 5.7 0.8 6.5 5.6 1.0 6.6

Tower Bridge tourism 5.2 1.0 6.2 5.5 0.9 6.4

Grants to voluntary organisations 33.0 0.7 33.7 23.4 0.7 24.1

43.9 2.5 46.4 34.5 2.6 37.1

2019/20 2018/19

£m £m

Investing in Londoners 0.4 8.2

Bridging Divides 26.4 9.2

Strategic Initiatives 2.8 3.1

Stepping Stones Fund -   0.4

CBT 20th Anniversary Grants 1.1 1.0

Grants awarded 30.7 21.9

Grant adjustments and cancellations (0.2) (0.6)

Net grants awarded 30.5 21.3

Other grant related activities 2.5 2.1

33.0 23.4

Page 74



50 

Bridge House Estates – Annual Report and Financial Statements 2019/20 

Details of all the grants approved are shown on the CBT website 

www.citybridgetrust.org.uk, within the News & events section, including organisation 

name, amount given and purpose of the award. 

Reconciliation of grants payable: 

 

Outstanding grant commitments at 31 March 2020 are payable as follows: 

 

The split of future payment dates is based upon contractual terms, which may relate 

to multi-year commitments. 

9. Other costs: net total pension scheme costs  
 

 

 

The net total pension costs charged in the Statement of Financial Activities represents 3% 

(2018/19: 2%) of the total charge in the City Corporation Pension Fund financial 

2019/20 2018/19

£m £m

Commitments at 1 April 33.9 31.9

Commitments made in the year 30.7 21.9

Grant adjustments and cancellations (0.2) (0.6)

Grants paid during the year (21.1) (19.3)

Commitments at 31 March 43.3 33.9

2019/20 2018/19

£m £m

Within one year (note 19) 23.1 20.1

After more than one year (note 20) 20.2 13.8

Commitments at 31 March 43.3 33.9

2019/20 2018/19

£m £m

Deficit at 1 April (12.4) (11.8)

Current service cost (1.6) (1.2)

Net interest (0.4) (0.3)

Employer contributions 0.9 0.6

Net total charge for the year (1.1) (0.9)

Actuarial gains 0.8 0.3

Other gains/(losses) (6.2) -   

(5.4) 0.3

Deficit at 31 March (18.9) (12.4)

Page 75

http://www.citybridgetrust.org.uk/


51 

Bridge House Estates – Annual Report and Financial Statements 2019/20 

statements. This allocation is based on the split of the employee pension contribution 

across the funds managed by the City Corporation and is reviewed annually.  

During the year, the proportion of the pension costs allocated to the charity was increased 

to 3%, which has resulted in an additional actuarial loss of £6.2m being charged. 

 

10. Net (expenditure)/income for the year 

Net (expenditure)/income is stated after charging: 

 

 

11. Support Costs 

Support costs include activities undertaken by the City Corporation on behalf of the 

charity, such as human resources, digital services, legal support, accounting services, 

committee administration, public relations and premises costs. Such costs are 

determined on a departmental basis, and are allocated on a cost recovery basis to the 

charity on the basis of resources consumed by the respective activities as follows: 

 

All support costs are undertaken from unrestricted funds. Governance costs are allocated 

on the basis of FTE staff within each activity. 

 

12. Details of staff costs 

All staff that work on behalf of the charity are employed by the City Corporation. The 

average full-time equivalent number of people directly undertaking activities on behalf 

of the charity during the year was: 

2019/20 2018/19

£ £

Auditors' remuneration for the audit of the financial statements 70,000 37,280

Additional fees incurred in 18/19 for the audit of the 17/18 financial statements -   17,000

Depreciation 328,479 281,303

Tourism

Investment 

Property Bridges Grants Governance 2019/20 2018/19

£m £m £m £m £m £m £m

Department:

Chamberlain -   0.3 0.1 -   -   0.4 0.4

Comptroller & City Solicitor 0.1 -   -   -   0.1 0.7

Town Clerk -   -   -   0.1 0.3 0.4 0.4

City Surveyor -   2.3 0.2 -   -   2.5 2.6

Built Environment -   -   0.1 -   -   0.1 0.1

Culture, Heritage & Libraries 0.3 -   -   -   -   0.3 0.2

Digital Services 0.2 0.1 0.1 0.2 -   0.6 0.6

Premises costs 0.1 -   0.1 0.1 0.3 0.3

Other 0.1 0.1 -   0.2 0.4 0.8 0.8

Sub-total 0.7 2.9 0.6 0.6 0.7 5.5 6.1

Reallocation of governance costs 0.3 0.1 0.2 0.1 (0.7) -   -   

Total Support costs 1.0 3.0 0.8 0.7 - 5.5 6.1

Page 76



52 

Bridge House Estates – Annual Report and Financial Statements 2019/20 

     

Amounts paid in respect of employees directly undertaking activities on behalf of the 

charity were as follows:   

 

 

All employees paid over £60,000 have retirement benefits accruing under the defined 

benefit scheme. 

In addition, support staff are charged to the charity on the basis described within Note 

11. The full-time equivalent number of support service staff charged is 69.0 (2018/19: 

72.0). 

 

Remuneration of Key Management Personnel 

The charity considers its key management personnel to comprise the Members of 

the City of London Corporation, acting collectively for the City Corporation in its 

capacity as the Trustee, and senior officers employed by the City of London 

Corporation to manage the activities of the charity.  These senior officers include the 

Town Clerk and Chief Executive, Chamberlain, Deputy Town Clerk, Comptroller and 

City Solicitor, City Surveyor and the Chief Grants Officer. These officers work on a 

number of the City Corporation’s activities and their salaries and associated costs 

are allocated to the activities under its control, including Bridge House Estates, on 

the basis of employee time spent on the respective services, as stated within Note 

11. 

2019/20 2018/19

Number Number

Investment properties 12 16

Tower Bridge tourism 54 54

Repair & maintenance of bridges 32 30

Grants team 27 22

125 122

2019/20 2018/19

£m £m

Salaries and wages 5.3 5.2

National Insurance costs 0.5 0.4

Employer's pension contributions 0.8 0.8

Total emoluments of employees 6.6 6.4

2019/20 2018/19

£60,000 - £69,999 5.0 5.0

£70,000 - £79,999 3.0 1.0

£80,000 - £89,999 1.0 2.0

£90,000 - £99,999 1.0 -   

£110,000 - £119,999 1.0 1.0

11.0 9.0

Page 77



53 

Bridge House Estates – Annual Report and Financial Statements 2019/20 

The proportion of senior officer employment benefits, including employer pension 

contributions and employer national insurance contributions, allocated to the charity 

amounted to £255,000 in 2019/20 (2018/19: £253,000). No Members received any 

remuneration, with directly incurred expenses reimbursed, if claimed. No expenses 

were claimed in 2019/20 from the charity (2018/19: £119). 

 

13. Tangible fixed assets 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Computers & 

other 

equipment

Fixtures & 

fittings

Leasehold 

Improvements

Total

£m £m £m £m

Cost

At 1 April 2019 0.6 2.4 4.2 7.2

Additions -   -   -   -   

Disposals -   -   -   -   

At 31 March 2020 0.6 2.4 4.2 7.2

Depreciation

At 1 April 2019 0.2 1.1 2.2 3.5

Charge for the year 0.1 0.1 0.1 0.3

Disposals -   -   -   -   

At 31 March 2020 0.3 1.2 2.3 3.8

Net book value

At 31 March 2020 0.3 1.2 1.9 3.4

At 31 March 2019 0.4 1.3 2.0 3.7

Page 78



54 

Bridge House Estates – Annual Report and Financial Statements 2019/20 

14. Investment Properties 

 

A full valuation was performed as at 31 March at market values determined in accordance 

with the RICS Valuation – Professional Standards (“the Red Book”). This was undertaken 

by C&W(UK) LLP and Savills(UK) Ltd, chartered surveyors, acting as independent 

valuers. The carrying values of investment properties are primarily dependent on 

judgements of such variables as the state of the markets, location, condition of the 

properties and various indices. Reference to the uncertainty relating to the year-end 

valuations is stated on pages 31 and 42 of this Report. 

As many of the investment properties were gifted to the charity and others were acquired 

centuries ago, it is impracticable to provide historical cost information. It has therefore 

been assumed that the historical cost is nil.  The properties are all situated in Greater 

London. 

 

15. Financial Investments 

Total financial investments as at 31 March are split as follows: 

 

2020 2019

£m £m

Market value at 1 April 739.3 766.3

Purchases 41.0 0.8

Book value of disposed assets (4.5) (83.7)

Total unrealised gains* 79.1 55.9

Market value at 31 March 854.9 739.3

* Includes rent free adjustment of £3.9m (2018/19: £3.9m).

The net gain on property investments is arrived at as follows:

2020 2019

£m £m

Total unrealised gains 79.1 55.9

Realised gain on disposal 1.1 13.7

80.2 69.6

2020 2019

£m £m

Long term investments 687.2 687.6

Short term investments:

 - short term deposits and money market funds 45.3 95.0

 - short term investments in hands of fund managers 4.1 9.3

49.4 104.3

Total market value at 31 March 736.6 791.9

Page 79



55 

Bridge House Estates – Annual Report and Financial Statements 2019/20 

 

The geographical spread of investments at 31 March was as follows: 

 

Investment powers  

The Charity Commission Order dated 20 July 1998, the Trustee Act 1925 and the 

Trustee Act 2000 enable the Trustee to invest the property of the charity either: 

• in the acquisition of any securities or property (real or personal) of any sort; or 

• on deposit or loan whether in the UK or elsewhere. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Analysis of movement in financial investments

2020 2019

£m £m

Investments held by fund managers

Market value 1 April 687.6 645.4

Additions to investments at cost 119.0 194.2

Disposals at market value (103.4) (191.1)

(Loss)/gain from change in fair value (16.0) 39.1

Investments at 31 March 687.2 687.6

Cash investments

Investments at 1 April 104.3 25.4

Movement in cash investments (54.9) 78.9

Investments at 31 March 49.4 104.3

Total investments at 31 March 736.6 791.9

Held in the UK Held outside 

the UK

Total at 31 

March 2020

Total at 31 

March 2019

£m £m £m £m

Fixed Interest 45.3 29.0 74.3 135.9

Index Linked 19.9 27.9 47.8 36.0

Pooled units 106.6 403.1 509.7 493.9

Listed equities 9.8 17.0 26.8 44.7

Managed funds 4.0 -   4.0 9.3

Private equity 2.9 23.2 26.1 26.2

Infrastructure -   47.9 47.9 45.9

188.5 548.1 736.6 791.9

Page 80



56 

Bridge House Estates – Annual Report and Financial Statements 2019/20 

16. Social Investment Fund 

 

     The geographical spread of social investments at 31 March was as follows: 

 

At the year-end £0.7m (2018/19: £0.1m) had been committed but remained undrawn, 

with £1.3m (2018/19: £2.0m) approved but subject to agreement of terms, making a total 

promised of £14.6m (2018/19: £15.3m). Details of all investments placed are shown on 

the City Bridge Trust website www.citybridgetrust.org.uk. 

 

17. Nature and extent of risks arising from Financial Instruments 

In accordance with FRS102 11.48A (f), the charity has disclosed the nature and extent of 

those risks relating to its’ financial investments. The charity’s overall risk management 

programme focuses on the unpredictability of financial markets and seeks to minimise 

potential adverse effects on the resources available to fund activities.   

 

Credit Risk - this is the potential risk that a counterparty will fail to meet its obligations in 

accordance with agreed terms. This principally arises from cash and cash equivalents, 

deposits with banks and with financial institutions. Deposits are not made with banks and 

financial institutions unless they are rated independently with a minimum score of Long-

term A, Short term F1.  The Trust also invests in Money Market Funds, which are subject 

to a minimum credit rating of AAA/mmf.  The lending list is reviewed on a regular basis 

using advice from credit rating agencies, treasury advisors and in-house judgements based 

partially on credit default swap rates. The charity’s maximum exposure to credit risk in 

relation to its investments in banks and money market funds cannot be assessed generally 

as the risk of any institution failing to make interest payments or repay the principal sum will 

be specific to each individual institution.   

Liquidity risk - this is the risk that the charity may not have sufficient funds available to meet 

its payment obligations as they fall due. The charity has no borrowing exposure and has no 

Value as at 1 

April 2019 Drawn down Repaid

Investment 

gain/(loss)

Value as at 31 

March 2020

£m £m £m £m £m

Investment Fund 2.8 -   -   -   2.8

Loan 6.5 -   (0.5) (0.5) 5.5

Bond 1.9 0.5 -   (0.4) 2.0

Property Fund 2.0 0.3 -   -   2.3

13.2 0.8 (0.5) (0.9) 12.6

Held in the UK Held outside the 

UK

Total at 31 

March 2020

Total at 31 March 

2019

£m £m £m £m

Investment Fund 2.5 0.3 2.8 2.8

Loan 5.5 -   5.5 6.5

Bond 2.0 -   2.0 1.9

Property Fund 2.3 -   2.3 2.0

12.3 0.3 12.6 13.2

Page 81

http://www.citybridgetrust.org.uk/


57 

Bridge House Estates – Annual Report and Financial Statements 2019/20 

plans to borrow to finance future expenditure.  Operations are financed by realising 

investments as necessary to meet both current and future forecast cash requirements.  

Market risk – this covers the possibility that financial loss might arise as a result of changes 

in such measures as interest rates and stock market movements. Price risk is the risk of a 

decline in the value of a security or a portfolio.  The charity minimises price risk through a 

strategy of diversification by holding a geographical spread of investments in the UK and 

overseas markets. 

 

The potential percentage allowance for changes in asset values are within a one-standard 

deviation tolerance. Taking these changes, the potential increase/decrease in the market 

prices of the fund’s assets have been derived, and provide a range of possible net asset 

values which would be available to meet the fund’s liabilities. 

 

The percentage change for equities includes a grouping of listed and private equities and 

the equity funds categorised elsewhere as pooled unit trusts.  The percentage change for 

bonds includes a grouping of government and corporate fixed interest securities.  Separate 

consideration of the individual asset types is not available. 

Foreign Currency Risk – this risk exists when a financial transaction or asset/liability is 

denominated in a currency other than that of the base currency of the charity. The risk is 

that a movement in the exchange rate may cause a foreign currency investment value to 

either decrease or increase when the investment is sold and converted back into the base 

currency.  

The following table shows the illustrative effect on the charity’s asset values that would 

result from movements in exchange rates. 

 

Potential market movements 2019/20

Asset type % Change

Global Equities - Developed Markets (incl UK) 17.4%

Global Equities - Emerging Markets 29.1%

Global Bonds 4.0%

Multi-Asset 7.3%

Private Equity 25.8%

Infrastructure 15.0%

Asset type Value Change Value on 

increase

Value on 

decrease

£m % £m £m

Global Equities - Developed Markets (incl UK) 276.3 17.4% 324.4 228.2

Global Equities - Emerging Markets 12.2 29.1% 15.8 8.6

Global Bonds 29.0 4.0% 30.2 27.8

Multi-Asset 299.8 7.3% 321.7 277.9

Private Equity 26.1 25.8% 32.8 19.4

Infrastructure 47.9 15.0% 55.1 40.7

Total 691.3 779.9 602.7

UK Cash 45.3 0.0% 45.3 45.3

Total financial investments 736.6 825.2 648.0

Page 82



58 

Bridge House Estates – Annual Report and Financial Statements 2019/20 

 

 

18. Debtors  

 

Debtors include £3.9m balances which are due after more than one year (2018/19: 

£3.7m)  

 
19. Creditors – amounts falling due within one year 

 

Deferred income relates to property rental income and lease premiums received in 

advance.  

 

 

Currency Baskets Value Change Value on 

increase

Value on 

decrease

£m % £m £m

GBP 362.4 0.00% 362.4 362.4

EUR 212.8 2.67% 218.5 207.1

USD 64.0 2.65% 65.7 62.3

Other 97.4 3.47% 100.8 94.0

Total financial investments 736.6 747.4 725.8

2020 2019

£m £m

Trade debtors 2.3 1.6

Rental debtors 2.9 4.0

Prepayments & accrued income 6.4 6.4

11.6 12.0

2020 2019

£m £m

Grants payable (note 8) 23.1 20.1

Trade creditors 1.9 2.0

Accruals 1.6 1.1

Deferred income 6.3 5.8

Rent deposits 4.9 5.2

Other creditors 0.1 0.4

37.9 34.6

2020 2019

Deferred income analysis within creditors: £m £m

Balance at 1 April 5.8 5.7

Amounts released to income (5.8) (5.7)

Amounts deferred in the year 6.3 5.8

Balance at 31 March 6.3 5.8

Page 83



59 

Bridge House Estates – Annual Report and Financial Statements 2019/20 

20. Creditors – amounts due after more than one year 

 

 

 

Deferred income includes lease premiums that will be released over periods of up to 165 
years. 

 

21. Pensions 

City of London Corporation defined benefit pension scheme 

The City Corporation operates a funded defined benefit pension scheme, The City of 

London Pension Fund, for its staff employed on activities relating predominantly to the three 

principal funds for which it is responsible (City Fund, City’s Cash and Bridge House 

Estates).  

The assets of the scheme are held in a specific trust separately from those of the 

Corporation and contributions are paid to the scheme as agreed with the scheme’s 

Trustees. As the proportion of the Pension Fund that relates to Bridge House Estates is not 

separately identifiable, the share of pension contributions paid to the scheme by the charity 

is calculated pro-rata to employer’s contributions paid by each of the City Corporation 

contributors to the scheme.  

Accounting for the defined benefit scheme under IAS19 

The full actuarial valuation of the defined benefit scheme was updated to 31 March 2019 

by an independent qualified actuary in accordance with IAS19. As required by IAS19, the 

defined benefit liabilities have been measured using the projected unit method. The 

valuation has been completed under IFRS, in line with the City Fund requirements, rather 

than under FRS102, with no material differences between the two accounting standards 

identified. 

The returns on gilts and other bonds are assumed to be the gilt yield and corporate bond 

yield respectively at the relevant date. The return on equities is then assumed to be a margin 

above gilt yields.  

2020 2019

£m £m

Grants payable (note 8) 20.2 13.8

Deferred income 11.9 10.3

Other creditors 1.8 -   

33.9 24.1

2020 2019

Deferred income - due after more than one year: £m £m

Balance at 1 April 10.3 10.4

Amounts transferred to less than one year (0.1) (0.1)

Amounts deferred in the year 1.7 -   

Balance at 31 March 11.9 10.3

Page 84



60 

Bridge House Estates – Annual Report and Financial Statements 2019/20 

The estimated amount of total employer contributions expected to be paid to the scheme 

by the charity during 2020/21 is £914,000 (2019/20 actual: £567,000). This figure is 

calculated pro-rata to total contributions that will be payable by the City Corporation in 

accordance with the Schedule of Contributions towards the scheme’s deficit. 

a) Major assumptions by the actuary 

Financial 

The financial assumptions used for the purposes of the FRS102 calculations are as 

follows: 

 

Life expectancy 

The assumed life expectations from age 65 are: 

 

The table reflects the change in the mortality tables used for the 31 March 2018 

valuation and allowance is made for future improvements in life expectancy.  

Sensitivity analysis 

The sensitivity of the liabilities to changes in the key assumptions used to measure the 

Pension Scheme’s liabilities is shown in the table below: 

 

b) Amounts included in the balance sheet 

The amounts included in the charity’s balance sheet arising from the City Corporation 

pension scheme’s liabilities in respect of the defined benefit scheme for the current and 

previous two periods are as follows: 

Assumptions as at: 2020 2019 2018

% p.a. % p.a. % p.a.

RPI increases 2.7 3.4 3.3

CPI increases 1.9 2.4 2.3

Salary increases 2.9 3.9 3.8

Pension increases 1.9 2.4 2.3

Discount rate 2.35 2.4 2.6

Life expectancy from age 65 (years) 2020 2019

Age 65 retiring today Males 21.8 23.2

Females 24.4 24.6

Retiring in 20 years Males 23.2 24.5

Females 25.8 26.1

Sensitivity analysis Change to 

assumptions Increase Decrease

% £m £m

Salary increases +/- 0.1 0.1 (0.1)

Life expectancy +/- 0.1 1.9 (1.8)

Discount rate +/- 0.1 (0.9) 1.0

Impact on liabilities

Page 85



61 

Bridge House Estates – Annual Report and Financial Statements 2019/20 

 

The net pension fund liability represents 3% (2018/19: 2%) of the total net balance 

sheet liability in the City Corporation Pension Fund financial statements.  

c) Amounts included in the Statement of Financial Activities 

The amounts included within total expenditure in relation to the defined benefit scheme 

are as follows: 

 

The total pension costs charged in the Statement of Financial Activities (as adjusted for 

current service cost and employer’s contributions) represents 3% (2018/19: 2%) of the 

total charge in the City Corporation Pension Fund financial statements.   

d) Asset allocation 

The current allocation of the scheme’s assets is as follows: 

 

The charity’s share of pension scheme assets at 31 March 2020 represents 3% 

(2018/19: 2%) of the total pension scheme assets of the City Corporation Pension 

Fund. 

 

e) Movement in the present value of scheme liabilities 

Changes in the present value of the scheme liabilities over the year are as follows: 

2020 2019 2018

£m £m £m

Fair value of assets (bid value) 28.3 19.4 18.0

Fair value of liabilities 47.2 31.8 29.8

Net liability in balance sheet 18.9 12.4 11.8

2020 2019

£m £m

Current service cost 1.6 0.9

Past service cost -   0.3

Interest cost 0.4 0.3

Contributions (0.9) (0.6)

Total expense 1.1 0.9 

Employer asset share - bid value

£m % p.a. £m % p.a.

Equity Investments 16.8 60 13.0 67

Cash 0.5 2 0.2 1

Infrastructure 3.5 12 1.1 6

Absolute Return Portfolio 7.5 26 5.1 26

Total assets 28.3 100 19.4 100

2020 2019

Page 86



62 

Bridge House Estates – Annual Report and Financial Statements 2019/20 

 

The charity’s share of the closing value of the pension scheme liabilities represents 3% 

(2018/19: 2%) of the total closing value of the pension scheme liabilities of the City 

Corporation Pension Fund. 

f) Movement in the scheme net liability 

The net movement in the scheme liabilities over the year are as follows: 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

2020 2019

£m £m

(Deficit) at beginning of the year (31.8) (29.8)

Current service cost (1.6) (0.9)

Interest Cost (1.1) (0.8)

Remeasurement gains/losses:

Actuarial gains/losses arising from changes in 

demographic assumptions 0.3 0.8

Actuarial gains/losses arising from changes in 

financial assumptions 4.5 (1.4)

Other actuarial (losses)/gains (2.4) -   

Other (losses)/gains (16.0) -   

Past service cost, including curtailments -   (0.3)

Liabilities extinguished on settlements 0.1 -   

Benefits paid 1.1 0.8

Contributions from scheme participants (0.3) (0.2)

Unfunded pension payments -   -   

(Deficit) at the end of the year (47.2) (31.8)

2020 2019

£m £m

(Deficit) at beginning of the year (12.4) (11.8)

Current service cost (1.6) (0.9)

Net interest (0.4) (0.3)

Employer contributions 0.9 0.6

Past service cost -   (0.3)

Actuarial gains/(losses) 0.8 0.3

Other (losses)/gains (6.2) -   

(Deficit) at the end of the year (18.9) (12.4)

Page 87



63 

Bridge House Estates – Annual Report and Financial Statements 2019/20 

g) Movement in the present value of scheme assets 

Changes in the fair value of the scheme assets over the year are as follows: 

 

 

h) Projected pension expense for the year to 31 March 2021 

No allowance has been made for the costs of any early retirements or augmentations 

which may occur over the year and whose additional capitalised costs would be 

included in the liabilities. As it is only an estimate, actual experience over the year may 

differ. No balance sheet projections have been provided on the basis that they will 

depend upon market conditions and the asset value of the scheme at the end of the 

following year. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

2020 2019

£m £m

As at 1 April 19.4 18.0

Interest on assets 0.7 0.5

Remeasurement gains/losses:

Return on assets less interest (1.6) 0.9

Other gains/losses 9.7 -   

Administration expenses -   -   

Contributions by employer including unfunded 0.9 0.6

Contributions by scheme participants 0.3 0.2

Estimated benefits paid net of transfers in and 

including unfunded (1.1) (0.8)

Closing value of scheme assets 28.3 19.4

Year to Year to

31/03/2021 31/03/2020

£m £m

Service cost 1.5 1.0

Interest cost 0.4 0.3

Total expense 1.9 1.3

Employer contribution 0.9 0.5

Page 88



64 

Bridge House Estates – Annual Report and Financial Statements 2019/20 

22. Analysis of net assets between funds 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

At 31 March 2020 Restricted 

Funds

Endowment 

Funds

General 

Funds

Designated 

Funds

Restricted 

Funds

Endowment 

Funds

Total at 31 

March 2020

Total at 31 

March 2019
 

£m £m £m £m £m £m

Fixed Assets - Investment properties -                 -                 - 854.9 854.9 739.3

Fixed Assets - Financial investments 171.9 428.1 - 87.2 687.2 687.6

Other fixed assets 3.4 12.6 - -                     16.0 16.9

Current assets & liabilities (13.8) -                 2.8 42.1 31.1 87.4

Long-term liabilities (33.9) -                 - -                     (33.9) (24.1)

Pension liability (18.9) -                 - -                     (18.9) (12.4)

108.7 440.7 2.8 984.2 1,536.4 1,494.7

Unrestricted Income 

Funds

At 31 March 2019 Restricted 

Funds

Endowment 

Funds
General 

Funds

Designated 

Funds

Restricted 

Funds

Endowment 

Funds

Total at 31 

March 2019

Total at 31 

March 2018
 

£m £m £m £m £m £m

Fixed Assets - Investment properties -                 -                 -                  739.3 739.3 766.3

Fixed Assets - Financial investments 427.3 170.3 -                  90.0 687.6 645.4

Other fixed assets 3.7 13.2 -                  -                     16.9 12.2

Current assets & liabilities 9.0 -                 0.2 78.2 87.4 5.7

Long-term liabilities (24.1) -                 -                  -                     (24.1) (22.0)

Pension liability (12.4) -                 -                  -                     (12.4) (11.8)

403.5 183.5 0.2 907.5 1,494.7 1,395.8

Unrestricted Income 

Funds

Page 89



65 

Bridge House Estates – Annual Report and Financial Statements 2019/20 

23. Movement in funds 

 

 

 

 

 

At 31 March 2020

Total as at 1 

April 2019 Income Expenditure

Gains & 

losses Transfers

Total as at 

31 March 

2020

£m £m £m £m £m £m

Endowment Funds 907.5 -   (0.6) 77.3 -   984.2

Total Endowment Funds 907.5 -   (0.6) 77.3 -   984.2

Restricted Funds 0.2 1.8 (0.2) -   1.0 2.8

Total Restricted Funds 0.2 1.8 (0.2) -   1.0 2.8

General Funds 415.9 44.3 (23.9) (13.1) (295.6) 127.6

Pension Reserve (12.4) -   (1.1) (5.4) -   (18.9)

Total General Funds 403.5 44.3 (25.0) (18.5) (295.6) 108.7

Property Dilapidations 0.6 0.1 (0.3) -   -   0.4

Service Charges 0.5 -   (0.5) -   -   -   

Bridges Repairs 34.0 -   (5.7) -   13.4 41.7

Bridges Replacement 104.6 -   -   -   53.9 158.5

Grant-making 22.4 -   (30.5) -   227.3 219.2

Social Investment Fund 21.4 0.4 -   (0.9) -   20.9

Total Designated Funds 183.5 0.5 (37.0) (0.9) 294.6 440.7

Total Unrestricted 

Income Funds 587.0 44.8 (62.0) (19.4) (1.0) 549.4

Total Funds 1,494.7 46.6 (62.8) 57.9 -   1,536.4

At 31 March 2019

Total as at 1 

April 2018 Income Expenditure

Gains & 

losses Transfers

Total as at 

31 March 

2019

£m £m £m £m £m £m

Endowment Funds 831.6 -   (0.6) 76.5 -   907.5

Total Endowment Funds 831.6 -   (0.6) 76.5 -   907.5

Restricted Funds -   0.2 -   -   -   0.2

Total Restricted Funds -   0.2 -                     -   -   0.2

General Funds 386.2 42.2 (23.9) 32.2 (20.8) 415.9

Pension Reserve (11.8) -   (0.9) 0.3 -   (12.4)

Total General Funds 374.4 42.2 (24.8) 32.5 (20.8) 403.5

Property Dilapidations 1.1 0.3 (0.8) -   -   0.6

Service Charges 0.5 -   -   -   -   0.5

Bridges Repairs 19.9 -   (5.6) -   19.7 34.0

Bridges Replacement 123.5 -   -   -   (18.9) 104.6

Grant-making 23.7 -   (21.3) -   20.0 22.4

Social Investment Fund 21.1 0.4 -   (0.1) -   21.4

Total Designated Funds 189.8 0.7 (27.7) (0.1) 20.8 183.5

Total Unrestricted 

Income Funds 564.2 42.9 (52.5) 32.4 -   587.0

Total Funds 1,395.8 43.1 (53.1) 108.9 -   1,494.7

Page 90



66 

Bridge House Estates – Annual Report and Financial Statements 2019/20 

Purpose of the endowment fund 

The permanent endowment fund is held in perpetuity as a capital fund to generate income 

for the activities of the charity. Any income arising from this capital is accounted for within 

unrestricted funds. Further detail of the origins of this fund is stated on page 4. 

Purposes of restricted funds 

London Community Response Fund (LCRF) – established in response to the Covid-19 

health pandemic to establish a collective response with other funders to support 

London’s civil society in furtherance of the Bridge House Estates funding policy, ‘Bridging 

Divides’. 

Purposes of designated funds 

Designated funds have been set aside by the Trustee for the following purposes: 

Property Dilapidations  represents funds not yet utilised as received from tenants at 

the end of a lease to enable the property to be brought back to 

the required condition. 

Service charges represents service charges received from tenants to enable 

major cyclical works to be financed. 

Bridges Repairs represents funds required to maintain the bridges for the next 

5 years. 

Bridges Replacement represents funds set aside to fund the future rebuild of the 

bridges. This is based on the present value of estimated future 

costs, adjusted for increases in construction costs. 

Grant-making represents surplus income which has been designated for 

future grant-making activities in the name of City Bridge Trust. 

Social Investment Fund to finance investments that generate a financial return, 

alongside an associated social return, consistent with the 

agreed investment policy. 

The charity also maintains a Pension Reserve Fund, representing the net liability owed. 

Transfers between funds 

A transfer of £1m was made in the year from the grant-making designated fund to the 

LCRF restricted fund to support the response to the Covid-19 pandemic. 

Transfers are made to and from unrestricted income funds in order to maintain designated 

funds at the required levels. 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 91



67 

Bridge House Estates – Annual Report and Financial Statements 2019/20 

24. Note to the statement of cash flows 

Reconciliation of net income to net cash outflow from operating activities. 

 

 

 

25. Analysis of changes in net debt/cash and cash equivalents 

 

  

26. Commitments 

The following commitments exist as at 31 March in respect of future accounting periods: 

 

2019/20 2018/19

£m £m

Net income for the reporting period (as per the 

statement of financial activities) 47.1 98.6

Adjustments for:

Interest and income from investments (2.6) (3.5)

Depreciation charges 0.3 0.3

Losses/(gains) on financial investments 16.0 (39.1)

Gains on property investments (80.2) (69.6)

Losses on social investments 0.9 0.1

Increase in stock (0.1) -   

Decrease in debtors 0.4 3.1

Increase/(decrease) in creditors falling due within one year 3.3 (1.1)

Increase in long term creditors 9.8 2.1

Net pension scheme costs 1.1 0.9

Net cash (used in) operating activities (4.0) (8.2)

Total as at 

1 April 

2019

Cash 

flows

Other non-

cash 

changes

Total as at 

31 March 

2020

 

£m £m £m £m

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash 5.5 6.2 (4.0) 7.7

Total 5.5 6.2 (4.0) 7.7

2020 2019

£m £m

Capital works authorised 10.2 -   

Investment properties 2.8 -   

13.0 -   

Page 92



68 

Bridge House Estates – Annual Report and Financial Statements 2019/20 

The capital works relate to a refurbishment of an investment property which is expected 

to be completed in 2020. The property purchase is for a long leasehold interest in an 

existing investment property, with completion taking place in August 2020. 

 

27. Related parties 

The City Corporation is the sole Trustee of the charity, as described on page 6. The City 

Corporation provides various services to the charity, the costs of which are recharged to 

the charity. This includes the provision of banking services, charging all transactions to the 

charity at cost and crediting or charging interest at a commercial rate. The cost of these 

services is included within expenditure, as set out in Note 11. 

The charity is required to disclose information on related party transactions with bodies or 

individuals that control or have significant influence over the charity. Members are required 

to disclose their interests, and these can be viewed online at www.cityoflondon.gov.uk. 

Members and Senior Staff are requested to disclose all related party transactions, 

including instances where their close family has made such transactions. The charity has 

decided to disclose all instances whereby a Member or officer has a connection with a 

charity which is a grantee of BHE to provide full transparency. 

Figures in brackets represent the amounts due at the balance sheet date. Other figures 

represent the value of the transactions during the year. 

Related party Connected 
party 

2019/20 
£000 

2018/19 
£000 

Detail of transaction 

London Funders 
(LF) 

An Officer of 
CoL is a Trustee 
of LF 

300 
(338) 

 
3 

(-) 

- 
(213) 

 
2 

(-) 

LF received grant 
funding from CBT 
 
The charity paid a 
membership fee to LF 

Age UK London 
(AUL) 

A Member 
represents the 
City Corporation 
on AUL 

- 
(-) 

 - 
(24) 

AUL received grant 
funding from CBT 

Trust for London 
(TL) 

The City 
Corporation 
nominates 4 
Members to TL 

400 
(770) 

 
294 
(12) 

300 
(370) 

 
- 

TL received grant 
funding from CBT 
 
TL paid rent, service 
charges & insurance 

Blind in 
Business (BiB) 

A Member of 
CoL is a Trustee 
of BiB 

- 
(32) 

 
- 

(-) 

84 
(63) 

 
13 
(-) 

BiB received grant 
funding from CBT 
 
BiB paid rent & service 
charges to the Charity 

Partnership for 
Young London 
(PYL) 

A Member of 
CoL is a Trustee 
of PYL 

138 
(203) 

305 
(247) 

PYL received grant 
funding from CBT 

Cripplegate 
Foundation, 

Two Members of 
CoL are 

95 
(95) 

  25 
(48) 

CF received grant 
funding from CBT 

Page 93



69 

Bridge House Estates – Annual Report and Financial Statements 2019/20 

incorporating 
Islington Giving 
(CF) 

Trustees of CF, 
alongside the 
husband of a 
Member 

UBS A Member of 
CoL is an 
employee of 
UBS 

- 
(-) 

40 
(-) 

CBT received funding 
from UBS 

Heart of the City 
(HoTC) 

An Officer of 
CoL was a 
Trustee of HoTC 
during the year. 
Three Members 
of CoL are 
Council 
Members of 
HoTC 

- 
(309) 

- 
(404) 

HoTC received grant 
funding from CBT 

Michael Hudson 
(MH) 
 

A Member held 
a lease at a 
property of the 
charity 

- 
(-) 

6 
(-) 

MH paid rent & service 
charges to the Charity 

London & 
Partners Ltd 
(L&P) 
 

A Member is a 
Director of L&P 

- 
(-) 

1 
(-) 

The charity paid for a 
membership fee to 
L&P 

Thames 
Festival Trust 
(TFT) 
 

A Member 
represents CoL 
on TFT 

32 
(-) 

5 
(-) 

TFT paid for services 
provided at Tower 
Bridge 

Guild of 
Freemen of the 
City of London 
(GF)  

A Member is a 
Trustee of GF 

22 
(-) 

9 
(7) 

GF paid rent, service 
charges & insurance 
to the Charity 

The Court of the 
City University 
(CCU) 

Four Members 
represent CoL 
on CCU 

2 
(-) 

- 
(-) 

The Charity paid a 
membership fee to 
CCU 

Museum of 
London 
Archaeology 
(MOLA) 

Two Members 
are 
Directors/Truste
es of MOLA 

82 
(51) 

- 
(-) 

MOLA received grant 
funding from CBT 

Lord Mayor’s 
Show Ltd (LM) 

A Member is a 
Director of LM 

7 
(-) 

- 
- 

The Charity paid an 
entrance fee 

 

The Members and Officers noted above did not participate in the discussions or decision 

making relating to the award of the grants. 

Related Party Transactions with the City Fund (the City Fund is held by the City 

Corporation in respect of its activities as a local authority, police authority and port health 

authority): 

Page 94



70 

Bridge House Estates – Annual Report and Financial Statements 2019/20 

During 2019/20 there were no significant transactions between BHE and City Fund 

(2018/19: BHE contributed £114k to the ‘Ring of Steel’ security infrastructure project).  

Related Party Transactions with City’s Cash (City’s Cash is held by the City Corporation 

and finances activities mainly for the benefit of London as a whole but also of relevance 

nationwide): 

City’s Cash holds a lease with BHE for the rental of a property. Rental income of £23.6k 

was received in the year (2018/19: £26.5k). The balance owed to BHE at year-end was 

£2.8k (18/19: £16.4k). 

 

28. Subsequent events 

There are risks to Bridge House Estates following the departure of the UK from the EU on 

31 January 2020 and as we now move through the transition period which ceases on 31 

December 2020. In particular, the future levels of demand for office accommodation in the 

City and surrounding areas and the consequential impacts on rental incomes are being 

considered. A close watching brief continues to be kept on this and other implications that 

may arise during the transition period. Financial forecasts will be refreshed once the new 

rules which will come into place from 1 January 2021 are known. 

 

In August 2020, the charity completed the purchase of the long leasehold interest of a 

property on Engate Street, SE13 for which it already held the freehold. The amount paid 

was £2.75m. This purchase was in line with the future plans for the property investment 

portfolio, as stated on page 24. 

 

Within the investment portfolios held by BHE, post year-end impacts have been as follows: 

Investment Properties - The Covid-19 lockdown has impacted certain tenants’ ability to 

pay their rental commitments due to a lack of trade (specifically retail, food & beverage, 

leisure and serviced office operators). The charity is working with its tenants to ensure it 

comes out of the pandemic with a strong tenanted and income producing portfolio as 

possible through a combination of rent deferrals and rent-free periods. Rental income is 

expected to fall in the short term but the charity is confident that given the underlying 

quality and location of the portfolio, together with the diversity both in use and lease type, 

that it is well placed and protected to deal with the economic consequences of the 

pandemic. 

Financial investments – Since the year-end, financial markets have rallied, erasing much 

of the damage inflicted on the values of financial assets in the first three months of 2020. 

So far in 2020/21, the charity’s financial investment portfolio has recovered substantially 

in value and external financial investments (excluding short term cash held internally) are 

estimated to be worth £770m as at 30 June 2020. Volatility measures remain elevated 

and the uncertainty surrounding the ultimate impact of the pandemic on the global and 

domestic economy means that valuations could be subject to further fluctuations in the 

near and medium term. The charity will manage this risk environment by continuing to 

Page 95



71 

Bridge House Estates – Annual Report and Financial Statements 2019/20 

employ an investment strategy that targets returns from a diverse array of asset classes 

and investment management styles. 

 

 

  

Page 96



72 

Bridge House Estates – Annual Report and Financial Statements 2019/20 

Reference and Administration details  

Bridge House Estates 

Registered charity number 1035628 

The grant-making and other charitable activity of the charity operates under the name 

City Bridge Trust. 

 

Principal office 

Guildhall, London, EC2P 2EJ 

 

Trustee 

The Mayor and Commonalty & Citizens of the City of London 

 

Senior management: 

Chief Executive John Barradell OBE - The Town Clerk and Chief Executive of the 

City of London Corporation 

Treasurer Dr Peter Kane - The Chamberlain of the City of London Corporation 

Solicitor Michael Cogher - The Comptroller and City Solicitor of the City of 

London Corporation 

Surveyor Paul Wilkinson – City Surveyor 

Grants David Farnsworth – Chief Grants Officer and Director of City Bridge 

Trust 

Auditors 

BDO LLP, 55 Baker Street, London, W1U 7EU 

Bankers 

Lloyds Bank Plc., P.O. Box 72, Bailey Drive, Gillingham Business Park, Kent ME8 0LS 

Financial investment advisors 

Mercer, Quartermile One, 15 Lauriston Place, Edinburgh, EH3 9EP 

 

Contact for The Chamberlain, to request copies of governance documents - PA-

DeputyChamberlain@cityoflondon.gov.uk  

Page 97

mailto:PA-DeputyChamberlain@cityoflondon.gov.uk
mailto:PA-DeputyChamberlain@cityoflondon.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank

Page 98



Report to the Audit and Risk Management Committee

BRIDGE HOUSE ESTATES
Audit Completion: year ended 31 March 2020

P
age 99



CONTENTS

1 Introduction 3

Welcome 3

2 Executive summary 4

Overview 4

The numbers 5

Other matters 6

3 Audit risks 7

Overview – Significant Risks 7

Management override of controls 8

Fraud in income recognition 9

Fraud in income recognition (Continued) 10

Investment Property Valuation 11

Investment Property Valuation (Continued) 12

Overview 13

Investment Valuations 14

Investment Valuations (continued) 15

Related Party Transactions 16

Going Concern – Impact of Covid-19 17

Estimates 18

Matters requiring additional consideration 19

Overview: audit differences and disclosures 20

Adjusted audit differences: Summary 21

Adjusted audit differences: Detail 22

Adjusted disclosure omissions and improvements 23

additional matters 24

Control environment: Observations noted 25

Control environment: Follow up of prior year deficiencies 26

4 Audit Report 27

Audit report overview 27

5 Independence 28

Independence 28

Fees 29

Outstanding matters 30

6 Appendices contents 31

7 Looking Forwards contents 42

P
age 100



3 | BDO LLPBridge House Estates audit completion report for the year ended 31 March 2020

We have pleasure in presenting our Audit Completion Report to the Audit 

Committee and Risk Management Committee (the “Committee”). This report 

is an integral part of our communication strategy with you, a strategy which 

is designed to ensure effective two way communication throughout the audit 

process with those charged with governance. 

It summarises the results of completing the planned audit approach for 

the year ended 31 March 2020, specific audit findings and areas requiring 

further discussion and/or the attention of the Committee. At the completion 

stage of the audit it is essential that we engage with the Committee on the 

results of audit work on key risk areas, including significant estimates and 

judgements made by Management, critical accounting policies, any 

significant deficiencies in internal controls, and the presentation and 

disclosure in the financial statements.

We look forward to discussing these matters with you at the Audit 

Committee meeting on 1 October 2020, and to receiving your input.

In the meantime if you would like to discuss any aspects in advance of the 

meeting we would be happy to do so. 

This report contains matters which should properly be considered by 

the Board as a whole. We expect that the Committee will refer such matters 

to the Board, together with any recommendations, as it considers 

appropriate.

We would also like to take this opportunity to thank the Management and 

staff of the Charity for the co-operation and assistance provided during the 

audit.

Fiona Condron

18 September 2020

WELCOME

Fiona Condron

Partner

t: +44(0)1293 591 102

m: +44(0)7979 706 565

e: fiona.condron@bdo.co.uk

INTRODUCTION

The contents of this report relate only to those matters which came to our attention during the conduct of our normal audit procedures which are designed primarily for the purpose of expressing our 

opinion on the financial statements. This report has been prepared solely for the use of the Audit Committee and Those Charged with Governance and should not be shown to any other person without 

our express permission in writing. In preparing this report we do not accept or assume responsibility for any other purpose or to any other person. For more information on our respective responsibilities 

please see the appendices.

Peter Lewis

Senior Audit Manager

t: +44(0)1293 848 969

m: +44(0)7800 682 390

E: peter.lewis@bdo.co.uk

James Hay

Audit Manager

t: +44(0)207 893 2934

m: +44(0)7855 517 028

E: james.hay@bdo.co.uk

Grace Emson

Assistant Manager

t: +44(0)1293 541 422

m: +44(0)7583 687 232

E: grace.emson@bdo.co.uk

Contents

Introduction

Welcome

Executive summary

Audit risks

Audit Report

Independence

Appendices contents

P
age 101



4 | BDO LLPBridge House Estates audit completion report for the year ended 31 March 2020

OVERVIEW
Executive summary

This summary provides an overview 

of the audit matters that we believe 

are important to the Committee in 

reviewing the results of the audit of 

the financial statements for the 

Charity for the year ended 31 March 

2020. 

It is also intended to promote 

effective communication and 

discussion and to ensure that the 

results of the audit appropriately 

incorporate input from those 

charged with governance.

Overview

Our audit work is substantially 

complete and subject to the 

successful resolution of outstanding 

matters we anticipate issuing an 

unmodified audit opinion on the 

Charity’s financial statements for 

the year ended 31 March 2020 in line 

with the agreed timetable as set out 

on page 27.

However whilst our opinion is not 

qualified, the enhanced  disclosures 

relating to areas of estimation and 

uncertainty pertaining to the 

valuation of investment properties 

has resulted in a reference in our 

audit opinion as an “Emphasis of 

Matter” given the potential impact 

on the financial statements.

Outstanding matters are listed on 

page 30 in the appendices.

There were no significant changes to 

the planned audit approach however 

due to the impact of COVID-19, we 

have raised an additional risk over 

going concern. No other additional 

significant audit risks have been 

identified.

No restrictions were placed on 

our work.

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

Contents

Introduction

Executive summary

Overview

The numbers 

Other matters

Audit risks

Audit Report

Independence

Appendices contents

P
age 102



5 | BDO LLPBridge House Estates audit completion report for the year ended 31 March 2020

THE NUMBERS 
Executive summary

Final Materiality

Financial Statement Materiality was 

determined based upon 1% of total 

assets and Specific Materiality was 

determined based upon 2% of Total 

income

There were no changes to final 

materiality and triviality from that 

reported in our planning report 

other than being updated for the 

actual results for the year ended 31 

March 2020.

Unadjusted audit differences 

We have not identified any 

unadjusted audit differences. 

Details of adjusted differences can 

be found on page 20.

Audit scope

Our approach was designed to 

ensure we obtained the required 

level of assurance across the 

components of the group in 

accordance with ISA (UK) 600 

(Audits of Group Financial 

Statements). This objective 

has been achieved.

Financial 

Statement Materiality

£32.5m

Clearly Trivial

£650k

0%

Unadjusted differences vs. materiality

Contents

Introduction

Executive summary

Overview

The numbers 

Other matters

Audit risks

Audit Report

Independence

Appendices contents

Specific Materiality

£2.3m

Specific Clearly Trivial

£46k

P
age 103



6 | BDO LLPBridge House Estates audit completion report for the year ended 31 March 2020

OTHER MATTERS
Executive summary

Financial reporting

• We have not identified any non-

compliance with accounting 

policies or applicable accounting 

framework.

• No significant accounting policy 

changes have been identified 

impacting the current year.

• The draft Trustee’s Report has 

been reviewed and the resulting 

comments have been considered 

by the management team and 

incorporated into subsequent 

drafts. Comments on significant 

disclosures are considered on 

page 23 of this report.

Other matters that require 

discussion or confirmation

• Confirmation on fraud, 

contingent liabilities and 

subsequent events.

• Letter of Representation (see 

page 37).

• Completion of post balance sheet 

event review up to point of 

signing the financial statements.

Independence 

• We confirm that the firm and it’s 

partners and staff involved in the 

audit remain independent of the 

Charity in accordance with the 

FRC's Ethical Standard.

Contents

Introduction

Executive summary

Overview

The numbers 

Other matters

Audit risks

Audit Report

Independence

Appendices contents

P
age 104



7 | BDO LLPBridge House Estates audit completion report for the year ended 31 March 2020

As identified in our audit planning report dated 17 March 2020, we assessed the following matters as being the most significant risks of material 

misstatement in the financial statements. These include those risks which had the greatest effect on: the overall audit strategy; the allocation of resources 

in the audit and the directing of the efforts of the engagement team.

Areas requiring your attention

AUDIT RISKS OVERVIEW – SIGNIFICANT RISKS

Significant 

Audit Risk

Significant 

Management 

Judgement 

Involved

Use of Experts 

Required

Error 

Identified

Control Findings to 

be reported in 

Completion report

Specific 

Letter of 

Representation 

Point

Discussion points 

for Audit 

Committee

1. Management 

Override of Controls
Yes No No No No No

2. Fraud in income 

recognition
Yes No Yes No Yes No

3. Investment

Property Valuation
Yes Yes No No Yes Yes – Material 

Uncertainty

Contents

Introduction

Executive summary

Audit risks

Overview – Significant Risks

Management override of controls

Fraud in income recognition

Fraud in income recognition

(Cont’d)

Investment Property Valuation

Investment Property Valuation 

(Continued)

Overview

Investment Valuations

Investment Valuations 

(continued)

Related Party Transactions

Going Concern – Impact of Covid-

19

Estimates

Matters requiring additional 

consideration 

Overview: audit differences and 

disclosures

Adjusted audit differences: 

Summary

Adjusted audit differences: Detail

Adjusted disclosure omissions and 

improvements

Additional matters

Control environment: 

Observations noted

Control environment: Follow up 

of prior year deficiencies

Audit Report

Independence

Appendices contents

P
age 105



8 | BDO LLPBridge House Estates audit completion report for the year ended 31 March 2020

Risk description

ISA (UK) 240 - The auditor’s responsibilities relating to 

fraud in an audit of financial statements requires us to 

presume that the risk of management override of 

controls is present and significant in all entities.

Details

• We have worked closely with our IT team to gain an 

understanding of the financial systems in place and 

assess controls for potential scope for management 

override including the use of automated journals 

and administrator access accounts.

• We have used data analytics tools to inspect 

journals processed throughout the year and as part 

of the financial reporting closing process for any 

unusual transactions. 

• We have also conducted a specific review of 

journals posted during the work-from-home period 

at the end of March, as well as journals posted by 

admin users.

• We have assessed and corroborated significant 

management estimates and judgements in following 

key areas:

– Allocation of costs

– Valuation of investment properties and financial 

investments – see page 11 for further detail

– Estimation and allocation of the pension scheme 

liability

– Going concern assumptions – see page 17 for 

further detail

ISA (UK) 240 presumes 

that management is in 

a unique position to 

perpetrate fraud.

Significant management 

judgement

Use of experts

Unadjusted error

Adjusted error

Additional disclosure required

Control Finding

Letter of Representation point

MANAGEMENT OVERRIDE OF CONTROLS

Details (cont)

• We have performed a detail review of the cost 

allocation model including understanding the 

methods used to allocate costs between funds 

within the Corporation and testing of this allocation 

to ensure accuracy of the expenditure charged to 

the charity.

Results and conclusion

• Our audit work on both journals and estimates has 

not identified any instances of inappropriate 

management override.

• We have not noted any management bias in 

accounting estimates. Our detailed conclusions on 

significant estimates are set out within this report.

• We have identified no significant or unusual 

transactions that may be indicative of fraud in 

relation to management override of controls.

• We have not identified any issues with the 

allocation of costs.

Contents

Introduction

Executive summary

Audit risks

Overview – Significant Risks

Management override of controls

Fraud in income recognition

Fraud in income recognition

(Cont’d)

Investment Property Valuation

Investment Property Valuation 

(Continued)

Overview

Investment Valuations

Investment Valuations 

(continued)

Related Party Transactions

Going Concern – Impact of Covid-

19

Estimates

Matters requiring additional 

consideration 

Overview: audit differences and 

disclosures

Adjusted audit differences: 

Summary

Adjusted audit differences: Detail

Adjusted disclosure omissions and 

improvements

Additional matters

Control environment: 

Observations noted

Control environment: Follow up 

of prior year deficiencies

Audit Report

Independence

Appendices contents

P
age 106



9 | BDO LLPBridge House Estates audit completion report for the year ended 31 March 2020

Risk description

• Under auditing standards there is a presumption 

that there is a risk of fraud in income recognition.

• For Bridge House Estates, we consider there to be a 

significant risk in respect of the completeness 

of investment property income, which accounts for 

approximately 75% of total income, due to the cut-

off risk around the year end.

Details

We have carried out audit procedures to gain an 

understanding of the internal control environment for 

the significant income streams, including how this 

operates to prevent loss of income and have ensured 

that income is recognised in the correct accounting 

period. 

Our audit procedures included the following:

• We have agreed a sample of rental income to 

invoice and lease agreements. Where rental periods 

cross year-end, we have checked the split between 

years is correct.

• Rental information from the property management 

system has been reconciled to total rental revenue 

recognised.

• A sample grants has been tested to ensure 

recognition criteria have been met, the amount 

recorded is accurate and the classification (as 

restricted or unrestricted) is correct.

Results and conclusion

Investment Property Income

We traced a sample of rental income amounts through 

to lease agreements. We also obtained a report from 

the tenant system and developed an expectation of the 

rental income for the year and compared this to the 

general ledger.

Our testing was completed satisfactorily, however one 

audit adjustment was identified, where a rent review 

had been signed pre-year end but the corresponding 

income had not been accrued (£97k). Management has 

adjusted for this item.

ISA (UK) 240 presumes 

that income 

recognition presents a 

fraud risk.

Significant management 

judgement

Use of experts

Unadjusted error

Adjusted error

Additional disclosure required

Control Finding

Letter of Representation point

FRAUD IN INCOME RECOGNITION

• We have selected a sample of days’ tourism income 

at Tower Bridge to agree to daily reconciliations 

and receipt to bank.

• We have agreed Tower Bridge events income to 

monthly statements from Seasoned Events; BHE’s 

partner for hosting events at this location.

• We have performed cut-off testing for all revenue 

streams by reviewing transactions around the year-

end date.

Contents

Introduction

Executive summary

Audit risks

Overview – Significant Risks

Management override of controls

Fraud in income recognition

Fraud in income recognition

(Cont’d)

Investment Property Valuation

Investment Property Valuation 

(Continued)

Overview

Investment Valuations

Investment Valuations 

(continued)

Related Party Transactions

Going Concern – Impact of Covid-

19

Estimates

Matters requiring additional 

consideration 

Overview: audit differences and 

disclosures

Adjusted audit differences: 

Summary

Adjusted audit differences: Detail

Adjusted disclosure omissions and 

improvements

Additional matters

Control environment: 

Observations noted

Control environment: Follow up 

of prior year deficiencies

Audit Report

Independence

Appendices contents

P
age 107



10 | BDO LLPBridge House Estates audit completion report for the year ended 31 March 2020

Results and conclusion cont.

Grant Income

We reviewed a sample of 5 grants received towards the 

end of the year as contributions towards the London 

Community Response Fund.

During our testing, management informed us of an 

error they had identified in the recognition of one 

grant, relating to the Cornerstone Fund, totalling 

£500k. This amount should have been recognised in the 

2021 Financial Year and has been corrected in the draft 

accounts.

Whilst reviewing the income recognition policy, it was 

noted that the policy note had not been updated to 

include the treatment of grant income. The policy was 

included in subsequent versions of the accounts. 

No other issues were noted.

Tourism Income

We have agreed a sample of 25 days’ takings to till 

reconciliations and bank, including a sample of 

randomly selected days for completeness. 

We have agreed in total the events and catering 

income from Tower Bridge to monthly statements 

issued by Seasoned Events. We have also checked to 

ensure that income relating to future events has been 

appropriately deferred.

No issues were noted.

ISA (UK) 240 presumes 

that income 

recognition presents a 

fraud risk.

Significant management 

judgement

Use of experts

Unadjusted error

Adjusted error

Additional disclosure required

Control Finding

Letter of Representation point

FRAUD IN INCOME RECOGNITION (CONTINUED)

Contents

Introduction

Executive summary

Audit risks

Overview – Significant Risks

Management override of controls

Fraud in income recognition

Fraud in income recognition

(Cont’d)

Investment Property Valuation

Investment Property Valuation 

(Continued)

Overview

Investment Valuations

Investment Valuations 

(continued)

Related Party Transactions

Going Concern – Impact of Covid-

19

Estimates

Matters requiring additional 

consideration 

Overview: audit differences and 

disclosures

Adjusted audit differences: 

Summary

Adjusted audit differences: Detail

Adjusted disclosure omissions and 

improvements

Additional matters

Control environment: 

Observations noted

Control environment: Follow up 

of prior year deficiencies

Audit Report

Independence

Appendices contents

P
age 108



11 | BDO LLPBridge House Estates audit completion report for the year ended 31 March 2020

Risk description

• Bridge House Estates holds an extensive portfolio of 

investment properties, which are reported at fair 

value at the balance sheet date.

• The Corporation has appointed two valuers relevant 

to Bridge House Estates, who perform a year-end 

valuation based on data provided by the Surveyors 

Team at the Corporation.

• Due to the significant value of the investment 

properties and the high degree of estimation 

uncertainty, there is a risk over the valuation of 

these assets where valuations are based on 

assumptions, or where updated valuations have not 

been provided at the year-end. 

• It is also noted that the impact of covid-19 

increased the level of uncertainty around property 

valuations around the year end.

Details

As part of our audit work, we have performed 

procedures including the following:

• Assessed the qualifications and competence of the 

valuers used

• Reviewed the instructions provided to the valuers

and reviewed the valuers; skills to determine 

whether we can rely on management’s expert

• Verified a sample of data provided to the valuers

(such as rental income) to use as inputs within the 

valuation process

There is a risk over the 

valuation of investment 

properties where 

valuations are based on 

significant assumptions.

Significant management 

judgement

Use of experts

Unadjusted error

Adjusted error

Additional disclosure required

Control Finding

Letter of Representation point

INVESTMENT PROPERTY VALUATION

• Confirmed that the basis of valuation for each asset 

is appropriate based on their usage

• Reviewed assumptions used by the valuers and 

movements in values relative to market indices, and 

challenged valuations lying outside our expectations 

with the corresponding valuer. 

• Consulted extensively with both our Real Estate and 

BDO Valuation teams regarding the reasonableness 

of the assumptions and benchmarks used for 

specific properties where a higher degree of 

judgement has been applied (for example more 

unique properties or developments 

• Held meetings with the Surveyors Team and Valuers

during the valuation process 

• Compared movements in the valuation of assets 

year-on-year and investigated unusual movements. 

Results and conclusion

• Our review of the instructions to the valuers and 

the valuers’ skills and expertise did not identify any 

issues. We agreed that the basis of valuation for 

each property valued is appropriate.

• No issues were identified as a result of our work 

around the accuracy and completeness of the data 

provided by the Corporation to the valuers.

• Investment properties are valued by reference to 

highest and best use market value using an income 

based approach.  Investment properties increased in 

value by £115.6 million to £854.9 million (13.5%) in 

2019/20 driven by the addition of 4 Chiswell St 

(£41m) and the revaluation increment (£79m).

Contents

Introduction

Executive summary

Audit risks

Overview – Significant Risks

Management override of controls

Fraud in income recognition

Fraud in income recognition

(Cont’d)

Investment Property Valuation

Investment Property Valuation 

(Continued)

Overview

Investment Valuations

Investment Valuations 

(continued)

Related Party Transactions

Going Concern – Impact of Covid-

19

Estimates

Matters requiring additional 

consideration 

Overview: audit differences and 

disclosures

Adjusted audit differences: 

Summary

Adjusted audit differences: Detail

Adjusted disclosure omissions and 

improvements

Additional matters

Control environment: 

Observations noted

Control environment: Follow up 

of prior year deficiencies

Audit Report

Independence

Appendices contents

P
age 109



12 | BDO LLPBridge House Estates audit completion report for the year ended 31 March 2020

There is a risk over the 

valuation of investment 

properties where 

valuations are based on 

significant assumptions.

Significant management 

judgement

Use of experts

Unadjusted error

Adjusted error

Additional disclosure required

Control Finding

Letter of Representation point

INVESTMENT PROPERTY VALUATION (CONTINUED)

Results and conclusion cont.

• We set yield expectations for the portfolio based on  

year-end market trends and property type (such as 

office, retail or industrial). These expectations also 

included consideration of a property’s location and 

security of future income. We then compared the 

yields to our expectations, discussing properties 

outside of these further with the valuers.

• We consulted extensively with our Real Estate and 

Valuation teams, who confirmed that our base 

expectations and methodology were suitable for the 

portfolio of Bridge House Estates. 

• We note that due to the ongoing impact of covid-19 

as at the 31 March 2020, the valuers have included 

within their valuation reports, a “Material Valuation 

Uncertainty” clause in line with the guidance set 

out in the RICS Red Book Global. Due to a lack of 

comparable transactions around the year end they 

note that “less certainty, and a higher degree of 

caution, should be attached to the valuations that 

would normally be the case.” 

• Reference to this uncertainty is set out in the notes 

to the financial statements. We proposed some 

enhanced disclosure relating to the more specific 

considerations regarding the uncertainty in the 

context of the charity’s portfolio. The draft 

accounts were subsequently updated.

• Furthermore, given the potential significance of this 

uncertainty in the context of the assets of the 

charity, our audit opinion draws reference to this 

uncertainty by way of an “Emphasis of Matter”. 

• We have noted no other issues during the course of 

our testing.

Contents

Introduction

Executive summary

Audit risks

Overview – Significant Risks

Management override of controls

Fraud in income recognition

Fraud in income recognition

(Cont’d)

Investment Property Valuation

Investment Property Valuation 

(Continued)

Overview

Investment Valuations

Investment Valuations 

(continued)

Related Party Transactions

Going Concern – Impact of Covid-

19

Estimates

Matters requiring additional 

consideration 

Overview: audit differences and 

disclosures

Adjusted audit differences: 

Summary

Adjusted audit differences: Detail

Adjusted disclosure omissions and 

improvements

Additional matters

Control environment: 

Observations noted

Control environment: Follow up 

of prior year deficiencies

Audit Report

Independence

Appendices contents

P
age 110



13 | BDO LLPBridge House Estates audit completion report for the year ended 31 March 2020

As either identified in our audit planning report dated 17 March 2020 or reflecting the subsequent Covid-19 pandemic, we assessed the following matters as 

being normal risks of material misstatement in the financial statements but areas of audit focus. 

Other audit risks

Areas requiring your attention

OVERVIEW

Significant 

Audit Risk

Significant 

Management 

Judgement 

Involved

Use of Experts 

Required

Error 

Identified

Control Findings to 

be reported in 

Completion report

Specific 

Letter of 

Representation 

Point

Discussion points 

for Audit 

Committee

4. Investment

Valuations
Yes Yes Yes No No No

5. Related Party 

Transactions
No No Yes Yes Yes No

6. Going Concern 

Impact of Covid-19
Yes No No No Yes No

Contents

Introduction

Executive summary

Audit risks

Overview – Significant Risks

Management override of controls

Fraud in income recognition

Fraud in income recognition

(Cont’d)

Investment Property Valuation

Investment Property Valuation 

(Continued)

Overview

Investment Valuations

Investment Valuations 

(continued)

Related Party Transactions

Going Concern – Impact of Covid-

19

Estimates

Matters requiring additional 

consideration 

Overview: audit differences and 

disclosures

Adjusted audit differences: 

Summary

Adjusted audit differences: Detail

Adjusted disclosure omissions and 

improvements

Additional matters

Control environment: 

Observations noted

Control environment: Follow up 

of prior year deficiencies

Audit Report

Independence

Appendices contents

P
age 111



14 | BDO LLPBridge House Estates audit completion report for the year ended 31 March 2020

Risk description

• The investment portfolio within BHE includes 

unquoted infrastructure, private equity holdings 

and pooled investment vehicle (held through unit 

trust). The unquoted infrastructure funds and 

private equity funds are valued by the General 

Partner or fund manager using valuations obtained 

from the underlying partnerships and investments. 

The valuation of other funds are provided by 

individual fund managers and reported on a monthly 

basis.

• Valuations for private equity are provided at dates 

that are not coterminous with the year end for 

Bridge House Estates and need to be updated to 

reflect cash transactions (additional contributions 

or distributions received) up to 31 March. There is a 

risk that private equity investments valuations may 

not be appropriately adjusted to include additional 

contributions or distributions at the year end.

• There is a risk that investments may not be 

appropriately valued and correctly recorded in the 

financial statements

Details

Our audit procedures will include the following:

• For unquoted infrastructure and private equity 

investments, we obtained direct confirmation of 

investment valuations from the General Partner or 

fund manager and obtained copies, where 

applicable, of the audited report on internal 

controls / audited financial statements of the 

underlying partnerships (and member 

allocations). We also considered if appropriate 

adjustments had been made to the valuations in 

respect of additional contributions to and 

distributions from the funds;

• For pooled investments, obtained direct 

confirmation of investment valuations from the 

fund managers and agreed independent valuations, 

where available, provided by the custodian;

• Obtained independent assurance reports over the 

controls operated by both the fund managers and 

custodian for valuations and existence of underlying 

investments in the funds; and

• Agreed the allocation of amounts for each fund 

where there is pooling of investments across the 

funds.

There is a risk that 

investment valuations 

may not be corrected 

reported at year end.

INVESTMENT VALUATIONS

Significant management 

judgement

Use of experts

Unadjusted error

Adjusted error

Additional disclosure required

Control Finding

Letter of Representation point

Contents

Introduction

Executive summary

Audit risks

Overview – Significant Risks

Management override of controls

Fraud in income recognition

Fraud in income recognition

(Cont’d)

Investment Property Valuation

Investment Property Valuation 

(Continued)

Overview

Investment Valuations

Investment Valuations 

(continued)

Related Party Transactions

Going Concern – Impact of Covid-

19

Estimates

Matters requiring additional 

consideration 

Overview: audit differences and 

disclosures

Adjusted audit differences: 

Summary

Adjusted audit differences: Detail

Adjusted disclosure omissions and 

improvements

Additional matters

Control environment: 

Observations noted

Control environment: Follow up 

of prior year deficiencies

Audit Report

Independence

Appendices contents

P
age 112



15 | BDO LLPBridge House Estates audit completion report for the year ended 31 March 2020

Results and conclusion

We have agreed investments to confirmations received 

from investment managers. 

We have confirmed the existence of a sample of the 

social investments held within the portfolio and a small 

sample of additions made during the year. No 

indicators of impairment have been identified.

We have confirmed a sample of listed investment 

balances to external published sources. We have also 

performed testing over purchases and sales of 

Investments. 

Our testing of the private equity and other non listed 

elements of the portfolio identified that some 

investments were included in the initial draft accounts 

were based on the 31 December 2019 valuation, rather 

than as at 31 March 2020. This has subsequently been 

corrected by management in the final accounts 

(decreasing the value of investments by £2.3m).

Our review of the control environment of the 

investment managers noted that 3 fund managers 

received qualified audit reports on internal controls 

(Lindsell Train, Majedie and Aviva). The value of 

investments held by these fund managers across the 

Cityof London Corporation at the year end was £205 

million.

We recommend the Financial Investment Board takes 

this into account when reviewing the performance of 

the individual fund managers.

There is a risk that 

investment valuations 

may not be corrected 

reported at year end.

INVESTMENT VALUATIONS (CONTINUED)

Significant management 

judgement

Use of experts

Unadjusted error

Adjusted error

Additional disclosure required

Control Finding

Letter of Representation point

Results and conclusion

We have one outstanding query with Ruffer over the 

unit price of a specific investment. Subject to the 

resolution of this matter, we are satisfied that the 

overall valuation of financial investments is materially 

correct.

Contents

Introduction

Executive summary

Audit risks

Overview – Significant Risks

Management override of controls

Fraud in income recognition

Fraud in income recognition

(Cont’d)

Investment Property Valuation

Investment Property Valuation 

(Continued)

Overview

Investment Valuations

Investment Valuations 

(continued)

Related Party Transactions

Going Concern – Impact of Covid-

19

Estimates

Matters requiring additional 

consideration 

Overview: audit differences and 

disclosures

Adjusted audit differences: 

Summary

Adjusted audit differences: Detail

Adjusted disclosure omissions and 

improvements

Additional matters

Control environment: 

Observations noted

Control environment: Follow up 

of prior year deficiencies

Audit Report

Independence

Appendices contents

P
age 113



16 | BDO LLPBridge House Estates audit completion report for the year ended 31 March 2020

Risk description

• Whilst you are responsible for the completeness of 

the disclosure of related party transactions in the 

financial statements, we are also required to 

consider related party transactions in the context 

of fraud as they may present greater risk for 

management override or concealment or fraud. Our 

audit approach includes the consideration of 

related party transactions throughout the audit 

including making enquiries of management and the 

Audit and Risk Management Committee.

• There is a risk that related party disclosures are not 

complete and accurate, and disclosed in 

accordance with the Charites SORP as required for 

Bridge House Estates.

Details

As part of our audit work, we have completed the 

following:

• Gained an understanding of the controls and 

processes around the identification and disclosure 

of related party transactions.

• Obtained and reviewed related party declarations 

for all members, and cross-referenced these to 

Companies House and Charity Commission searches 

for completeness.

• Performed a search of the complete payables and 

receivables listings for Bridge House Estates for 

identified potential related parties.

Results and conclusion

• During our review of declarations, it was noted that 

a number of declarations have not been completed 

accurately nor completely, with the member either 

leaving sections blank, or ommitting to sign the 

forms. In a number of cases, subsequent online 

searches identified additional potential related 

parties which had not been declared on the forms. 

A control point has been raised regarding this 

matter.

• One error was noted during our review of the 

related parties disclosure, where transactions with 

The Guild of Freemen of the City of London were 

understated in the disclosure by £4k. This has been 

updated in the latest draft accounts.

• No additional issues have been noted, however we 

await the receipt of the remaining 11 declarations 

(specific to the audit of Bridge House Estates) to 

enable us to complete our testing.

There is a risk that 

related party 

disclosures are not 

complete and 

accurate.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Significant management 

judgement

Use of experts

Unadjusted error

Adjusted error

Additional disclosure required

Control Finding

Letter of Representation point

Contents

Introduction

Executive summary

Audit risks

Overview – Significant Risks

Management override of controls

Fraud in income recognition

Fraud in income recognition

(Cont’d)

Investment Property Valuation

Investment Property Valuation 

(Continued)

Overview

Investment Valuations

Investment Valuations 

(continued)

Related Party Transactions

Going Concern – Impact of Covid-

19

Estimates

Matters requiring additional 

consideration 

Overview: audit differences and 

disclosures

Adjusted audit differences: 

Summary

Adjusted audit differences: Detail

Adjusted disclosure omissions and 

improvements

Additional matters

Control environment: 

Observations noted

Control environment: Follow up 

of prior year deficiencies

Audit Report

Independence

Appendices contents

P
age 114



17 | BDO LLPBridge House Estates audit completion report for the year ended 31 March 2020

Risk description

It is the Trustee’s responsibility to make an assessment 

of the Charity’s ability to continue as a Going Concern 

to support the basis of preparation for the financial 

statements. This is a requirement of both Charities Act 

2011 and accounting standards. 

This assessment should be supported by detailed cash 

flow forecasts with clear details of the key underlying 

assumptions, consideration of available finance  

throughout the forecast period, and a consideration of 

the forecast’s sensitivity to reasonably possible 

variations in those assumptions along with any other 

relevant factors.

The 2019 Novel Coronavirus infection (‘coronavirus’) or 

‘COVID-19’ outbreak poses a serious public health 

threat. It has interrupted the movement of people and 

goods throughout the world, and many levels of 

government are instituting restrictions on individuals 

and businesses. The resulting impact on financial 

reporting will be significant.

Details

We have obtained an understanding of the business 

model, objectives, strategies and related business risk, 

the measurement and review of the entity’s financial 

performance including forecasting and budgeting 

processes and the entity’s risk assessment process. We 

have evaluated:

a. The Trustee’s method including the relevance and 

reliability of underlying data used to make the 

assessment, whether assumptions and changes to 

assumptions from prior years are appropriate and 

consistent with each other. 

b. The Trustee’s plans for future actions in relation to 

the going concern assessment including whether 

such plans are feasible in the circumstances. 

c. We have considered managements response to 

Covid-19 and the assumptions that underpin this 

response. 

d. We have performed sensitivity analysis on key 

assumptions within the financial model

e. The adequacy and appropriateness of disclosures in 

the financial statements regarding the going 

concern assessment and any material uncertainties 

that may exist. 

Results and conclusion

We concur with management and the Trustee, that 

while there is uncertainty in relation to the impact of 

COVID-19 on the charity, this does not pose a material 

uncertainty and hence there is no impact on our audit 

opinion. We are content that there is adequate 

disclosure in the financial statements relating to going 

concern.

In an uncertain 

environment where 

business continuity 

plans have been 

activated, forecasting 

future cash flows with 

any degree of certainty 

is challenging.

GOING CONCERN – IMPACT OF COVID-19

Significant management 

judgement

Use of experts

Unadjusted error

Adjusted error

Additional disclosure required

Control Finding

Letter of Representation point

Contents

Introduction

Executive summary

Audit risks

Overview – Significant Risks

Management override of controls

Fraud in income recognition

Fraud in income recognition

(Cont’d)

Investment Property Valuation

Investment Property Valuation 

(Continued)

Overview

Investment Valuations

Investment Valuations 

(continued)

Related Party Transactions

Going Concern – Impact of Covid-

19

Estimates

Matters requiring additional 

consideration 

Overview: audit differences and 

disclosures

Adjusted audit differences: 

Summary

Adjusted audit differences: Detail

Adjusted disclosure omissions and 

improvements

Additional matters

Control environment: 

Observations noted

Control environment: Follow up 

of prior year deficiencies

Audit Report

Independence

Appendices contents

P
age 115



18 | BDO LLPBridge House Estates audit completion report for the year ended 31 March 2020

ESTIMATES

Key Estimates

Defined Benefit Pension Scheme 

The LGPS pension fund is required to report the pension liability for 

estimated promised future benefits for the whole fund.  The Corporation’s 

share of the net liability, including its share of the assets held in the pension 

fund, is allocated across the funds in proportion to the payroll cost for each 

fund. 

As at 31 March 2020 the allocation of the total Corporation’s defined benefit 

pension for BHE increased to 3% (2019, 2%).

The fund position at the year end is based on a complex calculation with the 

assumptions having a significant impact on the value of the reported 

surplus/deficit.

We have;

• reviewed the reasonableness of the assumptions used by Barnett 

Waddingham (management’s expert) for the calculation of the liability 

against other local government and police pension actuaries’ assumptions 

and other observable data using the benchmark range of acceptable 

assumptions provided by PwC consulting actuary (auditor’s expert);

• checked the accuracy of the calculations relating to the allocation of the 

share of the net assets across the funds in proportion to the employer’s 

contribution's paid to the scheme

We note that due to the adjustment relating to the valuation of private 

equity funds, there is a potential flow through to the pension scheme assets 

and consequently the portion attributable to Bridge House Estates. We 

believe any adjustment would be trivial in the context of the charity’s 

materiality and therefore do not propose to make any adjustment.

Fair Value of investment properties

The fair value of investment property is determined by the valuers to be the 

estimated amount for which a property should exchange on the date of the 

valuation in an arm’s length transaction.

See page 11

Going concern

Management and the Trustee are required to consider at least the 12 month

period from date of sign off in assessing the going concern assumption

See page 17

Investment Valuations

Inappropriate assumptions may be used to value investments See page 14

Contents

Introduction

Executive summary

Audit risks

Overview – Significant Risks

Management override of controls

Fraud in income recognition

Fraud in income recognition

(Cont’d)

Investment Property Valuation

Investment Property Valuation 

(Continued)

Overview

Investment Valuations

Investment Valuations 

(continued)

Related Party Transactions

Going Concern – Impact of Covid-

19

Estimates

Matters requiring additional 

consideration 

Overview: audit differences and 

disclosures

Adjusted audit differences: 

Summary

Adjusted audit differences: Detail

Adjusted disclosure omissions and 

improvements

Additional matters

Control environment: 

Observations noted

Control environment: Follow up 

of prior year deficiencies

Audit Report

Independence

Appendices contents

P
age 116



19 | BDO LLPBridge House Estates audit completion report for the year ended 31 March 2020

Fraud

Whilst the Trustee has ultimate responsibility for prevention and detection 

of fraud, we are required to obtain reasonable assurance that the financial 

statements are free from material misstatement, including those arising as a 

result of fraud. Our audit procedures did not identify any fraud. We will seek 

confirmation from you whether you are aware of any known, suspected or 

alleged frauds since we last enquired when presenting the audit plan on 17 

March 2020.

Related parties

Whilst you are responsible for the completeness of the disclosure of related 

party transactions in the financial statements, we are also required to 

consider related party transactions in the context of fraud as they may 

present greater risk for management override or concealment or fraud. 

We identified the following significant matters in connection to related 

parties

• A number of declarations have been returned by members either 

incomplete or unsigned. This is likely to hinder management in the 

preparation of a complete and accurate related party disclosure.

Laws and regulations

The most significant general legislation for your charity are Charities Acts, 

Companies Act 2006, Corporate and VAT legislation, Employment Taxes, 

Health and Safety and the Bribery Act 2010. We made enquiries of 

management and reviewed correspondence with the relevant authorities.

We did not identify any non-compliance with laws and regulations that could 

have a material impact on the financial statements.

Designated Funds

On the 18 February 2020 the Finance Committee approved the designation of 

£200m reserves from general reserves to grant making to be utilised over the 

next 3 years. 

We have reviewed the minutes of the Finance Committee and noted the 

approval of the transfer. We have reviewed the funds transfers and 

presentation of general and designated funds as set out in Note 23.

Furthermore we have considered the disclosures relating to the free reserves 

of the charity as set out on the Trustee’s report. We note that this is a 

positive development responding to our feedback on compliance with the 

Charities SORP in 18/19.

MATTERS REQUIRING ADDITIONAL CONSIDERATION 

Contents

Introduction

Executive summary

Audit risks

Overview – Significant Risks

Management override of controls

Fraud in income recognition

Fraud in income recognition

(Cont’d)

Investment Property Valuation

Investment Property Valuation 

(Continued)

Overview

Investment Valuations

Investment Valuations 

(continued)

Related Party Transactions

Going Concern – Impact of Covid-

19

Estimates

Matters requiring additional 

consideration 

Overview: audit differences and 

disclosures

Adjusted audit differences: 

Summary

Adjusted audit differences: Detail

Adjusted disclosure omissions and 

improvements

Additional matters

Control environment: 

Observations noted

Control environment: Follow up 

of prior year deficiencies

Audit Report

Independence

Appendices contents

P
age 117



20 | BDO LLPBridge House Estates audit completion report for the year ended 31 March 2020

Unadjusted audit differences:

We are required to bring to your attention unadjusted differences and we 

request that you correct them. 

No unadjusted audit differences have been identified by our audit work.

Summary for the current year

OVERVIEW: AUDIT DIFFERENCES AND DISCLOSURES

Unadjusted financial reporting matters

We are required to bring to your attention financial reporting disclosure 

omissions and improvements that the Audit Committee is required to 

consider. 

No unadjusted financial reports matters have been identified by our audit 

work.

Adjusted audit differences

A small number of audit adjustment have been posted through the accounts 

by the finance team subsequent to the draft accounts presented for audit.  

Details of the adjusted audit differences can be found on page 21 and 22.

Adjusted financial reporting matters

A small number of disclosure omissions were identified and have been 

corrected in the draft accounts presented for audit. 

These are detailed on page 23.

Contents

Introduction

Executive summary

Audit risks

Overview – Significant Risks

Management override of controls

Fraud in income recognition

Fraud in income recognition

(Cont’d)

Investment Property Valuation

Investment Property Valuation 

(Continued)

Overview

Investment Valuations

Investment Valuations 

(continued)

Related Party Transactions

Going Concern – Impact of Covid-

19

Estimates

Matters requiring additional 

consideration 

Overview: audit differences and 

disclosures

Adjusted audit differences: 

Summary

Adjusted audit differences: Detail

Adjusted disclosure omissions and 

improvements

Additional matters

Control environment: 

Observations noted

Control environment: Follow up 

of prior year deficiencies

Audit Report

Independence

Appendices contents

P
age 118



21 | BDO LLPBridge House Estates audit completion report for the year ended 31 March 2020

Summary for the current year

There were 4 audit differences identified by our audit work that 

were adjusted by Management. This decreased draft net expenditure by 

£2,695k and decreased draft net assets of by £2,695k.

ADJUSTED AUDIT DIFFERENCES: SUMMARY

Contents

Introduction

Executive summary

Audit risks

Overview – Significant Risks

Management override of controls

Fraud in income recognition

Fraud in income recognition

(Cont’d)

Investment Property Valuation

Investment Property Valuation 

(Continued)

Overview

Investment Valuations

Investment Valuations 

(continued)

Related Party Transactions

Going Concern – Impact of Covid-

19

Estimates

Matters requiring additional 

consideration 

Overview: audit differences and 

disclosures

Adjusted audit differences: 

Summary

Adjusted audit differences: Detail

Adjusted disclosure omissions and 

improvements

Additional matters

Control environment: 

Observations noted

Control environment: Follow up 

of prior year deficiencies

Audit Report

Independence

Appendices contents

P
age 119



22 | BDO LLPBridge House Estates audit completion report for the year ended 31 March 2020

Income and expenditure Balance sheet

Adjusted audit differences £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Adjustment 1: Reclassification of credit balances in Debtors listing to 

Creditors control account 

DR Debtors 242

CR Creditors (242)

Adjustment 2: To correctly accrue for the portion of Investment Property 

income in line with new rent review signed within the audit year

DR Accrued Income 97

CR Investment Property Income (97)

Adjustment 3: To correctly derecognise the Cornerstone grant as BHE 

identified it not meeting entitled criteria prior to year end

DR Grant Income 500

CR Accrued income (500)

Adjustment 4: To correctly recognise the March 2020 year end valuations for 

Private Equity investments previously held at December 2019 valuation.

DR Gain/Loss on investments 2,292

CR Financial Investments (2,292)

Total Adjusted audit differences 2,792 (97) 339 (3,034)

Details for the current year

ADJUSTED AUDIT DIFFERENCES: DETAIL

Contents

Introduction

Executive summary

Audit risks

Overview – Significant Risks

Management override of controls

Fraud in income recognition

Fraud in income recognition

(Cont’d)

Investment Property Valuation

Investment Property Valuation 

(Continued)

Overview

Investment Valuations

Investment Valuations 

(continued)

Related Party Transactions

Going Concern – Impact of Covid-

19

Estimates

Matters requiring additional 

consideration 

Overview: audit differences and 

disclosures

Adjusted audit differences: 

Summary

Adjusted audit differences: Detail

Adjusted disclosure omissions and 

improvements

Additional matters

Control environment: 

Observations noted

Control environment: Follow up 

of prior year deficiencies

Audit Report

Independence

Appendices contents

P
age 120



23 | BDO LLPBridge House Estates audit completion report for the year ended 31 March 2020

We are required to bring to your attention other financial reporting 

matters that the Audit & Risk Management Committee is required to 

consider. 

We have made various suggestions to enhance the Trustee’s report and 

financial statements with the primary focus of these comments relating to 

additional disclosures relating to Covid-19

Our comments have been taken into consideration by management and many 

have been incorporated into the subsequent versions of the Trustee’s report. 

Disclosure omissions and improvements

ADJUSTED DISCLOSURE OMISSIONS AND IMPROVEMENTS

Contents

Introduction

Executive summary

Audit risks

Overview – Significant Risks

Management override of controls

Fraud in income recognition

Fraud in income recognition

(Cont’d)

Investment Property Valuation

Investment Property Valuation 

(Continued)

Overview

Investment Valuations

Investment Valuations 

(continued)

Related Party Transactions

Going Concern – Impact of Covid-

19

Estimates

Matters requiring additional 

consideration 

Overview: audit differences and 

disclosures

Adjusted audit differences: 

Summary

Adjusted audit differences: Detail

Adjusted disclosure omissions and 

improvements

Additional matters

Control environment: 

Observations noted

Control environment: Follow up 

of prior year deficiencies

Audit Report

Independence

Appendices contents

P
age 121



24 | BDO LLPBridge House Estates audit completion report for the year ended 31 March 2020

Details for the current year

ADDITIONAL MATTERS

We have comments on the following additional matters:

Significant matter Comment

1 Significant difficulties encountered during the audit. No exceptions to note.

2

Significant matters that arose during the audit that were 

discussed or were subject to correspondence with 

management 

We encountered some challenges with regards to obtaining hard copy supporting 

documentation and timeliness in our audit work due to remote working as a result 

of COVID-19 government lockdown.

3 Serious incident reporting
No serious incidents were reported in the year, and we have not identified any 

matters requiring reporting to the Charity Commission.

4 Written representations which we seek. We enclose a copy of our draft representation letter

5 Any fraud or suspected fraud issues. No exceptions to note.

6 Any suspected non-compliance with laws or regulations No exceptions to note.

7
Any misstatements in opening balances that exist in the 

current period financial statements
No exceptions to note.

8 Significant matters in connection with related parties. See page 16 for detailed findings regarding related parties.

9
Any other significant matters arising relevant to the 

oversight of the financial reporting process
No matters noted.

Contents

Introduction

Executive summary

Audit risks

Overview – Significant Risks

Management override of controls

Fraud in income recognition

Fraud in income recognition

(Cont’d)

Investment Property Valuation

Investment Property Valuation 

(Continued)

Overview

Investment Valuations

Investment Valuations 

(continued)

Related Party Transactions

Going Concern – Impact of Covid-

19

Estimates

Matters requiring additional 

consideration 

Overview: audit differences and 

disclosures

Adjusted audit differences: 

Summary

Adjusted audit differences: Detail

Adjusted disclosure omissions and 

improvements

Additional matters

Control environment: 

Observations noted

Control environment: Follow up 

of prior year deficiencies

Audit Report

Independence

Appendices contents

P
age 122



25 | BDO LLPBridge House Estates audit completion report for the year ended 31 March 2020

We are required to report to you, in writing, significant deficiencies in 

internal control that we have identified during the audit. These matters are 

limited to those which we have concluded are of sufficient importance to 

merit being reported to the Audit Committee.

We have not identified any significant deficiencies in internal control. One 

control observation is noted below.

As the purpose of the audit is for us to express an opinion on the financial 

statements, you will appreciate that our audit cannot necessarily be 

expected to disclose all matters that may be of interest to you and, as a 

result, the matters reported may not be the only ones which exist. 

As part of our work, we considered internal control relevant to the 

preparation of the financial statements such that we were able to design 

appropriate audit procedures. This work was not for the purpose of 

expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of internal control.

CONTROL ENVIRONMENT: OBSERVATIONS NOTED

Area Observation Implication Recommendation Management response

Related Party 

Transactions

During testing, it was noted 

that a number of related 

party declarations have been 

returned by members with 

sections missing. When 

performing our own checks, 

we have noted that these 

members do have potential 

related parties that they have 

not disclosed.

Not receiving complete 

declarations may lead to 

management not 

identifying related party 

transactions during the 

accounts preparation 

process, and may also 

influence financial 

decisions during the year 

if a related party is not 

included on a register of 

interest.

We recommend that the 

importance of the declarations 

is reinforced to all members, 

through training if necessary. 

These declarations should then 

be reviewed when returned to 

ensure all information is 

complete before they are then 

subject to our review and 

consideration.

We confirm that we will be reviewing the 

processes for related party transactions 

during the year.

Contents

Introduction

Executive summary

Audit risks

Overview – Significant Risks

Management override of controls

Fraud in income recognition

Fraud in income recognition

(Cont’d)

Investment Property Valuation

Investment Property Valuation 

(Continued)

Overview

Investment Valuations

Investment Valuations 

(continued)

Related Party Transactions

Going Concern – Impact of Covid-

19

Estimates

Matters requiring additional 

consideration 

Overview: audit differences and 

disclosures

Adjusted audit differences: 

Summary

Adjusted audit differences: Detail

Adjusted disclosure omissions and 

improvements

Additional matters

Control environment: 

Observations noted

Control environment: Follow up 

of prior year deficiencies

Audit Report

Independence

Appendices contents

P
age 123



26 | BDO LLPBridge House Estates audit completion report for the year ended 31 March 2020

CONTROL ENVIRONMENT: FOLLOW UP OF PRIOR YEAR DEFICIENCIES

Area Issue and impact Original recommendation Progress Management response

Designated Funds BHE determined to include an 

amount of general reserves in a 

designated fund however this 

decision was not formally 

minuted before the year end. 

We recommend that going 

forward BHE should ensure that 

any intention to designate 

funds is minuted prior to the 

year end in line with the 

Charities SORP.

No new designated funds have 

been formed in the year. 

Evidence of discussion regarding 

the adjustment of existing 

funds has been noted as 

included within the minutes of 

the relevant committee.

N/A

Accounting

treatment of 

large, one-off or 

complex 

transactions

We noted that key accounting 

treatments (e.g. for 1-5 London 

Wall) were not determined until 

the accounts were prepared. 

We recommend that 

management engage with us 

throughout the year so that we 

can agree and confirm the 

accounting treatment of large, 

one off or complex transactions 

well in advance of the year end 

audit. Prior to this, 

management should ensure that 

these are considered fully in 

terms of the accounting 

treatment at the time the 

transaction is completed rather 

than at the year end.

In 2020 we have not 

encountered a transaction of 

the significance of 1-5 London 

Wall from the 2019 audit. 

However we note that year end 

capital entries did not take 

place within the originally 

agreed audit timetable. We 

recommend that the year end 

close process be reviewed again 

to identify any efficiencies 

which could be implemented 

going forward.

We confirm agreement with the 

recommendation and will 

review the year end close 

process as stated.

Contents

Introduction

Executive summary

Audit risks

Overview – Significant Risks

Management override of controls

Fraud in income recognition

Fraud in income recognition

(Cont’d)

Investment Property Valuation

Investment Property Valuation 

(Continued)

Overview

Investment Valuations

Investment Valuations 

(continued)

Related Party Transactions

Going Concern – Impact of Covid-

19

Estimates

Matters requiring additional 

consideration 

Overview: audit differences and 

disclosures

Adjusted audit differences: 

Summary

Adjusted audit differences: Detail

Adjusted disclosure omissions and 

improvements

Additional matters

Control environment: 

Observations noted

Control environment: Follow up 

of prior year deficiencies

Audit Report

Independence

Appendices contents

P
age 124



27 | BDO LLPBridge House Estates audit completion report for the year ended 31 March 2020

Opinion on financial statements

We anticipate issuing an unmodified opinion on the financial statements. 

However whilst our opinion is not qualified, the enhanced  disclosures 

relating to areas of estimation and uncertainty pertaining to the valuation of 

investment properties has resulted in a reference in our audit opinion as an 

“Emphasis of Matter” given the potential impact on the financial 

statements. 

Comments on the Trustee’s report and statutory other information

We have identified no material misstatements in the statutory other 

information accompanying the financial statements.

Other information

We have reviewed the other information accompanying the financial 

statements in the annual report. We have not identified any material 

misstatements that would need to be referred to in our report. 

AUDIT REPORT OVERVIEWAUDIT REPORT

Contents

Introduction

Executive summary

Audit risks

Audit Report

Audit report overview

Independence

Appendices contents

P
age 125



28 | BDO LLPBridge House Estates audit completion report for the year ended 31 March 2020

Under ISAs (UK) and the FRC’s Ethical Standard, we are 

required as auditors to confirm our independence.

We have embedded the requirements of the Standards 

in our methodologies, tools and internal training 

programmes. Our internal procedures require that 

audit engagement partners are made aware of any 

matters which may reasonably be thought to bear on 

the integrity, objectivity or independence of the firm, 

the members of the engagement team or others who 

are in a position to influence the outcome of the 

engagement. This document considers such matters in 

the context of our audit for the year ended 31 March 

2020.

Details of services, other than audit, provided by us to 

the Charity during the period and up to the date of this 

report were provided in our planning report. We 

understand that the provision of these services was 

approved by the Audit Committee in advance in 

accordance with the Charity’s policy on this matter.

Details of rotation arrangements for key members of 

the audit team and others involved in the engagement 

were provided in our planning report.

We have not identified any other relationships or 

threats that may reasonably be thought to bear on our 

objectivity and independence.

We confirm that the firm, the engagement team and 

other partners, directors, senior managers and 

managers conducting the audit comply with relevant 

ethical requirements including the FRC’s Ethical 

Standard or the IESBA Code of Ethics as appropriate 

and are independent of the Charity.

We also confirm that we have obtained confirmation of 

independence from non BDO auditors and external 

audit experts involved in the audit comply with 

relevant ethical requirements including the FRC’s 

Ethical Standard and are independent of the Charity.

Should you have any comments or queries regarding 

any independence matters we would welcome their 

discussion in more detail.

Under ISAs (UK) and the 

FRC’s Ethical Standard 

we are required, as 

auditors, to confirm 

our independence. 

INDEPENDENCE INDEPENDENCE

Contents

Introduction

Executive summary

Audit risks

Audit Report

Independence

Independence

Fees

Outstanding matters

Appendices contents

P
age 126



29 | BDO LLPBridge House Estates audit completion report for the year ended 31 March 2020

Fees summary for year ended 31 March 2020

FEES

£

Bridge House Estates Financial Statements 70,000

Total non-audit services -

Total fees 70,000

Contents

Introduction

Executive summary

Audit risks

Audit Report

Independence

Independence

Fees

Outstanding matters

Appendices contents

P
age 127



30 | BDO LLPBridge House Estates audit completion report for the year ended 31 March 2020

We have substantially completed our audit work in respect of the financial 

statements for the year ended 31 March 2020.

The following matters are outstanding at the date of this report and could 

impact our audit opinion. We will update you on their current status at the 

Committee meeting at which this report is considered:

• A number of related party declarations are currently outstanding from 

members.

• Final review of financial statements 

• Subsequent events review to date of signing the financial statements

• Receipt of signed letter of representation for all entities

OUTSTANDING MATTERS

Contents

Introduction

Executive summary

Audit risks

Audit Report

Independence

Independence

Fees

Outstanding matters

Appendices contents

P
age 128



A Trustee’s responsibilities 32

Trustee’s responsibilities explained 32

B Our responsibilities 33

Our responsibilities 33

C Fraud 34

Fraud risk 34

D Communication 35

APPENDICES CONTENTS

Communication with you 35

E Audit quality 36

Audit quality 36

Letter of representation 37

Letter of representation 38

Letter of representation 39

Letter of representation 40

P
age 129



32 | BDO LLPBridge House Estates audit completion report for the year ended 31 March 2020

The Board’s Responsibilities and Reporting

TRUSTEE’S RESPONSIBILITIES EXPLAINED

Trustee responsibilities What this means

• Maintain adequate accounting records and maintain an appropriate 

system of internal control for the charity

• Prepare the annual report and the financial statements which give a true 

and fair view and which are prepared in accordance with UK Generally 

Accepted Accounting Practice and the Charities Act 2011 

• Safeguard the assets of the charity and take reasonable steps for the 

prevention and detection of fraud and other irregularities.

Further information regarding these responsibilities is provided in the 

engagement. We are happy to explain these in more detail to you.

To make available to us, as and when required, all the charity’s accounting 

records and related financial information.

To provide us with Board papers on key issues including but not limited to:

• Review of business risks

• Going concern assessments

• Impairment reviews

• Any key judgments and estimates. 

Having made enquiries state in the Trustee’s report that:

• So far as Members (on behalf of the Trustee) are aware, there is no 

relevant audit information of which the auditors are unaware

• Members have taken all reasonable steps they ought to have taken on

behalf of the Trustee in order to make themselves aware of any relevant 

audit information and to establish that the charity’s auditors are aware 

of that information.

In addition to answering our queries, this requires proactive behaviour in 

order to make us aware of any relevant information. Relevant information is 

very broad and includes any information needed in connection with our 

report.

The Trustee is responsible for preparing and filing an Annual Report and financial statements which show a true and fair view, comply with the Charities 

SORP, prepared in accordance with UK GAAP. 

Our audit of the financial statements does not relieve Management nor those charged with governance of their responsibilities for the preparation of the 

financial statements.

Further information regarding these responsibilities is provided in the engagement letter. 

TRUSTEE’S 
RESPONSIBILITIES

Contents

Appendices contents

Trustee’s responsibilities

Our responsibilities

Fraud

Communication

Audit quality

Letter of representation

Letter of representation

Letter of representation

Letter of representation

Looking Forwards contents

P
age 130



33 | BDO LLPBridge House Estates audit completion report for the year ended 31 March 2020

Our responsibilities and reporting

We are responsible for performing our audit under International Standards on Auditing (UK) to form and express an opinion on your financial statements. We 

report our opinion on the financial statements to the members. 

We report only those matters which come to our attention during the conduct of our normal audit procedures which are designed primarily for the purpose of 

expressing our opinion on the financial statements. 

We are also required to report on the consistency of the Annual report with the Financial Statements and our knowledge of the charity and their environment 

obtained in the course of the audit and whether they have been prepared in accordance with the requirements of the Charities SORP. 

What we don’t report

Our audit is not designed to identify all matters that may be relevant to the board and cannot be expected to identify all matters that may be of interest to 

you and, as a result, the matters reported may not be the only ones which exist. 

Responsibilities and reporting

OUR RESPONSIBILITIESOUR RESPONSIBILITIES

Contents

Appendices contents

Trustee’s responsibilities

Our responsibilities

Fraud

Communication

Audit quality

Letter of representation

Letter of representation

Letter of representation

Letter of representation

Looking Forwards contents

P
age 131



34 | BDO LLPBridge House Estates audit completion report for the year ended 31 March 2020

Respective responsibilities

FRAUD RISK

In accordance with the International Standards on Auditing (UK) we are required to discuss with you the possibility of material misstatement, due to fraud 

or error.  Below is a summary of the respective responsibilities of the Board of Trustees, management, and the Auditor with regards to fraud:

Trustees’ Responsibility

• To evaluate management’s identification of fraud risk, and implementation of anti-

fraud measures; and

• To investigate any alleged or suspected instances of fraud brought to their attention.

Management’s Responsibility

• To design and implement systems and controls that enables the organisation to 

prevent and detect fraud;

• To ensure that the organisation's culture promotes ethical behaviour; and

• To perform a risk assessment that specifically includes the risk of fraud, and 

consideration of whether having a whistleblowing policy in place.

Auditor’s Responsibility

• To evaluate and obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the assessed 

risk of material misstatement due to fraud;

• To identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements 

due to fraud; and

• To report fraud to an appropriate authority outside the entity where there is a 

suspected or actual instance suggesting dishonesty or fraud.  

The auditor would also report to those charged with governance subject to “tipping-off” 

provisions under anti-money laundering legislation.  FRAUD

Opportunity

Rationalisation/ 
attitude

Pressure/ 
incentive

We will continue to consider fraud throughout the audit process and will discuss with the Audit Committee. We will liaise with management to determine

any actual, suspected or alleged fraud known to them. We will discuss with management any knowledge they have of suspected or alleged fraud.

We will consider management’s process for identifying and responding to the risks of fraud, including the nature, extent and frequency of such

assessments. We ask that Board members advise us if they do not concur with the assessment made by management in your management representation

letter to us.

The key questions we are required to ask the trustees are as follows:

• Are you aware of any instances of actual, suspected or alleged fraud?; 

• What are your processes for identifying and responding to the risk of fraud?; and

• What communication is made with the Audit Committee and the Board with regards to processes for identifying and responding to the risk of fraud?

FRAUD

Contents

Appendices contents

Trustee’s responsibilities

Our responsibilities

Fraud

Communication

Audit quality

Letter of representation

Letter of representation

Letter of representation

Letter of representation

Looking Forwards contents

Financial Reporting and 

governance

Financial Reporting and 

governance

Financial Reporting and 

governance

TAX

TAX

Charity financial and regulatory

Charity financial and regulatory

P
age 132



35 | BDO LLPBridge House Estates audit completion report for the year ended 31 March 2020

COMMUNICATION WITH YOU

Those Charged with Governance (TCWG)

References in this report to Those Charged With Governance are to the Audit 

& Risk Management Committee acting on behalf of the Trustee. For the 

purposes of our communication with those charged with governance you 

have agreed we will communicate primarily with the Audit and Risk 

Management Committee.

Communication, meetings and feedback

We request feedback from you on our planning and completion report to 

promote two way communication throughout the audit process and to ensure 

that all risks are identified and considered; and at completion that the 

results of the audit are appropriately considered. 

We have met with management throughout the audit process. We have 

issued regular updates driving the audit process with clear and timely 

communication, bringing in the right resource and experience to ensure 

efficient and timely resolution of issues.

COMMUNICATION

Contents

Appendices contents

Trustee’s responsibilities

Our responsibilities

Fraud

Communication

Audit quality

Letter of representation

Letter of representation

Letter of representation

Letter of representation

Looking Forwards contents

P
age 133



36 | BDO LLPBridge House Estates audit completion report for the year ended 31 March 2020

BDO is totally committed to audit quality

It is a standing item on the agenda of BDO’s Leadership Team who, in 

conjunction with the Audit Stream Executive (which works to implement 

strategy and deliver on the audit stream’s objectives), monitor the actions 

required to maintain a high level of audit quality within the audit stream and 

address findings from external and internal inspections. 

BDO welcomes feedback from external bodies and is committed to 

implementing a necessary actions to address their findings.

We recognise the importance of continually seeking to improve audit quality 

and enhancing certain areas. Alongside reviews from a number of external 

reviewers, the AQR (the Financial Reporting Council’s Audit Quality Review 

team), QAD (the ICAEW Quality Assurance Department) and the PCAOB 

(Public Charity Accounting Oversight Board who oversee the audits of US 

companies), the firm undertakes a thorough annual internal Audit Quality 

Assurance Review and as member firm of the BDO International network we 

are also subject to a quality review visit every three years. 

We have also implemented additional quality control review processes for all 

listed and public interest audits. 

More details can be found in our Transparency Report at www.bdo.co.uk

AUDIT QUALITYAUDIT QUALITY

Contents

Appendices contents

Trustee’s responsibilities

Our responsibilities

Fraud

Communication

Audit quality

Letter of representation

Letter of representation

Letter of representation

Letter of representation

Looking Forwards contents

P
age 134



37 | BDO LLPBridge House Estates audit completion report for the year ended 31 March 2020

LETTER OF REPRESENTATION

TO BE TYPED ON YOUR HEADED NOTEPAPER

BDO LLP

2 City Place

Beehive Ring Road

Gatwick

West Sussex, RH6 0PA

Dear Madams/Sirs

Financial Statements of Bridge House Estates for the year ended 31 March 2020

We confirm that the following representations given to you in connection with your audit of the charity’s financial statements (the “financial statements”) for 

the year ended 31 March 2020 are made to the best of our knowledge and belief, and after having made appropriate enquiries of Members and officials of the 

charity.

We have fulfilled our responsibilities as the Trustee for the preparation and presentation of the financial statements as set out in the terms of the audit 

engagement letter, and in particular that the financial statements give a true and fair view of the financial position of charity as at 31 March 2020 and of the 

results of the charity’s operations and cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with the applicable financial reporting framework and for making 

accurate representations to you.

We have provided you with unrestricted access to persons within the entity from whom you determined it necessary to obtain audit evidence. In addition, all 

the accounting records of the charity have been made available to you for the purpose of your audit and all the transactions undertaken by the charity have 

been properly reflected and recorded in the accounting

Going concern

We have made an assessment of the charity’s ability to continue as a going concern for a period of at least twelve months from the date on which the financial 

statements were approved for release. As a result of our assessment we consider that the charity is able to continue to operate as a going concern and that it is 

appropriate to prepare the financial statements on a going concern basis. 

In making our assessment, we considered the financial impact of Covid-19. We have appropriately disclosed the inherent uncertainty in our operating 

environment and its impact on our going concern assessment in our financial statements and narrative reports. 

Having performed our assessment we were able to conclude that the charity is able to continue to operate as a going concern and that it is appropriate to 

prepare the financial statements on a going concern basis.  

In making our assessment we did not consider there to be any material uncertainty relating to events or conditions that individually or collectively may cast 

significant doubt on the charity’s ability to continue as a going concern.

Contents

Appendices contents

Trustee’s responsibilities

Our responsibilities

Fraud

Communication

Audit quality

Letter of representation

Letter of representation

Letter of representation

Letter of representation

Looking Forwards contents

P
age 135



38 | BDO LLPBridge House Estates audit completion report for the year ended 31 March 2020

LETTER OF REPRESENTATION

Laws and regulation

In relation to those laws and regulations which provide the legal framework within which our business is conducted and which are central to our ability to 

conduct our business, we have disclosed to you all instances of possible non-compliance of which we are aware and all actual or contingent consequences 

arising from such instances of non-compliance.  

Post balance sheet events

There have been no events since the balance sheet date which either require changes to be made to the figures included in the financial statements or to be 

disclosed by way of a note.  Should any material events of this type occur, we will advise you accordingly.

Fraud and error

We are responsible for adopting sound accounting policies, designing, implementing and maintaining internal control, to, among other things, help assure the 

preparation of the financial statements in conformity with generally accepted accounting principles and preventing and detecting fraud and error.

We have considered the risk that the financial statements may be materially misstated due to fraud and have identified no significant risks.

To the best of our knowledge we are not aware of any fraud or suspected fraud involving management or employees.  Additionally, we are not aware of any 

fraud or suspected fraud involving any other party that could materially affect the financial statements.

To the best of our knowledge we are not aware of any allegations of fraud or suspected fraud affecting the financial statements that have been 

communicated by employees, former employees, analysts, regulators or any other party.

Misstatements

We attach a schedule showing uncorrected misstatements that you identified, which we acknowledge that you request we correct. Where appropriate we 

have explained our reasons for not correcting such misstatements below. 

In our opinion, the effects of not correcting such identified misstatements are, both individually and in the aggregate, immaterial to the financial statements 

as a whole.

Related party transactions

We have disclosed to you the identity of all related parties and all the related party relationships and transactions of which we are aware.  We have 

appropriately accounted for and disclosed such relationships and transactions in accordance with the requirements of the applicable accounting framework.

Other than as disclosed in note 27 to the financial statements, there were no loans, transactions or arrangements between the charity and the charity’s 

Trustee or their connected persons at any time in the year which were required to be disclosed.

In the opinion of the Trustee the charity has no controlling party.

Carrying value and classification of assets and liabilities

We have no plans or intentions that may materially affect the carrying value or classification of assets or liabilities reflected in the financial statements.

Contents

Appendices contents

Trustee’s responsibilities

Our responsibilities

Fraud

Communication

Audit quality

Letter of representation

Letter of representation

Letter of representation

Letter of representation

Looking Forwards contents

P
age 136



39 | BDO LLPBridge House Estates audit completion report for the year ended 31 March 2020

LETTER OF REPRESENTATION

Accounting estimates 

1. Pension fund assumptions

We confirm that the actuarial assumptions underlying the valuation of the Local Government Pension Scheme (LGPS) as applied by the scheme actuary, are 

reasonable and consistent with our knowledge of the business. These assumptions include: 

• Rate of inflation (CPI): 1.9% 

• Rate of inflation (RPI): 2.7%

• Rate of increase in salaries: 2.9% 

• Rate of increase in pensions: 1.9% 

• Rate of discounting scheme liabilities: 2.35%  

We also confirm that the actuary has applied up-to-date mortality tables for life expectancy of scheme members in calculating scheme liabilities.

2. Valuation of investment properties 

The Charity’s property investment portfolio has been valued by Cushman and Wakefield and Savills in accordance with the RICS Global Standards 2020 as at 

31 March 2020, based on tenancy and rental information that was correct at that date.  We acknowledge the material uncertainty that accompanied the 

valuations from Cushman and Savills, and confirm the disclosures given in the financial statements are sufficient to bring a readers attention to this. 

3. Valuation of private equity investments

We confirm that private equity investments are valued based on the latest available information from the individual private investment fund managers as at 

31 March 2020 and therefore represent fair value of the funds as at the balance sheet date.

We confirm that no subsequent event requires adjustment to the accounting estimates and disclosures included in the financial statements. 

Litigation and claims

We have disclosed to you all known actual or possible litigation and claims whose effects should be considered when preparing the financial statements and 

these have been accounted for and disclosed in accordance with the requirements of accounting standards.

Serious incident reports

We confirm that no serious incident reports have been made to the Charity Commission during the period or since the end of the period.

Charity income

All grants, donations and other income, the receipt of which is subject to specific terms or conditions, have been notified to you.  There have been no 

breaches of terms or conditions during the period in the application of such income.

Contents

Appendices contents

Trustee’s responsibilities

Our responsibilities

Fraud

Communication

Audit quality

Letter of representation

Letter of representation

Letter of representation

Letter of representation

Looking Forwards contents

P
age 137



40 | BDO LLPBridge House Estates audit completion report for the year ended 31 March 2020

LETTER OF REPRESENTATION

Confirmation

We confirm that the above representations are made on the basis of enquiries of management and staff with relevant knowledge and experience (and, where 

appropriate, of inspection of supporting documentation) sufficient to satisfy ourselves that we can properly make each of the above representations to you.

We confirm that the financial statements are free of material misstatements, including omissions.

We acknowledge our legal responsibilities regarding disclosure of information to you as auditors and confirm that so far as we are aware, there is no relevant 

audit information needed by you in connection with preparing your audit report of which you are unaware.  Each trustee has taken all the steps that they 

ought to have taken as a trustee in order to make themselves aware of any relevant audit information and to establish that you are aware of that 

information.

Yours faithfully

Peter Kane

(Signed on behalf of the Trustee)

Date: …………………….

Contents

Appendices contents

Trustee’s responsibilities

Our responsibilities

Fraud

Communication

Audit quality

Letter of representation

Letter of representation

Letter of representation

Letter of representation

Looking Forwards contents

P
age 138



LOOKING FORWARDS

Please note that we have issued a separate comprehensive publication : CHARITIES & COVID-19.

This is available on our website https://www.bdo.co.uk/en-gb/home, and is updated regularly.

We have attached a copy of the latest version separately.

The following developments are therefore of general application to all larger charities, and are

included because we recognise that trustees often have an interested in the wider sector.

However, we particularly draw attention to the following paragraphs which are of particular

relevance:

P
age 139

https://www.bdo.co.uk/en-gb/home


Financial Reporting and Governance 

SORP Accounts 41

Annual Reports – Section 172 requirements 41

Annual Reports - Streamlined Energy and Carbon Reporting 

(SECR) 
41

Dealing with uncertainty 42

Governance 42

Internal audit 42

Going concern 43

Matters of Material Significance 43

Draft amendments to FRS 105 43

Tax

Gift aid 44

Off payroll labour 44

Social Investment Tax relief 44

Employment taxes 45

Reverse charge VAT for construction services 45

VAT on electronic publications 45

Advertising relief changes 45

Charity financial and regulatory 

Serious incident Reporting 46

Corporate Insolvency and Governance Act 46

Regulating in the public interest 46

Fundraising regulation 47

Complaints 47

Cookie compliance 47

LOOKING FORWARDS CONTENTS

P
age 140



43

SORP Accounts

A second edition of the Charities SORP (FRS 102) (2019) was issued in December 2019 It is effective for reporting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2019, but picks up matters that have already been 

addressed through bulletins or information sheets. For completeness the second edition reflects the following points: 

• the requirement for the preparation of a statement of cash flows by larger charities

• the requirement for comparative information to be provided for all amounts presented in the current period’s financial statements, including the notes.

• the requirement for gift aid payments made by a subsidiary to its parent to be accounted for as distributions, akin to a dividend

• the requirement for major components of an item of property, plant and equipment that have significantly different useful economic lives to be depreciated separately over their useful economic life

• an accounting policy choice for entities that rent investment property to another group entity whereby they can choose to measure that investment property using the cost model or fair value

• the  requirement for an entity to disclose a net debt reconciliation.

Annual Reports 

With effect from accounting periods starting 1 January 2019, all large companies (2 out of 3 of the following: income over £36m, total assets over £18m, 250 employees) are required to make a new 

statement (s.172 statement). This addresses the need for directors to promote the success of the company with regard to their employees, business relationships, community and environment, standards of 

conduct, fairness and long-term decision making. Information Sheet 3: The Companies (Miscellaneous Reporting) Regulations 2018 and UK Company Charities - has been issued on behalf of the Sorp setting 

bodies. The information sheet address three new requirements:

• How a company has acted to promote the success of the company – the information sheet equates success to achieving the charity’s objects

• How directors have engaged with employees – the information sheet suggests that this should also cover volunteers

• How directors have engaged with suppliers and customers – the information sheet widens this to other stakeholders  such as service users, beneficiaries, funders and the wider community

Other reporting requirements now include:

• Ratio comparing CEO pay to 25th, 50th and 75th percentile pay levels for UK employees ( applies to all quoted companies with > 250 UK employees)

• Wates corporate governance principles (applies to all companies with more than 2,000 employees, or turnover over £200m,and a balance sheet of more than £2 billion – charitable companies are exempt 

from this requirement).  We consider the Charity Governance Code is more appropriate for the sector.

Streamlined Energy and Carbon Reporting (SECR), Sorp Information Sheet 5 

Information Sheet 5 addresses how charities are to address the Streamlined Energy and  Carbon Reporting requirements. Key points are as follows:

• The reporting requirements apply to charitable companies that meet the criteria of “large”, i.e.  if two or more of the following qualifying conditions are met for two years: Gross annual income of more 

than £36 million; Gross (total) assets of more than £18 million; More than 250 employees.

• The requirements apply to reporting periods starting on or after 1 April 2019.

• Companies are required to report their UK energy use and associated greenhouse gas emissions as a minimum relating to gas, electricity and transport fuel, as well as an intensity ratio and information 

relating to energy efficiency action, through their annual reports in the directors’ report.This should be included in the “Achievements and Performance” section of the trustees’ annual report, or the 

information could be reported in a separate environmental report provided it is clearly marked as the relevant part of the charitable companies’ directors’ report. 

• The report should cover: UK energy use, associated greenhouse gas emissions, at least one intensity ratio, previous year’s information, information about energy efficiency action, methodologies used in 

the calculation of disclosures. There are exemptions for companies with low energy use, or where disclosures are seriously prejudicial, or where it is not practicable to obtain the information.

• Associates are excluded from “group” definition for these reports.

The final Statutory Instrument introducing the changes (SI 2018/1155) is available on legislation.gov.uk. In addition, the Department for Environment, Food and Rural Affairs (DEFRA) has issued Environmental 

Reporting Guidelines to assist companies preparing for the new requirements.

FINANCIAL REPORTING AND GOVERNANCE

P
age 141

http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2018/1155/made
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/791529/Env-reporting-guidance_inc_SECR_31March.pdf


44

Dealing with uncertainty

The Financial Reporting Council Lab has provided guidance on topics investors expect to see considered as elements of uncertainty over the next 12 months. We reproduce these below – they need adapting to 

individual charity’s circumstances:

• Timing of resumption of operations.

• Further restrictions that limit the return to normal operations.

• Restrictions placed on government (or other) capital.

• Timing and continuation of government schemes and support packages.

• The outcome of capital raising actions, discussions with banks, and landlords( NB for charities consider major appeals)

• Short-term impacts of pricing changes to revenue and expenses.

• Impacts on human capital, the supply chain and customers.

Governance

In two reports published in March and June into major charities, the Charity Commission highlighted some key themes of general application:

• Poor workplace culture which let down complainants, staff and the wider public 

• Handling of the complaints so poor that it amounted to mismanagement 

• Failure to consistently follow  own processes when staff members made allegations of inappropriate conduct

• Dealing with complaints informally, rather than to investigate them fully

• The whole trustee body not being made aware of important issues as early as it should be

• Over-dependence on committees without rigorous oversight

• Trustees’ failure to understand and manage safeguarding risks or make this a key governance priority

The Charity Commission has also  issued a regulatory alert to large service-delivery charities. Their recommendations include:

• Maintaining a strategy for regular communication with senior staff

• Identifying and managing risk

• Reviewing governance and management committees to ensure they provided the relevant skills and oversight

• Putting in place transparent and effective systems for handling complaints

• Having systems to report “significant incidents” to the board

• Monitoring contracts with suppliers to make sure the charity is confident about how third parties will carry out their work.

Internal audit

A new Code of Practice was issued by the Chartered Institute of Internal Auditors in January. The Code builds on existing Standards and seeks to increase the effectiveness of internal audit by clarifying 

expectations and requirements. A key development in the consultation phase was the growing recognition of the need for proportionality: this will be especially relevant to charities.  The code is set out over 

9 headings, covering such areas as scope, reporting, independence and relationships with boards and external auditors. This is the first Internal Audit Code produced for general application for private and 

third sector organisations. 

FINANCIAL REPORTING AND GOVERNANCE

P
age 142



45

FINANCIAL REPORTING AND GOVERNANCE

Going concern

The Financial Reporting Council (FRC) has issued a revised going concern standard in response to recent Enforcement cases and well-publicised corporate failures where the auditor’s report failed to highlight 

concerns about the prospects of entities which collapsed shortly after. The new standard is effective for audits of financial statements for periods commencing on or after 15 December 2019.

The revised standard (ISA UK 570 Going Concern) follows concerns about the quality and rigour of audit and increases the work auditors are required to do when assessing whether an entity is a going concern. 

It means UK auditors will follow significantly stronger requirements than those required by current international standards.

The FRC hopes that UK experience will lead to further strengthening of requirements at the international level.

The revised standard requires: 

• greater work on the part of the auditor to more robustly challenge management’s assessment of going concern, thoroughly test the adequacy of the supporting evidence and evaluate the risk of 

management bias;

• improved transparency with a new reporting requirement for the auditor of public interest entities, listed and large private companies to provide a clear, positive conclusion on whether management’s 

assessment is appropriate, and to set out the work they have done in this respect; and

• a stand back requirement to consider all of the evidence obtained, whether corroborative or contradictory, when the auditor draws their conclusions on going concern.

Matters of Material Significance

The Charity Commission has revised its guidance on the auditors’ duty to report on Matters of Material Significance. In particular they state that difficulties in undertaking an audit purely caused by the 

impact of COVID-19 do not constitute reportable events. They clarify that our reports should be made as soon as possible and, in the case of a modified opinion, at the time of signing and that we should refer 

to trustees’ behaviour where it has impacted on the timing of our report. The guidance also makes clear that internal audit is not covered by this regime, except in the rare situation where the same firm is 

providing both internal and external services.

Draft amendments to FRS 105: COVID -19 related rent concessions

Our separate publication : CHARITIES  & COVID-19 also covers this topic. FRED 76 proposes the accounting treatments for temporary rent concessions for operating leases occurring as a direct consequence of 

the COVID-19 pandemic, and within a limited timeframe. They shall be recognised over the period the concession is intended to compensate, reflecting the economic substance of the concessions and their 

temporary nature. The proposals in FRED 76 are expected to apply to accounting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2020. In both cases early application will be permitted.

P
age 143



46

TAX

Gift aid

It is possible to add Gift Aid to eligible donations via Facebook Donate. However, there has been some uncertainty as to whether HMRC would accept Gift Aid claims on donations received via Facebook due to

concerns about the audit trail. For this reason HMRC has suggested that charities do not process claims Gift Aid claims on Facebook Donations at this time.

HMRC have previously suggested that gift aid declarations should include forenames of donors, rather than just initials. Originally that proposal would have been effective from April. Although the proposal

has been dropped, HMRC are encouraging charities to provide them with full forenames wherever possible. This is so that they can trace donors and ensure there is enough “tax to cover”. Charities should

review what information they hold and include this detail in their gift aid claims, and try to collect this information in future.

Off payroll labour

The changes to the off-payroll rules were due to come into effect on 6 April 2020. This has now been delayed until April 2021 because of the spread of the coronavirus (COVID-19) pandemic.

The delay is to help businesses and individuals deal with the economic impact of COVID-19. The delay to the introduction of the changes is not a cancellation.

Any entity (aside from those regarded as small) engaging the services of workers via Personal Service Companies (PSC), or other intermediaries including partnerships and LLPs, is required to introduce 

processes for assessing whether the workers are ‘deemed employees’ and formally notify the workers of this assessment. Where the workers are regarded as ‘deemed employees’ the entity paying the PSC is 

required to operate PAYE and NIC (and Apprenticeship Levy if relevant) when processing payments. Recognising that this is a difficult area HMRC has published a self help guide and a communications guide.

Charities are reminded that the definition of “turnover”, one of the three tests to determine the size of an organisation, is intended to have the same meaning as provided for in the Companies Act (2006). 

This is for “turnover” to reflect trading income from which an organisation would report as a profit or a loss, or income and expenditure. HMRC has previously stated that for charities “turnover” does not 

include donations and other voluntary income which does not arise from the provision of goods and services.

Social Investment Tax Relief (SITR).

This relief was introduced to encourage individuals to invest in qualifying social enterprises. The relief is subject to a ‘sunset’ provision, such that without further legislation the relief will end for investments 

made after 5 April 2021. Due to the low take up of this relief, this appears to be likely. SITR offers a 30% upfront tax relief to investors in charities and other social enterprises. Charities may wish to explore 

this source of fundraising whilst it is available, and to encourage its use.

P
age 144



47

TAX

Employment taxes

HMRC has published a new version of “How to tax living accommodation given to employees”. This represents a consolidation of guidance, not a change in the rules. The contents are as follows:

• Basis of liability and exemptions

• Provision of living accommodation ‘by reason of employment’

• The cost of providing living accommodation

• Substitution of market value for cost

• Calculation of cash equivalent: accommodation costs £75,000 or less

• Calculation of cash equivalent: accommodation costs £75,000 or less: lease premiums

• Calculation of cash equivalent: accommodation costs over £75,000

• Annual value equal to open market rental value of the accommodation

• Accommodation provided to more than one employee

• Provision of benefits or facilities connected with living accommodation

• Deduction for business expenses

• Optional remuneration arrangements.

Reverse charge VAT for construction services 

From 1 March 2021, a VAT-registered business, which supplies certain construction services to another VAT-registered business for onward sale, is required to issue a VAT invoice stating that the service is 

subject to the domestic reverse charge. However, it is the recipient that must account for the VAT due on that supply through its VAT return, instead of paying the VAT amount to the supplier. The recipient 

may recover that VAT amount as input tax, subject to the normal rules. These rules apply equally to charities who are involved in property transactions. Many Charities may also be asked by suppliers to 

certify whether they are deemed to be an ‘end user’ for the purposes of the legislation. We would recommend taking advice before completing any such certification.

VAT on electronic publications

With effect from 1 May 2020 the zero rate of VAT is applied to e-publications: e-books, e-newspapers, e-magazines and academic e-journals are  entitled to the same VAT treatment as their physical

equivalents.  The Government expects suppliers to pass on the cost saving to their customers. However, supplies to EU consumers are still liable to VAT in the customer’s country. Until the UK leaves the EU 

VAT regime, UK suppliers can use the UK VAT MOSS to account for EU VAT, but after this they will have to use the VAT MOSS system of another EU country. Guidance was issued in August by HMRC on the VAT 

liability of supplies of certain electronic publications (e-publications) that became zero-rated from 1 May 2020. Guidance topics include: Determining what is an e-publication, determining whether an e-

publication is “predominantly” devoted to advertising, audio or video content, E-audiobooks, subscriptions to access multiple e-publications, supply of intellectual property in e-publications, supplies of 

standalone digital music manuscripts maps and charts, and treatment of supplies of e-publications that span 1 May 2020.

Advertising relief changes

HMRC are taking a less restrictive stance on electronic charity advertising. Charities are able to buy in advertising free from VAT, but the relief is not available for direct mailing or advertising that is targeted 

to an individual. HMRC’s view originally was that any form of electronic profiling or targeting, such as that commonly used in social media, meant that the relief for charities was not available. HMRC now 

accept that their view was too restrictive and that it is necessary to review the detail of each type of advertising service when considering whether the relief can apply. 

P
age 145



48

Serious Incident and Event Reporting 

Although the legislation has not changed on these requirements since last year, our dealings with the regulators indicates that this continues to be a major focus. Major charities, especially, are seen to be 

the exception if they are not reporting incidents. In England and Wales reporting is now conducted on line: this reduces the amount of detail that can be provided in an initial report but is designed to enable 

the regulator to begin to provide more useful feedback on reporting trends. 

The Charity Commission has updated its guidance on serious incident reporting in to help trustees to decide if they need to report an incident that is related to Covid-19. Taking action to meet government 

rules should not normally be considered to be a significant incident in itself, neither are financial losses related to the pandemic. Trustees should instead focus on the significance of the impact of any actions 

or losses. Where trustees consider reporting an incident but decide not to report it, they should keep a brief record of their decision and the reasons for it

In January the Scottish Regulator also updated its guidance on reporting Significant Events. What constitutes a significant impact will depend on the size and nature of your charity. It will be up to the charity 

trustees to decide whether or not the event is serious enough to be reported.  The OSCR’s guidance explains what each of these events is, and gives one example of each.

Corporate Insolvency and Governance Act

This new legislation applies to charities that are limited companies or CIOs. It gives entities the right to apply for more time to avoid debt enforcement action, and limits the rights of contractors to terminate 

supply agreements with charities. The Act also temporarily suspends some provisions in order to reduce the risk that trustees are personally liable during the crisis, with a revision of the wrongful trading 

provisions and restrictions on winding up petitions where a charity cannot pay its bills as a result of the pandemic. It also introduces new procedures to help viable charities restructure if they are struggling 

with debt. There is no  change in the position as relates to trustees of unincorporated charities – usually simply referred to as ‘Trusts’. We have issued further guidance on this important topic which may be 

found: https://www.bdo.co.uk/en-gb/insights/advisory/business-restructuring/trustee-duties-and-insolvency-law-new-options-charities.

Regulating in the public interest

This report, produced by the Charity Commission and Populus in June, draws together the main findings of  previous research to offer a better understanding of the public’s and trustees’ views on charities 

and the Charity Commission. It concludes that the public expect that:

• a high proportion of charities’ money be used for charitable activity; 

• charities make the impact they promise;

• charities go about making that impact in a way which is consistent with the spirit of ‘charity’; and

• all charities understand their collective responsibility to uphold that spirit. 

The report says that these demands are both reasonable and widely held. We believe that trustees should take them into account in their management of charities, and in reporting on their activities. We 

have produced a more comprehensive resume for trustees which also considers the implications for annual reports.  The full report can be accessed here: 

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/891221/Regulating_in_the_public_interest_research_report.pdf

CHARITY FINANCIAL AND REGULATORY

P
age 146

https://www.bdo.co.uk/en-gb/insights/advisory/business-restructuring/trustee-duties-and-insolvency-law-new-options-charities


49

Fundraising Regulation 

The Fundraising Regulator has published guidance to help charities fully comply with the fundraising reporting requirements in the Charities (Protection and Social Investment) Act 2016 (the Act).

Under the Act, registered charities which have their accounts audited (where gross income is over £1 million), are required to provide a statement on fundraising in their annual reports. The requirements are 

designed to reinforce responsibility and accountability for fundraising and encourages charities to demonstrate their commitment to protecting donors and the public, including people in vulnerable 

circumstances, from poor fundraising practices.

The new guidance has been published following a review of 106 annual reports filed with the Charity Commission which found that only 40% of charities included an adequate fundraising statement to meet 

the requirements in the Act. 

The guidance includes information on:

• what the fundraising statement should consist of;

• examples of a fully compliant report;

• expectations from the Charity Commission; and 

• what charities can expect from auditors and independent examiners. 

To access the guidance - https://www.fundraisingregulator.org.uk/more-from-us/resources/charities-protection-and-social-investment-act-2016-good-practice-guidance

Complaints

The Charity Commission has published findings based on an analysis of 600 complaints received between April and June 2019. The key points arising were as follows:

• People who complain are usually people you know

• Lack of accountability increases the likelihood of a complaint to the regulator.

• Show conflicts of interest are managed – transparency is vital

• “How you do something is as important as what you do” - good practice, appropriate attitudes and behaviour need to be embedded, to become part of a charity’s expected norms. 

• Handling a bad situation well does a lot to inspire trust

• When a charity does not have a good story, people rightly ask questions

• Don’t take charitable status and the public’s support, for granted

• True accountability means doing more than going through the motions 

They cite accounts which are very basic, where a report contained minimal detail, and were identical every year as a poor example of accountability.

Cookie compliance

We have recently conducted research into larger charities’ compliance with the ICO’s guidance on website cookies. Taking into consideration all requirements relating to the use of cookie banners, 

preference areas, a proper distinction between essential and non essential cookies, we found that less than 10% of charities were fully compliant. We recommend that, as websites are often updated, 

trustees should ensure this matter is kept under review.

CHARITY FINANCIAL AND REGULATORY

P
age 147



FOR MORE INFORMATION: The matters raised in our report prepared in connection with the audit are those we 

believe should be brought to your attention. They do not purport to be a complete record 

of all matters arising. This report is prepared solely for the use of the Charity and may not 

be quoted nor copied without our prior written consent. No responsibility to any third 

party is accepted.

BDO is an award winning UK member firm of BDO International, the world’s fifth largest 

accountancy network, with more than 1,500 offices in over 160 countries.

BDO LLP is a corporate establishment under the Limited Liability Partnership Act 2000 and 

a UK Member Firm of BDO International. BDO Northern Ireland, a separate partnership, 

operates under a licence agreement. BDO LLP and BDO Northern Ireland are both 

separately authorised and regulated by the Financial Conduct Authority to conduct 

investment business.

© [date to be included] BDO LLP. All rights reserved.

www.bdo.co.uk

Fiona Condron

t: +44(0)1293 591 102

m: +44(0)7979 706 565

e: fiona.condron@bdo.co.uk

P
age 148



Committee(s): 
Audit and Risk Management Committee – For 
Information 
 

Date(s): 
01/10/2020 
 

Subject: 
Internal Audit Update Report 

 

Public 
 

Report of: 
Head of Audit and Risk Management 

For Information 

Report author: 
Matt Lock 

 
 

Summary 
 

This report provides an update on Internal Audit activity since the last Internal Audit 
Update Report presented to this Committee in July 2020.  The report summarises 
work completed and progress against the 2020/21 Internal Audit Plan.  Delivery of 
which has been indirectly impacted by the Coronavirus pandemic. 
 
Finally, the report describes the findings of Audit follow-up work completed to verify 
the implementation of Audit recommendations. 
 

Recommendation(s) 
 
Members are asked to: 
 

▪ Note the report. 
 

Main Report 
 

Background 
 
1. This report provides a cumulative update on the work of Internal Audit since 1 

April 2020, building on the progress report made to the last meeting of the Audit 
and Risk Management Committee on 14 July 2020.  The report also summarises 
the findings of work completed since the July update. 

 
Current Position 
 
2. 4 Final Audit Reports have been issued since the July update, bringing the total 

to 19 since 1 April 2020.  1 Green Assurance ratings was given, 2 Amber 
Assurance ratings and one Red Assurance Rating.  Those audit reviews are 
summarised in the table below: 
 
 
 
 

Page 149

Agenda Item 12



  

Recommendations 
Made 

Department/Audit Assurance 
Rating 

Red Amber Green 

Chamberlain's IT - SharePoint/Digital Content Management Amber 0 3 1 

Chamberlain's IT - Software Lifecycle Management Red 1 1 0 

Chamberlain's IT -Direct Access Green 0 1 2 

Markets and Consumer Protection - Heathrow Animal Reception 
Centre and Animal Welfare 

Amber 0 5 6 

 
Appropriate management action plans are in place to address recommendations 
made, the Red recommendation raised relates to the following: 

 
Chamberlain’s IT - Software Lifecycle Management (one Red Recommendation) 
 
3. Examination of the master record of IT applications identified a significant number 

of cases where the latest software version was not recorded.  In some 28 of 
these instances, the developer support for the applications had already expired, 
yet the applications remain active on our domain.  Furthermore, a weakness was 
identified in the policy that suggests the operation of the oldest supported version 
of an application, rather than insisting on the latest release.  Maintaining up to 
date IT applications is a critical component of IT security, out of date applications 
may represent a network vulnerability. 
 

4. The Deputy IT Director undertook to resolve these issues by 31/12/2020 and 
noted that there would be a greater degree of automation in relation to updating a 
significant proportion of the application estate. 

 
Internal Audit Follow-up Activity 
 
5. 14 Internal Audit Follow-up reviews have been undertaken since July 2020 to 

assess progress in the implementation of Audit recommendations.  The outcome 
of those reviews is summarised below: 
 
▪ In 4 cases, all recommendations were found to be implemented, resulting in a 

Green revised assurance opinion 
▪ In 10 cases the follow-up review found that not all recommendations had been 

implemented, 6 of which were second or subsequent follow-up reviews. 
 

6. While not a satisfactory position to report such a high number of cases of non-
implementation, no escalation is made to Audit and Risk Committee in respect of 
these findings at this stage.  Instead, the Head of Audit and Risk Management 
has introduced an Internal Audit Follow-up Report, which is issued to Chief 
Officers on the completion of each follow-up, where further follow-up is 
necessary, the Chief Officer is advised that, should further testing find the 
recommendations still outstanding, the matter will be escalated to this Committee 
and their Service Committee Chairman.  This report promotes greater visibility for 
Chief Officers as to the status of Internal Audit recommendations and with clear 
information for them to address any issues raised with their management teams. 

Page 150



 
7. The full summary of outcomes from follow-up activity and the forward plan of 

follow-up work is shown at Appendix 1. 
 

Delivery of Planned Internal Audit Work 
 
8. As reported in July, progress in delivering the 2020/21 Internal Audit Plan has 

been impacted by the COVID-19 outbreak in so far as that it was not possible to 
work towards full delivery of the agreed programme of work for much of the first 5 
months of the year.  Reasons for this being increased pressure on services in 
response to the pandemic and delivery of some unplanned assurance work.  As 
agreed at the July meeting, the Head of Audit and Risk Management has 
engaged with a number of Chief Officers to reinforce the need to resume delivery 
of the Audit Plan at a pace more consistent with business as usual.  Discussions 
have been positive and Chief Officers have confirmed their support, this also 
gave an opportunity to consider the plan in light of recent events and also some 
measures to expedite the delivery of individual audit reviews. 
 

9. In addition to the finalised audits referred to above, work is in progress for 22 
planned audit reviews, two of which are at draft report stage.  A further 3 reviews 
are at the detailed planning stage.  The profile of delivery of work is quite different 
to what it would otherwise have been without the disruption of the pandemic, 
specifically, there is a far greater proportion of work in progress compared to 
work completed.  This is because the team have needed to initiate and are 
delivering more reviews consecutively than they would ordinarily, mitigating the 
impact on overall productivity of delays in the completion of work.   
 

10. A Senior Auditor has been appointed on a secondment basis up to 31 March 
2021, which boosts the capacity of the in-house team by approximately 90 days 
for the second half of the year.  
 

11. With the exception of IT Audit reviews, no work has been allocated to Mazars yet 
this year, it is anticipated that approximately 120 days work will be allocated in 
the coming month which will boost delivery across the remaining 6 months. 

 
12. It is now known that it is necessary to undertake a formal re-planning exercise to 

address a number of issues resulting from changing priorities and operations 
within the organisation, feasibility and practicality issues within some of the 
intended audit coverage, changes to resourcing and planning assumptions.  
Following completion of the Chief Officer consultations, a revised audit plan will 
be brought to the November meeting of this Committee.   

 
Conclusion 
 
13. Delivery of work against the 2019/20 Internal Audit Plan has been impacted by 

COVID-19 through a combination of reduced resources available and constraints 
on our ability to work with service departments during the pandemic.  Good 
progress is being made to increase the pace of delivery although it is now known 
that it is necessary to revise the Audit Plan for the second half of the year.   
 

Page 151



Appendices 
 

▪ Appendix 1 – Follow-up Programme of Activity 
▪ Appendix 2 – 2020/21 High-level Internal Audit Plan 

 
Matt Lock 
Head of Audit and Risk Management 
 
T: 020 7332 1276 
E: Matt.lock@cityoflondon.gov.uk 
 

Page 152

mailto:Matt.lock@cityoflondon.gov.uk


Follow-up Programme of Activity Appendix 1

Department Audit
Assurance 
Rating Red Amber Green

Follow-up 
Date Red Amber Green

Total 
Oustand
ing Recs 

Current 
Assurance 
Rating (30 June 
2020)

Chamberlain's - 2020-21 COMMERCIAL LEASES Amber 0 3 1 Completed 0 0 0 0 Green
Markets - 2020-21 ASYLUM SEEKERS Red 4 5 0 Completed 0 0 0 0 Green
Open Spaces 2019-20 DATA SECURITY Amber 0 2 4 Completed 0 0 0 0 Green
Markets COMMERCIAL EVENTS Green 0 0 0 Completed 0 0 0 0 Green
Barbican Centre IT - MOBILE DEVICES Amber 0 8 3 Completed 0 0 0 0 Green
City of London School for Girls COUNCIL TAX - all recs closed Green 0 0 1 Completed 0 0 0 0 Green
City Surveyors SCHOOL FEES Green 0 1 1 Completed 0 0 0 0 Green
City Surveyors ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT Amber 0 4 1 Completed 0 0 0 0 Green
Corporate Wide RESPONSIBLE BUSINESS STRATEGY Amber 0 4 0 Completed 0 0 0 0 Green
Corporate Wide CORPORATE-WIDE BUDGETARY CONTROL Amber 0 2 0 Completed 0 0 0 0 Green
Barbican Centre STUDENT PETTY CASH Green 0 3 8 Completed 0 0 0 0 Green
Corporate HR CLFS ENABLING WORKS Red 4 0 0 Completed 0 0 0 0 Green 
Corporate Wide ARTISTIC EVENTS DECISION-MAKING & EVALUATION Green 0 0 0 Not required 0 0 0 0 Green
Corporate Wide BUDGET-SETTING & FINANCIAL MONITORING Green 0 0 0 Not required 0 0 0 0 Green
Corporate Wide TRANSFORM CHANGE PROGRAMME PHASE 1 Green 0 0 0 Not required 0 0 0 0 Green
Corporate Wide SCHOOL EXPANSION PROJECT Amber N/A N/A N/A Not required N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A
Barbican Centre CYBER Red 2 11 0 May-20 1 0 0 1 Amber
City of London School STRATEGIC PLANNING, MONITORING & IMPLEMENTATION Amber 0 2 0 May-20 0 1 0 1 Amber
Barbican Centre BUDGET ESTIMATING Amber 0 2 0 May-20
City Surveyors CYBER SECURITY Red 3 11 0 Jun-20 1 3 0 4 Amber
Community and Children's Services CYBER SECURITY Red 3 12 1 Jun-20 0 3 0 3 Amber
Guildhall School FRAUD RISK MANAGEMENT Amber 0 7 4 Jun-20 0 2 0 2 Amber
Barbican Centre CORPORATE -WIDE - COMMERCIAL MANAGER SCORECARD PROCEDURES Amber 0 6 4 Jun-20 0 3 0 3 Amber  
Guildhall School CORPORATE-WIDE - SUPPLIERS FINANCIAL HEALTH/RESILIENCE Amber 0 6 2 Jun-20 0 0 0 0 Green 
City of London School for Girls FRONT DESKS Amber 1 4 0 Jun-20
Built Environment CORPORATE-WIDE HIGHWAYS REPAIRS AND MAINTENANCE CONTRACT Green 0 1 0 Jul-20 0 1 0 1 Green 
Chamberlain's INCOME GENERATION Amber 0 3 0 Jul-20 0 0 0 0 Green
Built Environment HEALTH & SAFETY Amber 0 2 0 Jul-20
City of London Police INTERPRETERS FEES Amber 0 2 2 Jul-20
Comptroller and City Solicitor KEATS HOUSE - INCOME AND EXPENDITURE Amber 1 1 5 Aug-20 1 1 5 7 Amber
City of London Police PROJECT TEAM Green 0 1 0 Aug-20
City of London Police MAJOR INCIDENT PLANNING Green 0 0 1 Aug-20
CLFS HUMAN RESOURCES - STAFF SICKNESS MANAGEMENT Amber 0 3 1 Sep-20 0 3 1 4 Amber
Barbican Centre PROCESS MAPS Green 0 0 4 Sep-20
Community and Children's Services PUBLIC SECTOR EQUALITIES DUTY Amber 0 3 1 Sep-20
Sir John Cass School Income collection and Banking Amber 0 5 5 Sep-20
Corporate HR HEATHROW ANIMAL CENTRE Amber 0 5 6 Sep-20
Open Spaces FLEET STREET Amber 0 2 0 Sep-20
Barbican Centre CLFS - KEY FINANCIAL CONTROLS Amber 0 2 0 Sep-20 0 1 1 0 Green
Barbican Centre BARBICAN RETAIL AND BARS Amber 1 9 1 Sep-20 0 4 0 4 Amber
Chamberlain's KEY CONTROL PROCESSES Amber 0 5 1 Oct-20 0 5 1 6 Amber
Chamberlain's FRAUD RISK MANAGEMENT Amber 0 3 1 Oct-20
Chamberlain's FIRE SAFETY RISK MANAGEMENT Amber 0 6 1 Oct-20

Recommendations Made Follow-up Outcome
Outstanding Issues

P
age 153



Follow-up Programme of Activity Appendix 1

Chamberlain's CASS CHILDREN & FAMILY CENTRE Amber 0 1 0 Oct-20
Chamberlain's IT ASSET MANAGEMENT Amber 0 17 4 Oct-20
Chamberlain's HARC and Animal Welfare Amber 0 5 6 Oct-20
City of London Freemens School EVENTS CONTRACTING (INCLUDING CANCELLATION ARRANGEMENTS) Amber 0 1 7 Nov-20
City of London School MAZARS - ITIL SERVICE DESK Green 0 0 3 Nov-20
City of London School MAZARS - SHAREPOINT Amber 0 3 1 Dec-20
City of London School for Girls MAZARS - FIREWALL/VPN Green 0 1 1 Dec-20
Town Clerk's FRAUD RISK MANAGEMENT Amber 0 6 1 Dec-20
Town Clerk's MAZARS - Software Devlepment Life Cycle (SDLC) Red 1 1 0 Jan-21
Chamberlain's - 2020-21 NNDR Green 0 0 2 Apr-21
Guildhall School BUDGET-SETTING & FINANCIAL MANAGEMENT Amber 0 1 1 TBC
Guildhall School FINANCIAL MONITORING Green 0 0 2 TBC
Police Authority MANAGEMENT OF FREEDOM OF INFORMATION REQUESTS Green 0 0 1 TBC
Sir John Cass School GDPR COMPLIANCE Amber 0 1 1 TBC

P
age 154



High-level Internal Audit Plan 2020/21 Appendix 2

Department Auditable Area Audit 
Days

Priority

Barbican Centre Health and Safety 15 1
Community and Children's Services Safeguarding (schools) 25 1
Community and Children's Services Lone Working 7 1
Town Clerks Community Safety and Resilience 12 1
Corporate Wide Infrastructure/Physical Security 15 1
Corporate Wide Climate Action/Air Quality 15 1
Community and Children's Services Joint Health and Wellbeing 12 1
Community and Children's Services Housing Tenancies 10 1
Built Environment Gigabit City 12 1
Open Spaces Department Wanstead Flats - Reservoir Management (risk mitigation) 3 1
Community and Children's Services Housing Fire Safety 12 1
Community and Children's Services Rough Sleepers 7 1
Community and Children's Services Unregulated Placements - Children 12 1
Corporate HR Gender/Equalities Pay Gap Reporting 7 1
Corporate Wide Major Projects Governance Arrangements 15 1
Town Clerks Innovation and Growth - Partnerships and Engagement 15 1
Markets and Consumer Protection Brexit Implications 15 1
Chamberlain's IT Business Continuity and Disaster Recovery 10 1
Town Clerks Corporate wide - Emergency Planning 20 1
Chamberlain's IT Cyber Security 20 1
City of London Police Grant Funding 12 1
City of London Police Key Financial Controls 20 1
City of London Police Transform 15 1
Police Authority Value for Money Scrutiny and Oversight 35 1
Chamberlain's IT Information Management 20 1
Chamberlain's Fundamental Review 25 1
Chamberlain's Accounts Receivable and Debt Management 15 1
Chamberlain's Development of a Corporate Finance Strategy - Debt Financing 12 1
Chamberlain's Corporate Contract Management 15 1
Chamberlain's Payroll 8 1
Chamberlain's Treasury Management 10 1

P
age 155



High-level Internal Audit Plan 2020/21 Appendix 2

Department Auditable Area Audit 
Days

Priority

City of London Police Procurement Cards 10 1
City of London Police Digital Policing 10 1
City of London Police Transform Phase 2 10 1
City Surveyor's Rents, Lettings and Vacancies 15 1
City Surveyor's Project Resourcing 12 1
City Surveyor's Operational Property Management 15 1
Corporate Wide Performance Management/Delivery of Business Plan Objectives (time allocation TBC) 15 1
Corporate Wide Safer City Partnership 15 1
Town Clerks City Bridge Trust - Grants Administration and Compliance with Strategy 15 1
Town Clerks Corporate Recruitment 15 2
Community and Children's Services Social Care Contract Monitoring 7 2
Barbican Centre Ticketing System 12 2
Barbican Centre Bars 7 2
Built Environment Waste Collection Income and Expenditure 8 2
Built Environment Planning Income and Expenditure 12 2
Built Environment Building Control Income and Expenditure 10 2
Chamberlain's Procurement Category Management - Governance and Effectiveness 7 2
Chamberlain's Suplier Resilience 12 2
Chamberlain's IT Data Storage 15 2
Chamberlain's IT Legacy Systems 10 2
City of London Freemen's School Financial Sustainability 8 2
City of London Police Management of Service Contracts 12 2
City of London Police Defendants Funds/Ceased Goods 7 2
City of London School Financial Sustainability 7 2
City of London School for Girls Financial Sustainability 7 2
Community and Children's Services Housing Rents 10 2
Corporate Wide Recruitment Moratorium 5 2
Corporate Wide P-Cards 25 2
Guildhall School of Music and Drama Governance 12 2
Guildhall School of Music and Drama Diversifying Funding / Fundraising 12 2
Guildhall School of Music and Drama Data Futures 12 2

P
age 156



High-level Internal Audit Plan 2020/21 Appendix 2

Department Auditable Area Audit 
Days

Priority

Guildhall School of Music and Drama Guildhall Young Artists 12 2
Guildhall School of Music and Drama Data Quality 10 2
Markets and Consumer Protection Fee Recovery - All sites 10 2
Markets and Consumer Protection Markets - Medium Term Financial Strategy 10 2
Open Spaces Department Entity Review 15 2
Open Spaces Department Department Wide - Wayleaves 12 2
Open Spaces Department Tower Bridge - Exhibition Income 12 2
Barbican Centre Off-Balance Sheet Assets 8 3
Community and Children's Services Barbican Estate Rents 10 3
Comptroller and City Solicitor Direct Charging for Legal Services 10 3
Mansion House and Central Criminal Court Premises Related Expenditure 10 3
Markets and Consumer Protection Contract Management 7 3
Markets and Consumer Protection Safe Disposal of ceased/condemned goods/food 10 3
Open Spaces Department Department Wide - Commercial Leases 8 3
Remembrancers Supplies and Services 8 3
Town Clerks Social Media 8 3
Town Clerks Guildhall Art Gallery - Income and Expenditure 12 3
Chamberlain's Chamberlain's Court Income 8 4
Community and Children's Services Libraries - Entity Review 10 4
Mansion House and Central Criminal Court Roger Gifford Trust Fund (Conservation of Art Collection) 5 4
Open Spaces Department Department Wide - Lodges 12 4
Town Clerks Guildhall Club Accounts 5 n/a
Corporate Wide Audit Follow-up Reviews 75 n/a

1082

P
age 157



T
his page is intentionally left blank

P
age 158



Committee(s) 

  
Audit and Risk Management Committee 

Date(s): 

  
01/10/2020 

Subject: 

Risk Update 

  

Public 

  

Report of: 

Chamberlain 

For Information 

 

Report author: 

Paul Dudley, Corporate Risk Manager 

 

  

 
Summary 

 
This report provides Committee with an update on the corporate and the top red 
departmental risk registers as well as information on the Covid-19 Thematic Group 
risks. Both the corporate and red departmental registers have been reviewed by the 
Chief Officer Risk Management Group (CORMG) on 8 September 2020. The Covid 
19 Recovery Group are responsible for reviewing the Thematic Group risk registers.  

A total of 397 risks (393 in June 2020) have been identified by departments providing 
a wide range of risks that may affect service delivery. This total does not include the 
42 (56 in June) Covid-19 Thematic Group risks, eight of which are red risks (nine in 
June 2020).  

There are currently 18 (19 in June 2020) corporate risks included on the corporate 
risk register of which there are eight red and nine amber and one green risks.  

At the 14th July 2020 Committee meeting Members agreed to endorse a new 
corporate risk of CR35 Unsustainable Medium-Term Finances (which replaced CR31 
Fundamental Review) and CR27 Change Management was de-escalated to the 
Town Clerk’s risk register. The only other change in the corporate risk register is that 
CR34 Covid19 risk score has increased from a red 16 to a red 24 following the 
recent increase in the rate of virus infections and the coming autumn/winter which 
may further exacerbate the situation.  

In relation to the CR26 Brexit risk, Chief Officers continue to monitor the situation 

and review the corporate risk as well as related departmental level risks. 

There are 29 (29 in June 2020) red departmental risks, however, there has been an 
increase in the number of these risks since the beginning of this year, most of which 
have arisen as a consequence of Covid19.  

 
Recommendations 

 
Members are asked to note the: 
 

1. risk report including changes to both corporate and top red departmental risk 

registers since June 2020. 

2. Covid -19 Thematic Group summary risk register.  

Page 159

Agenda Item 13



 
Main Report 

 
Background 
 
 
1. The corporate risk and top red departmental risk registers have been reviewed by 

the Chamberlain and the Chief Officer Risk Management Group (8 September 
2020).  

 
2. A total of 397 (393 in June 2019) wide ranging risks have been identified by 

departments – 54 red, 214 amber and 129 green risks at all levels. 
 

3. Of the 397 total risks, there are 18 corporate, and 29 red departmental level risks. 
There are another 95 amber and 42 green risks recorded at departmental level. 
The remaining 213 are recorded as service level risks. 

 
4. Held separately from the departmental risk registers are another 42 Covid-19 

Thematic Group risks maintained on the Pentana risk system (see para 17). 
These registers are reviewed by the Covid19 Recovery Group on a regular basis. 

 
Current Position  
 
 
5. There are currently 18 corporate risks (eight red, nine amber and one green) 

which includes the newly endorsed corporate risks of CR35 Unsustainable 
Medium-Term Finances (14 July 2020).  

 
6. Of the eight red risks there are six risks which are scored at red 24 (including the 

new CR35 risk). CORMG noted that some of these risks had remained at this 
score for some time and have now requested the Corporate Risk Manager 
engage with the risk owners to discuss their rationale for maintaining these risks 
at red 24. 

 
7. At the Committee meeting on 28 January 2020, it was agreed that at the first 

meeting after the end of each municipal year, the Committee would receive a 
detailed risk register of all corporate risks and at three other meetings during the 
year only, risks above appetite would be shown in detailed form plus a summary 
report provided. Attached, for this meeting as appendix 1, is the detailed 
corporate risk register showing risks above appetite as well as a summary risk 
report showing all corporate risks, attached as appendix 2. 

 
8. Members are asked to note that the corporate risks CR28 Action Fraud and 

CR34 Covid-19 (detailed reports) are presented in the Not for Publication part of 
the agenda (appendix 3). 

 
9. Table 1 below – List of current corporate risks as of 15th September 2020 

(ordered by risk score) and highlighting the risk assessment flight path. 
 

Page 160



 
 
Changes to the Corporate Risk register 
 
10. At the 14th July 2020 Committee meeting, Members agreed to endorse a new 

corporate risk of CR35 Unsustainable Medium-Term Finances (which replaced 
CR31 Fundamental Review) and de-escalate, to the Town Clerk’s risk register, 
CR27 Change Management as a departmental level risk.  

 
11. The only other change in the corporate risk register is CR34 Covid19 risk score 

which has increased from a red 16 to a red 24 following the recent increase in the 
rate of reported virus infections and the coming autumn/winter which may further 
exacerbate the situation. 

 
 
 
 

Risk 
reference 

Title Current 
Risk 
Score 

Current 
risk 
score 
icon 

Trend 
Icon 

Risk flight 
path (last 12 
assessments) 

CR34 COVID-19 24 
   

CR20 Road Safety 24    

CR24 Operational Security 24 
   

CR28 Action Fraud 24 
   

CR32 Wanstead Park Reservoirs (formerly OSD 
013) 

24    

CR35 Unsustainable Medium-Term Finances 24 
   

CR23 Police Funding 16    

CR33 Major Capital Schemes 16 
   

CR01 Resilience Risk 12 
   

CR02 Loss of Business Support for the City 12 
   

CR09 Health Safety and Wellbeing Risk 
(Management System) 

12    

CR16 Information Security (formerly CHB IT 030) 12    

CR21 Air Quality 12 
   

CR29 Information Management 12 
   

CR10 Adverse Political Developments 8 
   

CR17 Safeguarding 8 
   

CR26 Brexit - Organisational Impact 8 
   

CR30 Climate Action 4    

Page 161



Brexit 
 
12.  This risk relates to City Corporation services failing to prepare appropriately for 

the UK departure from the EU. Potential impacts include services being disrupted 
as supply chains and contracts are reassessed, potentially increasing cost and 
reprioritisation of resources; uncertainty over multi-year grants may undermine 
the City Corporation’s ability to deliver or commit to services; and the City 
Corporation may be unable to access the specialist talent and supply chains it 
needs to deliver some of its services. 

 
13. A strategy was prepared by the Brexit lead officer outlining the key short, medium 

and long-term considerations in preparing for Brexit. The risks and mitigations are 
reviewed by Summit Group. The City Corporation continues to engage with 
stakeholders at central, regional and local level, including providing information, 
when requested, to MHCLG via London Councils and the attendance of the Town 
Clerk & Chief Executive at meetings on Brexit preparedness with the GLA, 
London Councils and other stakeholders. 

 
14. The existing corporate risk CR26 Brexit, continues to be monitored along with the 

departmental Brexit risks by Chief Officers. 
 

Disposition of corporate risks on the risk matrix 
 

15. Table 3 below shows the disposition of corporate risks on the risk matrix between 
5th June to 15th September 2020. 

 
5th June 2020      15 September 2020 

 
 
Red Departmental level risks 
 
16. There are 29 departmental red risks (29 in June 2020).   As reported on 2 June 

2020 there has been an increase in the number of these risks since the beginning 
of this year, most of which have arisen as a consequence of Covid19. The 
Corporate Risk Manager is engaging with red risk departmental risk owners to 
discuss their rationale for scoring these risks with a red rating.  

 
 

Page 162



Covid19 Thematic Group Risks 
 
17. In addition to the CR34 Covid-19 corporate risk there are 42 (56 in June 2020) 

Thematic Group risks which include eight red risks, 29 amber and five green 
risks.  Attached as appendix 5 is a short summary report of all 42 Covid-19 
Thematic group risks included in the not for publication part of the agenda. 

 
18. These risks are largely operational in nature and change both in risk score and 

additions/removals from the registers on a frequent basis as highlighted during 
the CR34 Deep Dive discussion with Peter Lisley, City of London Corporation 
Gold on 2 June 2020.  

 
Conclusion 
 
19. The corporate and top red departmental risk registers were reviewed by the 

Chamberlain and the Chief Officer Risk Management Group 0n 8 September 
2020. The Covid19 Recovery Group regularly review the Thematic Group risk 
registers. This provides additional assurance to the Summit Group, COG and the 
Audit and Risk Management Committee that corporate and top red departmental 
risks (as well as the Covid19 Thematic Group red risks) are being appropriately 
and being actively managed during this emergency. 

 
Corporate & Strategic Implications 
 
 
20. The reporting of risk information is in accordance with the Corporate Risk 

Management Strategy (2020)  
 
 
Appendices 
 

• Appendix 1 - Corporate risk and actions detailed report – Risks above 
appetite only 

• Appendix 2 - Corporate risk summary report (All risks) 

• Appendix 3 - CR28 Action Fraud and CR34 Covid-19 risks (Included in the 
Not for Publication part of the agenda) 

• Appendix 4 – Red departmental level risk register – summary report (by 
department) 

• Appendix 5 – Covid19 Thematic group Summary risks by department 
(Included in the Not for publication part of the agenda) 

 
Paul Dudley 
Corporate Risk Manager, Chamberlain’s 
T:  020 7332 1297 
E:  Paul.Dudley@cityoflondon.gov.uk 

Page 163



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 164



APPENDIX 1 
 

1 

Corporate Risk Detailed Register EXCLUDING completed actions by risk 

appetite (Note CR 28 Action Fraud and CR 34 Covid 19 are included in 

Appendix 3 – Not for Publication risks) 
 

Report Author: Paul Dudley 

Generated on: 15 September 2020 

 
 

 

Rows are sorted by Risk Score 
 

Code & Title: CR Corporate Risk Register 11 
 

Risk Appetite Level Description Risk above appetite 
 
 Risk no, Title, 

Creation date, 

Owner 

Risk Description (Cause, Event, Impact)  Current Risk Rating & Score Risk Update and date of update Target Risk Rating & Score Target Date Current 

Risk score 

change 

indicator 

CR20 Road 

Safety 

Cause: Limited space on the City’s medieval street 

network to cope with the increased use of the highway by 

vehicles, pedestrians and cyclists within the City of 

London. Interventions and legal processes take time to 

deliver SAFELY AND EFFECTIVELY  

 Event: The City Corporation’s statutory duties and the 

measures outlined in the Transport Strategy are not fully 

and effectively implemented. 

 Effect: 

•The number of casualties occurring on the City’s streets 

rises or remains unchanged instead of reducing 

•The safety and feeling of safety of the City’s communities 

is adversely affected (Corporate Plan Outcome 1) 

•Physical or mental harm suffered by those involved in 

collisions and their associates 

•Economic costs of collisions impact on INDIVIDUALS, 

City businesses and wider society 

 

24 The risk assessment is unchanged, 

reflecting the probability that a fatality 

is fairly likely to occur while 

mitigation measures are being 

implemented. Measures to enable the 

safe return of the City’s workforce 

and support COVID-19 recovery are 

being delivered in phases, with initial 

roll out expected to be completed in 

August 2020. Details of upcoming 

activities to reduce road danger will 

be set out in the 2020/21 - 2022/23 

Transport Strategy Delivery Plan, 

which will go to Committee in 

September. 

 

         

 

16 31-Mar-

2022  

P
age 165



APPENDIX 1 
 

2 

23-Oct-2015 •The City Corporation’s ABILITY TO IMPROVE ROAD 

SAFETY is adversely impacted with businesses and/or the 

public BY VIRTUE OF A LOSS OF CREDIBILITY 

AND/OR AUTHORITY  

  

(revised risk description27/6/19) 

13 Aug 2020 Constant 

Carolyn Dwyer 

                        

Action no, 

Title,  

Action description Latest Note Action 

owner 

Latest Note 

Date 

Due Date 

CR20l Road 

danger 

reduction and 

Vision Zero 

A programme of projects to reduce road danger on the 

City’s streets including: 

• Bank on Safety and All Change at Bank 

  

• RDR engineering programme 

  

• 15mph traffic limit 

  

• Ludgate Circus (lead by TfL)  

 

The Bank on Safety interim scheme continues and is expected to complete in September. 

Pavement widening has been completed and with work on signals underway in collaboration 

with TfL. The 15mph request to DfT will be submitted in autumn 2020. We have supported 

TfL's temporary interventions to improve safety and enable social distancing on Bishopsgate 

and Gracechurch Street. A range of on-street measures to enable the safe return of the City’s 

workforce and support COVID-19 recovery are being delivered. Current and future road 

danger reduction projects will be outlined in the 2020/21 - 2022/23 Transport Strategy 

Delivery Plan which is due to go to Committee in September. 

Zahur 

Khan 

13-Aug-

2020  

31-Mar-

2022 

CR20m Road 

Danger 

Reduction 

campaigns and 

engagement 

Campaigns and engagement activities to encourage safe 

behaviours and promote safe vehicles, including: 

• Active City Network 

  

• User and stakeholder liaison 

  

• Schools programme  

 

Continuing to work with City of London Police on engagement and enforcement to support 

COVID-19 measures. Developing campaigns to encourage safe and considerate behaviours by 

all street users while temporary changes and social distancing requirements are in place. 

Current and future road danger reduction campaigns and activities will be outlined in the 

2020/21 - 2022/23 Transport Strategy Delivery Plan which is due to go to Committee in 

September. 

Zahur 

Khan 

13-Aug-

2020  

31-Mar-

2022 

 

P
age 166



APPENDIX 1 
 

3 

 

 Risk no, Title, 

Creation date, 

Owner 

Risk Description (Cause, Event, Impact)  Current Risk Rating & Score Risk Update and date of update Target Risk Rating & Score Target Date Current 

Risk score 

change 

indicator 

CR24 

Operational 

Security 

Cause: Inadequate, poorly maintained or time expired 

security infrastructure; lack of security culture within the 

organisation; poor training or organisation of staff; 

insufficient staff.  

Event: Security of an operational property is breached.  

Effect: Unauthorised access to building by 

criminals/protestors/terrorists; disruption of business/ high 

profile events; reputational damage; injury or potential loss 

of life amongst staff or members of the general public  

 

24 CR24 venue C, CCTV – complete, 

just awaiting handover documentation 

 

CR24 venue A and D, CCTV – due to 

complete by the end of the month, 

although contractors returning from 

furlough and completing items for 

integration into the system (intruder 

alarm, intercoms, fire alarm panels), 

may slightly delay. 

 

CR24 B –new control room with 

CCTV system changeover in hand 

with welfare area to be completed 

 

Internal HVM Blockers at CR24B 

50% complete 

 

16 01-Oct-2020 
 

07-Jun-2017 21 Aug 2020 Constant 

John Barradell 

                        

Action no, 

Title,  

Action description Latest Note Action 

owner 

Latest Note 

Date 

Due Date 

CR24a Cross 

Cutting 

infrastructure 

enhancements 

Deliver a programme of security infrastructure 

enhancements 

CR24 venue C, CCTV – complete, just awaiting handover documentation 

 

CR24 venue A and D, CCTV – due to complete by the end of the month, although contractors 

returning from furlough and completing items for integration into the system (intruder alarm, 

intercoms, fire alarm panels), may slightly delay. 

 

CR24 B –new control room with CCTV system changeover in hand with welfare area to be 

completed 

 

Internal HVM Blockers at CR24B 50% complete 

Paul 

Wilkinson 

21-Aug-

2020  

01-Oct-

2020 

P
age 167



APPENDIX 1 
 

4 

CR24b 

Mitigating risk 

of vehicle borne 

attacks 

Mitigating risk of vehicle borne attacks across Corporation 

estate. 

Internal HVM Blockers at CR24B 50% complete, external now complete. Carolyn 

Dwyer; 

Paul 

Wilkinson 

21-Aug-

2020  

01-Oct-

2020 

CR24e HVM 

for major events 

Protecting CR24 location A for major events by installing 

HVM.   

CR24 A location 7 was approved in October 2019 and expected to commence works in 

February 2020, this is delayed due to the supply chain that was closed due to COVID awaits 

suppliers delivery.  

Carolyn 

Dwyer; 

Richard 

Woolford 

21-Aug-

2020  

01-Sep-

2020 

 
 

 Risk no, Title, 

Creation date, 

Owner 

Risk Description (Cause, Event, Impact)  Current Risk Rating & Score Risk Update and date of update Target Risk Rating & Score Target Date Current 

Risk score 

change 

indicator 

CR32 

Wanstead 

Park 

Reservoirs 

(formerly OSD 

013) 

(Cause)  

Gradual deterioration of the fabric of the reservoirs and / 

or excessive rain. 

  

(Event) 

Risk that the reservoirs may overtop and be washed away, 

leading to a cascading breach. 

  

(Impact): 

• Potential for loss of life or injury to staff/residents.  

• Low level flooding of the park and surrounding 

residential/commercial areas  

• Park closed for several weeks  

• Civil claims/financial loss claims made from residents/ 

businesses  

• Adverse effect on the reputation of the City corporation 

(Local/national media interest)  

• Legal action by the Environment Agency  

• Requirement for significant immediate CoLC funds to 

repair damage  

• Damage to a listed landscape.  

 

 

24 Assessed and agreed by Open Spaces 

Senior Leadership Team in June 2020.  

The panel engineer's report has been 

received and is being discussed and 

analysed at present, with some 

elements being challenged. Project 

remains on track, pending further 

analysis of this report. 

 

8 30-Jun-2024 
 

09-Dec-2019 25 Jun 2020 Constant 

Colin Buttery 

                        

P
age 168



APPENDIX 1 
 

5 

Action no, 

Title,  

Action description Latest Note Action 

owner 

Latest Note 

Date 

Due Date 

OSD 013 b 

Project Board 

Create and lead a project board. Project board established, meeting regularly. Some meetings have been postponed due to 

COVID-related work delays. Last meeting 24 April. Ongoing action. 

Colin 

Buttery 

25-Jun-2020  01-Mar-

2021 

OSD 013 c 

Evaluate and 

analyse the 

report. 

Evaluate and analyse the report from the reservoir 

engineer. 

Feedback from the report is due, although meetings have been postponed due to COVID-

related work delays. 

Paul 

Monaghan 

25-Jun-2020  15-May-

2020 

OSD 013 d 

Environment 

Agency Actions 

Confirm to EA that measures in the interest of safety have 

been completed. 

Report is still being analysed at present. Paul 

Monaghan 

25-Jun-2020  31-Oct-

2020 

OSD 013 f 

Gateway 3 

Report 

Gateway 3 report requesting funding to consider the 

options.  

Project plan currently on track but will be reviewed at the next project board meeting. Paul 

Monaghan 

25-Jun-2020  31-Oct-

2020 

 
 

 Risk no, Title, 

Creation date, 

Owner 

Risk Description (Cause, Event, Impact)  Current Risk Rating & Score Risk Update and date of update Target Risk Rating & Score Target Date Current 

Risk score 

change 

indicator 

CR35 

Unsustainable 

Medium-Term 

Finances 

Causes:  

Anticipated decline in public sector funding (local 

government and Police), increasing demands (revenue and 

capital) and an ambitious programme of major project 

delivery threaten our ability to continue to deliver a vibrant 

and thriving Square Mile 

Normal course of business unable to function due to 

COVID 19 restrictions 

BREXIT compounding market uncertainty and 

exacerbating the economic downturn. 

Major contraction in key income streams and increase in 

bad debts.In particular that lower occupancy levels in city 

properties reduce investment property income over the 

medium term. 

Police Transform programme fails to realise the budget 

mitigations anticipated 

Reduction in the value of investments- property and 

securities- reduces available capital for major project 

financing. 

Event: Inability to contain financial pressures within year 

 

24 Current annual estimated impact is an 

overspend of £28.4m across the three 

funds; £16.8m of which is City Fund. 

Driven mainly by income loss in the 

following areas: Barbican, GSMD, 

Tower Bridge, Animal Reception 

Centre and Events. Mitigations 

include spend reduction, furloughing 

of casual staff and permanent staff not 

able to work (£1.3m recovered from 

government to date) and recovery of 

lost CF income from the governments 

compensation scheme anticipated to 

be £13.6m 

 

Property income: In the short term, the 

City is protected by tenancy 

arrangements, but that the medium 

term is more concerning.  The make-

up of current portfolio is underrated 

 

12 31-Mar-

2021  

P
age 169



APPENDIX 1 
 

6 

(2020/21) and compensatory savings and/or income 

generation to meet the Corporation’s forecast medium term 

financial deficit will not be realised. 

Effects:  

Additional savings over and above those identified through 

the Fundamental Review to meet this challenge are 

required and/or closure in some areas reserves are utilised 

and/or services stopped. 

The City Corporation’s reputation is damaged due to 

failure to meet financial objectives or the need to reduce 

services / service levels to business and community. 

Being unable to set a balanced budget which is a statutory 

requirement for City Fund. 

Spend is not aligned to Corporate Plan outcomes resulting 

in suboptimal use of resources and/or poor performance. 

Capital projects stalled due to COVID restrictions. 

Stakeholders experiencing reduced services and service 

closures. 

for retail which offers some 

protection. 

 

Cash flow position is holding up well. 

 

Balance Sheet- it is too early to assess 

any permanent re-valuation. Securities 

portfolio- after an initial drop has 

largely recovered the Dec 2019 

valuation. 

19-Jun-2020 02 Sep 2020 Constant 

Caroline Al-

Beyerty 

                        

Action no, 

Title,  

Action description Latest Note Action 

owner 

Latest Note 

Date 

Due Date 

CR 35a 

Reduction 

income 

A reduction in key income streams and increase in bad 

debt 

This is being monitored monthly, with action being taken to reduce spend where possible 

 

 Key Impact areas: 

 

Property investment income – initially deferred, likely to crystallise high % bad debt. 

Currently estimating £6.4m adverse variance. Forecasts will be revised at the end of the June 

quarter when it will be possible to get first indications of likely payment trends. 

 

Impact on cash balances invested in money market funds- forecasting reduction of £1.8m. 

 

For Chief Officer cash limited budgets: estimated adverse variance is £30m across the three 

funds – largely due to loss of income. After mitigation the areas most affected are: Barbican 

£13.3m, Tower Bridge £1.8m, GSMD £1.8m, Fees & Charges in DBE £2.7m Animal 

Reception Centre £1.8m and Event income losses of £0.9m 

Julie Smith 19-Jun-2020  31-Mar-

2021 

CR 35b Cash 

flow 

To reduce strain on cash flow. The Corporation remains very liquid and the outlook for near term cash flows is robust. 

 

Review major commitments, including options for re-profiling. 

James 

Graham; 

Julie Smith 

27-Aug-

2020  

31-Mar-

2021 

CR 35c Covid-

19 Expenditure 

Increased expenditure related to COVID measures- 

maximise recovery from government 

In the short-term, high % of additional expenditure recoverable from government, and 

recruitment controls putting downward pressure on budgets.  But a significant proportion of 

Julie Smith 19-Jun-2020  31-Mar-

2021 

P
age 170



APPENDIX 1 
 

7 

Fundamental Review savings, especially from the target operating model work, are deferred.  

Police year end forecast is an underspend of £4.0m, primarily due to delay in recruiting. CoLP 

are also able to claim losses as a result of COVID-19 from the Home Office. 

 

  

 

Possible mitigations 

 

• Maximising recovery from government- spend is being coded and monitored  

• Furloughing workers has been explored and rejected.  

 

Maintaining tight financial disciplines. 

CR 35d 

Business rates 

Inability of occupiers to pay rates as their income falls an 

business models are damaged. 

A reduction in demand for office space in the square mile, 

leading to lower occupation and business rate income. 

The Corporation is currently benefitting from growth in 

business rates retained income of c£40m. 

Non-payment of rates across London leading to difficulties 

in meeting cash flow payments as host of the pool. 

Monthly monitoring in place. The immediate impact of COVID-19 has been to lower the 

collection rate for business rates. For April, the cash position was 16% lower than the previous 

year; forecast across the year is 12%. 

 

Should lower levels of collection be deemed un-collectable, impact of lower income will be 

felt in future years, with the GLA and Central Govt taking their proportional share. 

 

Reduction in growth will be felt in year. 

 

Should business rate income fall by more than 20%, the safety net would be reached. 

 

Modelled scenarios have been included in the revised MTFP- high level of income volatility. 

 

Host: The Govt has recognised the cashflow impacts of business rates and has deferred its 

share for April-June, which has been re-profiled over the reminder of the year. 

Phil Black; 

Neilesh 

Kakad 

19-Jun-2020  31-Mar-

2021 

CR 35e 

Investments 

Impact on investments: 

securities/property 

The values of the three main financial investment portfolios have continued to grow steadily, 

participating in a broad-based rally across financial markets. The Pension Fund, City’s Cash 

and BHE portfolios have increased by 14%, 17% and 12%, respectively since 31 March 2020 

and are now between 0-2% behind their previous highs in December/January 2020. Until there 

is more certainty over the ultimate economic impact of C-19, it is always possible that 

volatility will return. COL’s Pension Fund contributions are fixed until 2023, providing some 

protection, whilst the diversified asset allocation strategies and use of active management 

across all three funds should continue to deliver some stability if general market moves 

become extreme again.  

 

  

 

Too early to assess impact, but actions on deferral and rent free is aimed at retaining tenants. 

 

Nicholas 

Gill; James 

Graham 

27-Aug-

2020  

31-Mar-

2021 

P
age 171



APPENDIX 1 
 

8 

If tenants default - there is a high risk of long lead in periods (of up to 24 months) to find new 

tenants. Some tenants are in administration since 19th June 2020. 

CR 35f MTFP Impact on the MTFP FR proposals affecting staff put into abeyance during CoLC’s response to Covid-19. 

 

CHB currently reviewing achievability of savings built into the MTFP 

Caroline 

Al-

Beyerty; 

Alistair 

Cook 

19-Jun-2020  31-Mar-

2021 

CR 35g 

Fundamental 

Review 

Reassessing the Fundamental Review project plan. FR proposals affecting staff put into abeyance during CoLC’s response to Covid-19. The 

Flexible Retirement Scheme for those aged 60+ is currently being implemented and a review is 

currently being undertaken to assess the feasibility of extending the scheme to those aged 55-

59. Other savings relating to organisation design are expected to begin from the new financial 

year with a final paper signing off implementation of the OD Principles going to the 

Establishment Committee in September. 

 

CHB currently reviewing achievability of savings built into the MTFP. 

Simon 

Latham 

01-Sep-

2020  

31-Mar-

2021 

CR 35h 

Fundamental 

Review 

Implementation 

To implement the Fundamental Review project plan- TOM Members are being presented with the comprehensive TOM Business Case and associated 

timeline for sign off in September. RASC and P&R Committees throughout June and July 

2020 have endorsed the TOM proposals, which will result in Tier 1 consultation starting in the 

autumn.  

Simon 

Latham 

01-Sep-

2020  

31-Mar-

2021 

 
 

 Risk no, Title, 

Creation date, 

Owner 

Risk Description (Cause, Event, Impact)  Current Risk Rating & Score Risk Update and date of update Target Risk Rating & Score Target Date Current 

Risk score 

change 

indicator 

CR23 Police 

Funding 

Cause: Reduction in government funding, workforce costs 

and growing demand in Policing services leading to 

pressures for the City Fund -Police. 

Event: Reduction in government funding. Failure to 

deliver VfM savings. Budget deficit forecast for next 5 

years requiring action to balance the budget 

Effect: Potential impact on security and safety in the City 

as need to make savings, prioritise activity, review funding 

City of London Police will be unable to maintain a 

balanced budget and current service levels as reflected in 

their Medium Term Financial Plan. 

 

16 • Updated MTFP was prepared for 

consideration by the January 2020 

committee cycle, incorporating both 

growth and savings assumptions.  

• Balanced budget was set for 20/21 

based on £5.4m funding of 67 growth 

roles and CoLP savings plans. 

Additional Home Office funding has 

been provided for uplift of 44 officers.  

• After 20/21 there are deficits of 

about £3m pa, for which further 

mitigation action is required, 

including through the implementation 

of new shared services opportunities.  

 

12 31-Dec-

2020  

P
age 172



APPENDIX 1 
 

9 

• COVID 19 impacts to date have 

been assessed. Further work will be 

required to understand and model 

impact on the MTFP.    

 

21-Nov-2016 01 Sep 2020 Constant 

Ian Dyson; 

Peter Kane 

                        

Action no, 

Title,  

Action description Latest Note Action 

owner 

Latest Note 

Date 

Due Date 

CR23g 

Sustainable 

Settlement 

2020/21 

onwards 

Implement sustainable medium-term financial settlement 

for CoLP: - 

Revenue position 

Capital financing 

Police MTFP presented to January Committee cycle, incorporating the costs of and additional 

funding for 67 growth roles and all current Police savings plans. Government settlement 

provided for further uplift of 44 officers. Balanced budget set for 20/21. In subsequent years 

deficits of c.£3m pa exist due to addition of loan repayment assumptions for Action Fraud and 

Police capital priorities. Update of MTFP in autumn 2020 will include C19 impacts, forecast 

20/21 underspend, updated AF loan repayment plan, additional savings requirements, and 

reserves policy. 

Alistair 

Cook 

27-Aug-

2020  

31-Dec-

2020 

 
 

 Risk no, Title, 

Creation date, 

Owner 

Risk Description (Cause, Event, Impact)  Current Risk Rating & Score Risk Update and date of update Target Risk Rating & Score Target Date Current 

Risk score 

change 

indicator 

CR33 Major 

Capital 

Schemes 

Risk owner Town Clerk & City Surveyor 

Cause: The City Corporation has set itself the ambition to 

deliver at least three landmark multi-million pound capital 

schemes over the next decade (currently programmed to 

complete 2028). 

Event: there is insufficient technical and professional 

capability and resource to effectively deliver the schemes. 

Effects: 

• Schemes not delivered on time  

• Inability of the organisation to move at the required pace  

• Potential for increased capital costs as a result of delayed 

decision making  

 

16 Remote working continues to be in 

place across the majority of the 

professional teams working across the 

Major Programmes and remains 

effective. The Museum of London 

Programme is on site and contractors 

are working to c.60% capacity 

currently.  Recruitment of further 

capacity into the MPMO team has 

been challenging – one finance analyst 

has been recruited via agency. The 

fixed term positions for a further PMO 

Analyst and Finance Analyst remain 

 

12 31-Mar-

2021  

P
age 173



APPENDIX 1 
 

10 

• Reputational impact on the Corporation vis a vis key 

stakeholder across London and UK Govt.  

• Potential revenue impact of delayed delivery to services 

affected (e.g. Markets, Museum of London Grant, City of 

London Police)  

• failure to deliver on corporate outcomes  

 

Note - given that this risk spans several years, the 

target risk score/date has been set to March 2021 when 

it is expected that, after completion of the related 

actions, the risk score will be reduced. 

  

with Job Evaluation. Monthly 

assurance meetings continue to review 

programme, risk and dependencies 

and two public consultations – on the 

Fleet Street Estate and Smithfield 

Market proposals launched at the end 

of July. 

14-Feb-2020 06 Aug 2020 Constant 

Peter Lisley; 

Paul Wilkinson 

                        

Action no, 

Title,  

Action description Latest Note Action 

owner 

Latest Note 

Date 

Due Date 

CR33 a PMO 

Capability 

Build PMO Capability utilising newly available budget. Job Descriptions and Person Specs for a further PMO Analyst and Finance Analyst remain 

with Job Evaluation and timescales for review are unclear. HR Business Partner and Head of 

MPMO remain in regular contact in an effort to progress.   

Matthew 

Pitt 

06-Aug-

2020  

31-Mar-

2021 

CR33 b Risk 

assurance 

To Improve assurance of Major Programme Risks Assurance of risks on each programme will take place at the monthly Major Programmes 

Assurance meeting chaired by the Director of Major Projects / City Surveyor with senior 

representation from the Chamberlain’s Department, CS, TCs and Programme Directors. 

 

  

 

A consolidated risk register which examines the most pressing red risks from each programme 

is under development and will be in place by Q4 2020. 

Matthew 

Pitt 

06-Aug-

2020  

31-Mar-

2021 

CR33 c 

Financial 

modelling 

Develop Corporate Capability around Financial Modelling A specification has been developed to seek a call off contract for specific modelling 

requirements to back up the additional finance analyst post being recruited to as part of the 

PMO capability. Skills transfer is included within the specification for existing finance staff. 

Caroline 

Al-Beyerty 

14-May-

2020  

31-Mar-

2021 

CR33 d 

Optimism bias 

Implement a standard approach to Optimism Bias 

Modelling 

Part of work programme for 2020/21 Caroline 

Al-Beyerty 

14-May-

2020  

31-Mar-

2021 

CR33 e 

Dependancies 

PMO to adopt a portfolio approach int emanagmenet of 

these schems and systematacilly identifyand manage 

dependnancies 

A Summary Timeline of all Major Programmes has been produced and will be updated 

monthly (in line with the assurance meetings above) – this clearly defines and maps 

dependencies and interdependencies between Programmes. 

 

  

 

Mapping financial dependencies and overlaying cashflows on programmes using new tools 

Matthew 

Pitt 

06-Aug-

2020  

31-Mar-

2021 

P
age 174



APPENDIX 1 
 

11 

such as Power BI is being looked at and is designed to provide both ease and consistency to 

the reviewing of data. 

CR33 f 

Performance 

indicators 

To identify and monitor indicators such as climate 

action,apprenticeships.social benefits for each project.  

Environmental Impact Assessments for each programme (once developed as part of the 

planning process) will help track the socio-economic impact and benefits of our Major 

Programmes. This will include apprenticeships, jobs created, jobs retained, UK supply chain 

info and others. The outputs of these assessments will be input to a tracker in addition to the 

Major Programmes Fact-Sheets developed to consolidate overall communications messaging 

of our programmes. The tracker will enable monitoring of benefits vs assume benefits within 

the EIAs over time. 

Matthew 

Pitt 

06-Aug-

2020  

31-Mar-

2021 

CR33 g 

Reporting to 

Summit Group 

To regularly report progress to Summit Group for each 

project. 

Some reporting to Summit Group took place during 2019 and that will continue into 2020 

using the Major Programmes Dashboards and Timeline above. Suggested interval quarterly. 

 

  

 

Summit Group currently suspended due to Covid 19. 

Matthew 

Pitt 

06-Aug-

2020  

31-Mar-

2021 

 
 

 

 Risk no, Title, 

Creation date, 

Owner 

Risk Description (Cause, Event, Impact)  Current Risk Rating & Score Risk Update and date of update Target Risk Rating & Score Target Date Current 

Risk score 

change 

indicator 

CR01 

Resilience Risk 

Cause - Lack of appropriate planning, leadership and 

coordination  

Event - Emergency situation related to terrorism or other 

serious event/major incident is not managed effectively  

Effect - Major disruption to City business, failure to 

support the community, assist in business recovery. 

Reputational damage to the City as a place to do business.  
 

12 • Business Continuity training 

complete. Action plan now in place to 

implement key recommendations from 

the training and BIA process  

• BECC Training session complete, 

process and call out still to be 

finalised . Cycle of training to 

continue - Current work postponed 

due to response to Covid 19    

 

 

12 31-Jan-2021 
 

20-Mar-2015 07 Aug 2020 Constant 

John Barradell 

                        

P
age 175



APPENDIX 1 
 

12 

Action no, 

Title,  

Action description Latest Note Action 

owner 

Latest Note 

Date 

Due Date 

CR01L 

Business 

Continuity 

Management 

Assurance process with Cabinet Office College 

Provide refresher and initial training for Col staff, this 

training intended to increase knowledge to ensure BC 

plans are able to  support the Col maintain its business 

during a major incident, provide an in depth independent 

oversight of the Col business impact analysis, identifying 

its most critical business areas   

Action place now in place to implement key recommendations from the training and BIA 

process 

 

  

Work has started with Clearview a company providing software to assist Col depts identify 

and document the BIA process linked to the action plan , however work is postponed  

Gary 

Locker 

07-Aug-

2020  

31-Jan-

2021 

CR01M Review 

of LALO Local 

authority liaison 

officer 

process, training, call out process to strengthen the City 

capability and resilience in responding to major incident 

and complying with the wider London boroughs 

standardisation programme  

Training for this session complete , process and call out still to be finalised 

 

 LALO were involved in a City based partnership  exercise February 2020, further exposure to 

training and exercise is intended but postponed due to response to COVID 19 and call out 

process to be consulted on post Covid 19 response 

Gary 

Locker 

07-Aug-

2020  

31-Jan-

2021 

CR01N 

Standardisation 

procedures 

to increase City capability and resilience in also supporting 

wider London boroughs during major incident response, 

Local  Emergency Control Centres, Emergency centres as 

part of a wider humanitarian  

BECC training as part of this process completed March 2019 , cycle of training to continue 

 

 Further staff awareness date planned 25/6/19  as part of cycle of training/awareness 

 

Pan London Standardisation process postponed due to Covid 19 response 

Gary 

Locker 

07-Aug-

2020  

31-Jan-

2021 

CR01Q Rolling 

DR tests 

Plan an annual calendar of IT DR tests, covering critical 

systems and services 

Rolling DR Tests have commenced and are now an ongoing BAU activity. 

 

 Services are increasingly moved to the cloud, improving resilience and availability. Including 

and in-flight project, which has moved 50% of all COL servers to date and a recent project to 

launch a new COL website, hosted in a 3rd party datacentre. 

Matt 

Gosden 

07-Aug-

2020  

31-Mar-

2021 

CR01R Site 

Assurance audit 

and 

recommendatio

n 

All COL and COLP comms and data rooms are being 

audited with a view to: 

• Assessing power and security provision  

• Update the Comms Room Policy and MoU with City 

Surveyors, including categorisation of rooms into critical 

and non-critical.  

 

Provide recommendations for a project to improve the 

power/UPS resiliency in these rooms. 

The migration of services away from on-premise comms rooms, and Agilisys datacentres has 

significantly reduced the likelihood of a significant power related outage. 

  

A capital bid is going through the gateway process to improve UPS protection where 

equipment needs to remain on premise. 

Matt 

Gosden; 

Kevin 

Mulcahy 

07-Aug-

2020  

31-Mar-

2021 

 

P
age 176



APPENDIX 1 
 

13 

 

 Risk no, Title, 

Creation date, 

Owner 

Risk Description (Cause, Event, Impact)  Current Risk Rating & Score Risk Update and date of update Target Risk Rating & Score Target Date Current 

Risk score 

change 

indicator 

CR21 Air 

Quality 

Cause: Small particulate pollution has chronic health 

impacts from long term exposure at very low 

concentrations and is in evidence within the City and 

central London. There is also a health impact associated 

with long term and short term exposure to nitrogen 

dioxide.  

Event: Under certain atmospheric conditions there is a 

higher probability of poor air quality within the City and it 

is more likely that residents, workers and visitors would 

suffer the acute consequences.  

Effect: The consequences both acute and chronic may 

include:  

An increase in hospital referrals placed upon both 

emergency services and the NHS for those already 

suffering from respiratory or cardiovascular conditions (it 

may also place a strain on City social services).  

An increase in deaths, particularly of those already 

suffering from respiratory or cardiovascular conditions 

(both residents and workers).  

Economic costs such as acting as a deterrent of businesses 

coming to London or staying and financial penalties for 

non-compliance with air quality limits.  

Persistent poor air quality may affect the longer term 

health of the City population.  

Persistent poor air quality may attract adverse media 

coverage making the City seem a less attractive place to 

live and work.  

 

12 Early indications are that roadside 

concentrations of nitrogen dioxide 

have reduced following the 

introduction of the Mayor of London 

Ultra Low Emission Zone and zero 

emission buses and taxis.    

6 31-Dec-

2020  

07-Oct-2015 18 Aug 2020 Constant 

Ruth 

Calderwood 

                        

Action no, 

Title,  

Action description Latest Note Action 

owner 

Latest Note 

Date 

Due Date 

CR21 001h 

Publish annual 

report of air 

quality data 

Develop baseline model for compliance assessment and 

publish annual report of air quality data   

Data being compiled for annual report   Ruth 

Calderwoo

d 

18-Aug-

2020  

31-Dec-

2025 

CR21 001i 100% of vehicles owned or leased by the CoL are electric We have reduced the size of the corporate fleet by over 40% over the past 5 years.  Ruth 18-Aug- 31-Dec-

P
age 177



APPENDIX 1 
 

14 

Compliant 

vehicles 

or hybrid by 2025   We have trialed eight new electric vehicle technology over the last 3 years  

We have recently purchased 14 new plug in / hybrid vehicles including 3 electric vehicles for 

the Lord Mayor which includes 2 London electric taxis.  

We have installed 20 new electric vehicle charge points to support our vehicles.  

100% of the electricity used by the City Corporation is from renewable sources so electricity 

used to charge Corporate vehicles isn’t contributing to air pollution outside the City of London 

boundary.  

Calderwoo

d 

2020  2025 

CR21 001j 

Develop Private 

Members Bill 

Develop and support an Emission Reduction Private 

Members Bill for London local authorities   

Bill reintroduced to the House of Lords in January 2020. Await date for second reading   Ruth 

Calderwoo

d 

18-Aug-

2020  

31-Dec-

2021 

 
 

 Risk no, Title, 

Creation date, 

Owner 

Risk Description (Cause, Event, Impact)  Current Risk Rating & Score Risk Update and date of update Target Risk Rating & Score Target Date Current 

Risk score 

change 

indicator 

CR17 

Safeguarding 

Cause: Not providing appropriate training to staff or 

members; not providing effective leadership, management 

or supervision; poor case management, information 

sharing or actions. 

Event: Failure to deliver actions under the City of 

London's Corporate Safeguarding Policy. All staff (and in 

particular social workers & teachers) not taking 

appropriate action in relation to safeguarding issues. 

Effect: Physical or mental harm suffered by a child or 

vulnerable adult, damage to the City of London's 

reputation, possible legal action, investigation by CQC and 

or Ofsted. (Risk description revised June 2019) 

 

8 A report on the updated Corporate 

Safeguarding Policy was presented to 

the February meeting of the 

Safeguarding Sub-committee. The 

network of Safeguarding Champions 

to fully embed safeguarding 

responsibilities across the organisation 

has been relaunched. Some of the 

existing champions have moved on or 

no longer perform this role. Chief 

Officers have been asked to nominate 

a Safeguarding Champion for their 

departments, and to report to the 

Director of Community and 

Children’s Services every six months 

on the discharge of their safeguarding 

responsibilities. These actions have 

been delayed due to demands relating 

to the Covid-19 response 

 

This network of Champions is still 

outstanding due to C19 and will 

remain on register with a revised 

target date of March 2021. 

 

 

8 31-Mar-

2021  P
age 178



APPENDIX 1 
 

15 

Monitoring of the demand for Adult 

and Children Social Care is taking 

place to ensure resources are adequate 

to manage the response to Covid-19 

22-Sep-2014 20 Aug 2020 Constant 

Andrew Carter 

                        

Action no, 

Title,  

Action description Latest Note Action 

owner 

Latest Note 

Date 

Due Date 

CR17X 

Safeguarding 

Champions and 

Departmental 

Updates 

Chief Officers have been asked to nominate Safeguarding 

Champions and to report to the Director of Community 

and Children’s Services every six months on the discharge 

of their safeguarding responsibilities.  

The network of Safeguarding Champions to fully embed safeguarding responsibilities across 

the organisation has been relaunched. Some of the existing champions have moved on or no 

longer perform this role. Chief Officers have been asked to nominate a Safeguarding 

Champion for their departments. 

 

Chief Officers have also been asked to report to the Director of Community and Children’s 

Services every six months on the discharge of their safeguarding responsibilities.  

 

 These provisions have been delayed due to extra demands on departments relating to the 

Covid-19 response. 

 

  

Andrew 

Carter 

20-Aug-

2020  

31-Mar-

2021 

CR17y Possible 

increased 

demand on 

Children and 

Adult Social 

Care as a result 

of Covid-19 

Monitoring is taking place to ensure that the Children and 

Adult Social Care Workforce is adequately resourced to 

tackle the increase in demand which is likely to occur 

when the Covid-19 lockdown period finishes. 

If It is possible this will generate additional demands on the system as an increase in identified 

need happens at the same time and a surge on safeguarding and support services risks 

outstripping capacity. 

 

Additional capacity has been brought into the front line Children and Adult Social Care 

services to support demand however these arrangements are temporary and require a wider 

service review to ensure that there is sufficient capacity long term to meet demand due to 

Covid-19. HR have advised that no restructures can progress at this time due to the new Target 

Operating Model (TOM) and Fundamental Review starting.  

Chris 

Pelham 

20-Aug-

2020  

31-Mar-

2021 

 

P
age 179



T
his page is intentionally left blank

P
age 180



APPENDIX 2 
 

1 

Corporate risk short summary report - by risk appetite 
 

Report Type: Risks Report 

Generated on: 15 September 2020 

 

 
 

Rows are sorted by Risk Score 
 

Traffic Light: Red 8 Amber 9 Green 1  
 

Risk Appetite Level Description Risk above appetite 
 

Risk code Risk title Creation Date Risk Category 

Description 

Current Risk 

Score 

Current Risk 

Score Indicator 

Trend Icon Risk flight patch (last 

12 assessments) 

CR20 Road Safety 23-Oct-2015 Health and Safety 24 
   

CR24 Operational Security 07-Jun-2017 Physical 24 
   

CR28 Action Fraud 13-Mar-2019 Partnership/Contract

ual 

24 

  
 

CR32 Wanstead Park Reservoirs (formerly OSD 

013) 

09-Dec-2019 Health and Safety 24 

  
 

CR34 COVID-19 12-Mar-2020 Covid-19 24 
   

CR35 Unsustainable Medium-Term Finances 19-Jun-2020 Financial 24 
   

CR23 Police Funding 21-Nov-2016 Financial 16 
   

CR33 Major Capital Schemes 14-Feb-2020 Financial 16 
   

P
age 181



APPENDIX 2 
 

2 

Risk code Risk title Creation Date Risk Category 

Description 

Current Risk 

Score 

Current Risk 

Score Indicator 

Trend Icon Risk flight patch (last 

12 assessments) 

CR01 Resilience Risk 20-Mar-2015 Physical 12 
   

CR21 Air Quality 07-Oct-2015 Environmental 12 
   

CR17 Safeguarding 22-Sep-2014 Safeguarding 8 
   

 

Risk Appetite Level Description Risk at appetite 
 

Risk code Risk title Creation Date Risk Category 

Description 

Current Risk 

Score 

Current Risk 

Score Indicator 

Trend Icon Risk flight patch (last 

12 assessments) 

CR02 Loss of Business Support for the City 22-Sep-2014 Economic 12 
   

CR09 Health Safety and Wellbeing Risk 

(Management System) 

22-Sep-2014 Health and Safety 12 

  
 

CR16 Information Security (formerly CHB IT 

030) 

10-May-2019 Technological 12 

  
 

CR29 Information Management 08-Apr-2019 Technological 12 
   

CR26 Brexit - Organisational Impact 11-Oct-2018 Brexit 8 
   

 

Risk Appetite Level Description Risk below appetite 
 

Risk code Risk title Creation Date Risk Category 

Description 

Current Risk 

Score 

Current Risk 

Score Indicator 

Trend Icon Risk flight patch (last 

12 assessments) 

CR10 Adverse Political Developments 22-Sep-2014 Reputation 8 
   

CR30 Climate Action 07-Oct-2019 Environmental 4 
   

 
  

P
age 182



APPENDIX 4 
 

1 

Top red departmental risks only - short summary by department 
 

Report Type: Risks Report 

Report Author: Paul Dudley 

Generated on: 15 September 2020 

 

 
 

Rows are sorted by Risk Score 
 

Department Description Barbican Centre 

Department Description: Barbican Centre 14  
 

Code Title Risk owner Current 

Impact 

Current 

Likelihood 

Current 

Risk 

Score 

Curren

t score 

Latest Note 

Date 

Target 

Impact 

Target 

Likelihoo

d 

Risk 

Score 

Target 

score 

Target 

Date 

Flight Path 

BBC 

Buildgs 

012 

Art Gallery Chiller Jonathon 

Poyner 

8 3 24 
 

20 Aug 

2020 

8 1 8 
 

31-Mar-

2022 
 

BBC Ex 

Halls 003 

Exhibition Halls Compliance 

and Condition Risk Resulting 

from Bow-Wave 

Jonathon 

Poyner 

8 3 24 
 

17 Aug 

2020 

4 2 8 
 

31-Mar-

2021 
 

BBC Arts 

004 

Loss of Key 

Artists/Companies/Events 

Leonora 

Thomson 

8 2 16 
 

13 Aug 

2020 

4 2 8 
 

18-Nov-

2020 
 

BBC Arts 

008 

Box Office Targets Leonora 

Thomson 

8 2 16 
 

13 Aug 

2020 

4 2 8 
 

18-Nov-

2020 
 

BBC Ex Halls Electrical Condition Jonathon 4 4 16 
 

20 Aug 4 3 12 
 

31-Dec-  

P
age 183



APPENDIX 4 
 

2 

Code Title Risk owner Current 

Impact 

Current 

Likelihood 

Current 

Risk 

Score 

Curren

t score 

Latest Note 

Date 

Target 

Impact 

Target 

Likelihoo

d 

Risk 

Score 

Target 

score 

Target 

Date 

Flight Path 

Buildgs 

006 

Poyner 2020 2022 

BBC 

Buildgs 

007 

High Risk Hazardous Work 

Areas 

Jonathon 

Poyner 

4 4 16 
 

20 Aug 

2020 

4 2 8 
 

31-Dec-

2021 
 

BBC 

Buildgs 

017 

Risk of not being prepared 

for second wave 

Jonathon 

Poyner 

8 2 16 
 

17 Aug 

2020 

8 1 8 
 

31-Mar-

2021 
 

BBC 

Commerc 

003 

Impact of Brexit on the 

Movement of Talent, 

Technical and Production 

Staff and Temporary 

Movement of Cultural Goods 

Nicholas 

Kenyon 

4 4 16 
 

17 Aug 

2020 

4 3 12 
 

31-Dec-

2020 
 

BBC 

Commerc 

005 

Pandemic Affecting Touring 

of Exhibitions 

Sandeep 

Dwesar 

4 4 16 
 

17 Aug 

2020 

4 2 8 
 

30-Sep-

2020 
 

BBC 

Finance 

001 

Financial Targets Not 

Achieved, Including Income 

and Expenditure Volatility 

Sandeep 

Dwesar 

4 4 16 
 

17 Aug 

2020 

4 2 8 
 

30-Apr-

2021 
 

BBC 

Finance 

003 

Funding Cuts Sandeep 

Dwesar 

4 4 16 
 

17 Aug 

2020 

4 3 12 
 

30-Apr-

2021 
 

BBC H&S 

005 

Failure to Deliver the Fire-

Related Projects 

Jonathon 

Poyner 

8 2 16 
 

17 Aug 

2020 

2 1 2 
 

31-Dec-

2021 
 

BBC H&S Pandemic Including Jonathon 8 2 16 
 

04 Sep 4 2 8 
 

31-Dec-  

P
age 184



APPENDIX 4 
 

3 

Code Title Risk owner Current 

Impact 

Current 

Likelihood 

Current 

Risk 

Score 

Curren

t score 

Latest Note 

Date 

Target 

Impact 

Target 

Likelihoo

d 

Risk 

Score 

Target 

score 

Target 

Date 

Flight Path 

007 Coronavirus Poyner 2020 2020 

BBC H&S 

008 

Fire Leading to Major Incident Jonathon 

Poyner 

8 2 16 
 

17 Aug 

2020 

8 1 8 
 

05-Mar-

2022 
 

 

Department Description City of London Freemen’s School 

Department Description: City of London Freemen’s School 1  
 

Code Title Risk owner Current 

Impact 

Current 

Likelihood 

Current 

Risk 

Score 

Curren

t score 

Latest Note 

Date 

Target 

Impact 

Target 

Likelihoo

d 

Risk 

Score 

Target 

score 

Target 

Date 

Flight Path 

CLF-016 Financial Sustainability Roland 

Martin 

4 4 16 
 

01 Sep 

2020 

2 2 4 
 

31-Aug-

2025 
 

 

Department Description City of London School 

Department Description: City of London School 2  
 

Code Title Risk owner Current 

Impact 

Current 

Likelihood 

Current 

Risk 

Score 

Curren

t score 

Latest Note 

Date 

Target 

Impact 

Target 

Likelihoo

d 

Risk 

Score 

Target 

score 

Target 

Date 

Flight Path 

CLS EA 

002 

Educational Activities - 

Pandemic 

Richard 

Brookes 

4 4 16 
 

28 May 

2020 

1 1 1 
 

30-Jun-

2020 
 

CLS FS 003 Financial Strength - 

Inadequate finances or 

financial plans 

Michael 

Clarkson; 

Charles 

Griffiths 

4 4 16 
 

28 May 

2020 

1 2 2 
 

31-Dec-

2020 
 

 

P
age 185



APPENDIX 4 
 

4 

Department Description City of London Schools for Girls 

Department Description: City of London Schools for Girls 1  
 

Code Title Risk owner Current 

Impact 

Current 

Likelihood 

Current 

Risk 

Score 

Curren

t score 

Latest Note 

Date 

Target 

Impact 

Target 

Likelihoo

d 

Risk 

Score 

Target 

score 

Target 

Date 

Flight Path 

CLSG-01 Loss of income due to drop in 

student numbers 

Jenny Brown  8 3 24 
 

08 Sep 

2020 

4 2 8 
 

31-Dec-

2020 
 

 

Department Description City Surveyor’s 

Department Description: City Surveyor’s 3  
 

Code Title Risk owner Current 

Impact 

Current 

Likelihoo

d 

Current 

Risk 

Score 

Curren

t score 

Latest Note 

Date 

Target 

Impact 

Target 

Likelihoo

d 

Risk 

Score 

Target 

score 

Target 

Date 

Flight Path 

SUR CB 

003 

City Bridges: - Substantial  

vessel strikes 

Paul 

Wilkinson 

8 2 16 
 

14 Aug 

2020 

8 2 16 
 

31-Mar-

2021 
 

SUR CB 

006 

City Bridges: - Wanton 

Damage / Terrorism 

Paul 

Wilkinson 

4 4 16 
 

14 Aug 

2020 

2 3 6 
 

31-Mar-

2021 
 

SUR CB 

007 

City Bridges: - Tunnelling for 

the Thames Tideway Tunnel 

Paul 

Wilkinson 

4 4 16 
 

14 Aug 

2020 

4 4 16 
 

31-Mar-

2021 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

P
age 186



APPENDIX 4 
 

5 

Department Description Department of Community & Children’s Services 

Department Description: Department of Community & Children’s Services 1  
 

Code Title Risk owner Current 

Impact 

Current 

Likelihood 

Current 

Risk 

Score 

Curren

t score 

Latest Note 

Date 

Target 

Impact 

Target 

Likelihoo

d 

Risk 

Score 

Target 

score 

Target 

Date 

Flight Path 

DCCS ED 

001 

Failure to deliver City of 

London Academy expansion 

programme 

Gerald 

Mehrtens 

4 4 16 
 

20 Aug 

2020 

2 2 4 
 

30-Jul-

2021 
 

 

Department Description Department of the Built Environment 

Department Description: Department of the Built Environment 1  
 

Code Title Risk owner Current 

Impact 

Current 

Likelihood 

Current 

Risk 

Score 

Curren

t score 

Latest Note 

Date 

Target 

Impact 

Target 

Likelihoo

d 

Risk 

Score 

Target 

score 

Target 

Date 

Flight Path 

DBE-TP-01 Road Traffic Collision caused 

by City of London staff or 

contractor who is unfit to 

drive while on City business 

Vince 

Dignam 

8 2 16 
 

13 Aug 

2020 

8 1 8 
 

31-Dec-

2020 
 

 

Department Description Director of Open Spaces 

Department Description: Director of Open Spaces 3  
 

Code Title Risk owner Current 

Impact 

Current 

Likelihood 

Current 

Risk 

Score 

Curren

t score 

Latest Note 

Date 

Target 

Impact 

Target 

Likelihoo

d 

Risk 

Score 

Target 

score 

Target 

Date 

Flight Path 

OSD 004 Repair and Maintenance of 

Buildings and Structural 

Assets 

Colin Buttery; 

Sue Ireland 

8 2 16 
 

26 Aug 

2020 

8 2 16 
 

31-Mar-

2021 
 

P
age 187



APPENDIX 4 
 

6 

Code Title Risk owner Current 

Impact 

Current 

Likelihood 

Current 

Risk 

Score 

Curren

t score 

Latest Note 

Date 

Target 

Impact 

Target 

Likelihoo

d 

Risk 

Score 

Target 

score 

Target 

Date 

Flight Path 

OSD 005 Pests and Diseases Colin Buttery; 

Sue Ireland 

4 4 16 
 

26 Aug 

2020 

4 3 12 
 

01-Nov-

2020 
 

OSD 007 Maintaining the City's water 

bodies 

Colin Buttery 8 2 16 
 

26 Aug 

2020 

8 1 8 
 

31-Mar-

2022 
 

 

Department Description Guildhall School of Music and Drama 

Department Description: Guildhall School of Music and Drama 2  
 

Code Title Risk owner Current 

Impact 

Current 

Likelihood 

Current 

Risk 

Score 

Curren

t score 

Latest Note 

Date 

Target 

Impact 

Target 

Likelihoo

d 

Risk 

Score 

Target 

score 

Target 

Date 

Flight Path 

GSMD 

CROSCH 

008 

Risk of Not being prepared 

for a second wave of Covid-

19 

Jonathon 

Poyner 

8 2 16 
 

21 Aug 

2020 

8 1 8 
 

31-Mar-

2021 
 

GSMD SUS 

004 

Failure to mitigate against a 

potential fall in EU student 

numbers as a result of Brexit 

Jo 

Hutchinson; 

Jeremy 

Newton 

4 4 16 
 

21 Aug 

2020 

4 2 8 
 

30-Sep-

2020 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

P
age 188



APPENDIX 4 
 

7 

Department Description Town Clerk’s 

Department Description: Town Clerk’s 1  
 

Code Title Risk owner Current 

Impact 

Current 

Likelihood 

Current 

Risk 

Score 

Curren

t score 

Latest Note 

Date 

Target 

Impact 

Target 

Likelihoo

d 

Risk 

Score 

Target 

score 

Target 

Date 

Flight Path 

TC TCO 

013 

(formerly 

CVD19 

SGPS 07) 

Annual Canvass (TC ES) Charlotte 

Gordon 

4 4 16 
 

19 Aug 

2020 

4 3 12 
 

30-Nov-

2020 
 

 
  

P
age 189



T
his page is intentionally left blank

P
age 190



Committee(s): 
Digital Services Sub Committee – For information 
Audit and Risk Management Committee – For 
Information 

Date(s): 
11th September 2020 
1st October 2020 

Subject: 
Information Management Programme Progress Update 

and CR29 Information Management Deep Dive 

 

Public 
 

Report of: 
Town Clerks 

For Information 
 

Report author: 
Sean Green – Chamberlain’s Department 

 
  

Summary 
 

This report provides a brief update on the progress being made by the Information 
Management Programme in helping to realise the Information Management Strategy 
agreed by the Corporation in 2019.  The programme brings together a number of 
projects, therefore this report presents progress project by project before identifying 
common themes and trends. 
 

Recommendation(s) 
 
It is recommended that Members note the progress update contained in this deep 
dive report. 
 

Main Report 
 

Background 
 
1. The Information Management Programme was set up in January 2020 to help 

implement the Information Management Strategy agreed and adopted by the 
Corporation and Police in 2019. 
 

2. Key principles from the IM Strategy that were agreed are detailed in Appendix 1. 
 

3. The programme is particularly focused on mitigating the corporate risk CR29 
relating to information management (see Appendix 2): 
 
CR29 Information Management - Risk Owner is the Town Clerk. This risk 
relates to the City Corporation’s IM Strategy (2018-2023) not being fully and 
effectively implemented. The potential impacts of this include not being able to 
use relevant information to draw insights and intelligence and support good 
decision-making; vulnerability to personal data and other information rights 
breaches and non-compliance with possible ICO fines or other legal action; and a 
waste of resources storing information beyond usefulness. 
 

4. The programme’s approach to implementing the strategy and mitigating the risk 
is based on sufficiently improving the understanding of the benefits and principles 

Page 191

Agenda Item 14a



of proper information management across the Corporation and Police and 
providing the means for staff to effectively and efficiently put that understanding 
into practice through improved skills and tools.  
 

5. Various tactical projects had already been identified as necessary in the 
information management arena; the programme is intended to bring these 
projects together in a strategically coherent way to better identify and manage 
their dependencies and synergies and thus better realise their strategic benefits. 
 

6. The programme is governed through the Information Management Board, which 
is chaired by the Comptroller & City Solicitor and includes senior representatives 
from the Corporate Strategy team, IT Division and Police alongside senior others 
from C&CS. 

 
7. The Programme has a series of Metrics that could start being reported from 

November 2020.  The first set of metrics will be concerning protective marking, 
freedom of information requests and quality of information assets. 

 
Current Position 
 
8. The Information Management Programme continues to improve the 

understanding and the means of information management (IM) across the City of 
London, starting with the projects listed below (paragraphs 9-16).  It should be 
noted that in some cases, the programme is seeking only to get ongoing 
processes defined and started rather than completed, therefore in such cases, 
activity will continue after the programme ends.  All dates are in 2020 unless 
otherwise specified. 
 

9. IM Awareness Campaign: To improve staff understanding of IM, an awareness 
campaign was started in February 2020; it was then suspended to make 
room for COVID-19 communications and is now expected to restart in October in 
an updated form. 
 

10. IM Policies & Roles: To set staff expectations of their roles in IM, the IM policy 
framework has been strengthened and negotiations are under way with HR to 
clarify IM responsibilities in relevant job descriptions; IM improvements to JDs is 
expected to be a gradual process, being undertaken as and when a JD requires 
an update for some other reason; this approach is expected to be agreed with HR 
by October.  
 

11. Information Classification/Protective Marking: To enable and encourage basic 
IM good practice, a feature is being introduced in Word, Excel, PowerPoint 
and Outlook that lets staff tag documents and emails for information sensitivity 
and thus appropriate handling; the feature’s introduction was interrupted by 
the COVID-19 driven switch to home working, which precluded changing core 
software until staff had got used to their new situation, but it has now restarted; 
the new feature is expected to be available for staff to use by October. 
 

12. Information Assets Register: To enable and encourage proper management 
of City of London information assets and the development of new, value-adding 

Page 192



uses for them, we are working with all departments to identify, describe and track 
all such assets via a corporately-shared Information Assets Registry; noting that 
the register will continually evolve as assets and what we wish to know about 
them change, the first version is expected to be in place in October. 
 

13. Local Information Manager: To help facilitate and embed the benefits of the 
projects outlined in paragraphs 7-10 above, the role of Local Information 
Manager has been created within each department; this does not mean creating 
new posts but rather asking staff in existing posts to take on the role’s additional 
responsibilities; different departments have determined that different posts are 
the best home for these responsibilities and the staff in those posts are being 
supported in taking on the new role; staff are expected to be established in the 
role by December. 
 

14. Migration from Shared Drives to SharePoint: To help better manage 
documents as commonly used repositories of information, all relevant shared 
documents are being migrated from shared drives to SharePoint, where they can 
be made available for collaboration while remaining secure, and eventually have 
retention and other compliance rules applied to them; full scoping of this work 
and securing of approval/funding for it are still ongoing; the work will almost 
certainly require procurement of consultancy services and/or migration tools. 
 

15. Information Retention Management: To help comply with record retention 
policies and reduce information clutter, a tool and associated processes are 
being implemented to analyse the information content of databases in the context 
of retention policies, thus identifying information to be deleted or archived, and 
then to take the relevant action effectively and efficiently; work on this is in its 
early days with Microsoft tools being compared with software from other vendors. 
 

16. IM Dashboard: To keep key stakeholders informed of progress in improving IM 
across the organisation, a web-based, self-service dashboard is being developed 
that will take feeds of data from various sources that directly or as proxies 
measure such progress in the form of changing behaviours; the style and 
contents of the dashboard is expected to change over time to reflect changing 
areas of focus; the first version of the dashboard is expected to be ready at the 
end of October. 
 

17. The programme expects to support the Corporation’s COVID-19 recovery plan 
where relevant, especially as the value of information used well and opportunities 
for improvement in this area were amongst the learnings of the COVID-19 crisis.
  

18. Beyond that, the successful response to the COVID-19 crisis, involving major 
changes to systems and processes implemented quickly and flexibly, might have 
the positive impact of demonstrating to staff and management that a similar 
degree of change to implement proper information management is now feasible. 

Corporate & Strategic Implications 
 
19. The IM programme is in place to mitigate the IM Corporate risk CR29 and 

support the following Corporate Priorities. 

Page 193



 

• We are digitally and physically well-connected and responsive.  

• We inspire enterprise, excellence, creativity and collaboration. 
 
 
Summary 
 
20. The key to information management success is making it an intrinsic and 

beneficial part of everyday behaviour, rather than treating it as an afterthought or 
overhead.   
 

21. The City of London Corporation will use the principles above alongside 
recognised good practice standards, policies, processes, technologies and 
leadership to support and encourage the behaviours we need. The built-in 
continual improvement ethos will ensure that these keep pace with changing 
business needs. 

 
22. Metrics will be reported to this Committee going forward to evidence the maturity 

of the organisation in the use and management of information for better decision 
making and outcomes. 
 

 
Appendices 
 

• Appendix 1 – IM Principles  

• Appendix 2 – IM Risk 
 
Sean Green 
IT Director 
Chamberlain’s Department 
 
T: 07715 234 487 
E: Sean.Green@cityoflondon.gov.uk 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 194



Appendix 1 – IM Principles  
 
Information acquired by any part of the City Corporation becomes an asset 
for all the organisation. 
 
Information will be open, transparent and available across the organisation. Our 
staff are custodians of our information assets.  We only restrict information for 
legal, commercial or privacy reasons. 
 
Information is stored securely once and kept up to date while needed and 
safely disposed of afterward. 
 
We will educate, encourage and enable staff to store a single version of 
information that can be added to and amended.  We will discourage duplication 
and encourage information reuse and repurposing. We will insist on safe disposal 
of information when no longer needed. 
 
We share information appropriately across the organisation, with partners 
and with the public. 
 
We will enable staff to easily share our information by developing common 
standards and processes.  
 
Authorised people have easy access to information and to the tools and 
skills to get the most out of it. 
 
We will provide the information required – securely, quickly, easily, accurately, 
conveniently, consistently, and transparently.  Systems will be procured, 
designed and developed to enable effective information sharing, analysis and 
presentation. 
 
We promote the culture and leadership needed to look after, share and use 
information wisely. 
 
We will develop and nurture new information management values and 
behaviours, including a drive to continually improve based on experience and 
research.  We will encourage an approach of curiosity and challenge in the use of 
our information.   Departments will be given the skills and capability to lead and 
champion this ambition.  

 
 

Page 195



Appendix 2 – CR29 IM Risk 
Risk no, title, 

creation date, 

owner 

Risk Description (Cause, Event, Impact)  Current Risk Rating & Score Risk Update and date of update Target Risk Rating & Score Target 

Date 

Current 

Risk score 

change 

indicator 

CR29 

Information 

Management 

Cause: Lack of officer commitment and investment 

of the right resources into organisational information 

management systems and culture. 

Event: The City Corporation’s IM Strategy (2018-

2023) is not fully and effectively implemented 

Effect: 

• Not being able to use relevant information to draw 

insights and intelligence and support good decision-

making   

  

• Vulnerability to personal data and other 

information rights breaches and non-compliance with 

possible ICO fines or other legal action 

  

• Waste of resources storing information beyond 

usefulness  

 

 

 

12 • New business intelligence 

dashboards continue to be 

developed for improved decision 

making by the Corporate Strategy 

and Performance team • An 

Information Management 

Awareness campaign has been 

completed. Second campaign is 

planned for October • Work has 

begun to review relevant staff 

roles that should have an 

information management 

competency added • Gateway 

paper has been drafted • Local 

Information Manager Role has 

been launched into the 

organisation. Individuals have 

been identified and training will 

commence in July • The Technical 

Pilot for protective marking was 

completed prior to COVID. Ready 

for launch at appropriate time 

 

6 31-Jan-

2021  

08-Apr-2019 27 Aug 2020 Constant 

John Barradell 

                        

Action no Action description Latest Note Action 

owner 

Latest 

Note Date 

Due Date 

CR29a Ensure that CoL has the necessary awareness, tools 

and, skills to manage information effectively 

Launch of protective marking, IM training and communication will be in October 

2020 -campaign date changed due to a more important corporate communications 

priority - This has been delayed due to COVID and will be reviewed in the coming 

months 

Sean 

Green 

27-Aug-

2020  

31-Oct-

2020 

P
age 196



CR29b Start the culture change by Integrating good 

information management practice into the Leadership 

and Management stand of the City of London 

Learning Academy 

• Work began in December 2019 between HR, IT and the Corporate Strategy and 

Performance teams to identify the key skills required for good information 

management. HR can then develop the training to support this. • HR to review where 

in HR policies and procedures this can be integrated. HR to Work with the senior 

leadership team to develop a plan and then deliver key messages and communications 

on the importance, relevance and benefits of good information management. The IM 

campaign will launch the messages. • The Local Information Manager role was 

launched in July, training will follow throughout the next month, 

Chrissie 

Morgan 

27-Aug-

2020  

31-Oct-

2020 

CR29f Ensure officers can implement the data retention 

policy and data discovery requirements from GDPR 

• Put in place a new Data retention and discovery tool set to ensure we only retain and 

archive information in line with the agreed policy and retention schedule. • Plan to use 

readily available MS tools and pilot the move of shared drives to MS Teams • 

Business case for capital investment in automated MS tools has been submitted for 

funding in 2020. – Protective marking tool to be launched in October 2020 • With 

COVID decided to delay roll out of Protective Marking to October 20 - delayed due to 

COVID • We will kick of project for Data Discovery tool to support the 

implementation of Data Retention policy and our Data Protection ‘right to be 

forgotten’ responsibility - Project Manager onboarded and discovery work is 

underway 

Sean 

Green 

27-Aug-

2020  

31-Dec-

2020 

 

P
age 197



T
his page is intentionally left blank

P
age 198



 
 

Committee Date 

Audit & Risk Management Committee 1 October 2020 

Subject 
Refresh of CR30 for Implementation Phase of Climate 
Action Strategy 

Public  

Report of 
The Town Clerk & Chief Executive  

Report Author 
Damian Nussbaum, Director of Innovation & Growth 
Kate Smith, Head of Corporate Strategy & Performance 

For Information 

 
Summary 

 
This paper presents at Appendix 1 a revised draft Corporate Risk Register entry for 
CR30 - Climate Action for the purposes of a ‘deep dive’ discussion prior to the entry 
being updated and the implementation phase commencing.  
 
The Climate Action Strategy itself is being presented for information at the various 
committees responsible for the actions within in it during September 2020. This 
meeting will take place after its presentation at Policy & Resources Committee and 
before its expected presentation to the Court of Common Council for adoption in 
October 2020. Information on the strategy and action plan can be found in the P&R 
pack here. 
 

Recommendations 
 
The Audit & Risk Management Committee is recommended to: 
 

i. Note the draft revised Corporate Risk Register entry for CR30 - Climate Action 
at Appendix 1. 

 
Main Report 

 
Background 
 

1. In June 2020, the Policy & Resources Committee agreed that a Climate Action 
Strategy should be presented for approval to the Committee on 24 September 
and the Court of Common Council on 8 October.  

 
2. Today’s ‘deep dive’ discussion has been planned to provide additional 

assurance to the Court before it is asked to approve it and to facilitate Member 
scrutiny as that milestone is approached.  

 
Current position 
 

3. Phase 1 of CR30 – Climate Action, covered the development of the strategy 
and action plan. The target risk score of four has now been achieved so it has 
been rated GREEN. The flight path for the risk is shown overleaf at figure 1. 

 
 

Page 199

Agenda Item 14b

https://democracy.cityoflondon.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=395&MId=20578&Ver=4


 
 

Fig. 1 – Corporate Risk Register summary for CR3O – Climate Action 
 

Risk 
reference 

Creation 
Date 

Title Current 
Risk 
Score 

Current 
risk 
score 
icon 

Trend 
Icon 

Risk flight path 
(last 12 
assessments) 

CR30 07-Oct-
2019 

Climate Action 
4 

   

 
4. Phase 2 of CR30 – Deliver and Refine Action Plan – will commence in April 

2021. The action plan covers the first six years of the strategy, ending March 
2027. Phase 2 risk actions have been drafted as co-terminus with this. 

 
Next steps 
 

5. Following today’s ‘deep dive’, officers will make any recommended 
amendments to the Corporate Risk Register entry.  
 

6. Member and officer governance for the implementation phase of the strategy is 
currently being designed. In the meantime, the Chief Officer Risk Management 
Group and the Climate Action Strategy Implementation Group will monitor the 
corporate risk and ensure that relevant departmental risk registers are updated 
to capture and flesh out Chief Officer-owned actions. Risks will also be captured 
in high-level departmental Business Plans. These documents will be presented 
for scrutiny and/or approval by committees in the usual way.  

 
7. When the new operating model is implemented, the risk actions will be moved 

to fit with the new responsibilities.    
 
Appendix 
 

1. Draft Revised Corporate Risk Register Entry for CR30 - Climate Action  
2. CR30 Climate Action Phase 2 for discussion 

 
 
Damian Nussbaum 
Director of Innovation & Growth,  
Damian.Nussbaum@cityoflondon.gov.uk  
 
Kate Smith 
Head of Corporate Strategy & Performance 
Kate.Smith@cityoflondon.gov.uk  

Page 200

mailto:Damian.Nussbaum@cityoflondon.gov.uk
mailto:Kate.Smith@cityoflondon.gov.uk


Appendix 1 
 

 

 Risk no, title, 

creation date, 

owner 

Risk Description (Cause, Event, Impact)  Current Risk Rating & Score Risk Update and date of update Target Risk Rating & Score Target 

Date 

Current 

Risk score 

change 

indicator 

CR30 

Climate 

Action 

Cause: Insufficient resources and prioritisation 

allocated to Climate Action. 

Event: The City Corporation fails to reduce and 

mitigate the impact and effect of climate change. 

PHASE 2: DELIVER AND REFINE ACTION 

PLAN – To be addressed in completion of phase 1. 

Impact: As the governing body of the Square Mile 

dedicated to the City, there are a range of potential 

impacts including: 

• failing to deliver on the net zero targets in our 

Climate Action Strategy  

• reducing our ability to effectively reduce carbon 

emissions in the next two carbon budget periods 

(2022 and 2027)  

• damaging the City’s credibility in Green Finance 

and Insurance markets;  

• reducing our ability to champion sustainable 

growth globally and enhance the relevance and 

reputation of the Square Mile  

• failing to adequately invest in climate resilience 

measures leading to negative impacts on social, 

economic and environmental outcomes  

• failing to adequately invest in net zero initiatives 

leading to negative impact on our financial and 

property investments   

 

 

4 PHASE 1:  DEVELOP 

STRATEGY & ACTION PLAN 

completed subject to approvals on 

16 September: 

 

• 4th All Member briefing held 11 

September outlined the strategy 

and feedback on initial public 

engagement (13 July – 31 August) 

 

• Strategy presented for 

information at various 

committees, P&R in September 

and Court in October. 

 

• Press drip-feed and video and 

document preparation underway 

for launch in November at Green 

Horizon Summit. 

 

PHASE 2: DELIVER AND 

REFINE ACTION PLAN – To be 

addressed in completion of phase 

1. 

 

• Deep dive discussion scheduled 

for 1/10/20 Audit & Risk 

Management Committee to help 

shape phase 2 actions and 

responsibility / accountability. 

 

4 31-Mar-

2027  

07-Oct-2019 22 Sep 2020 Constant 

John Barradell 

P
age 201



                        

Action no Action description Latest Note Action 

owner 

Latest 

Note Date 

Due Date 

CR30i Gain Officer and then Members’ approval of 

Climate Action Strategy, Action Plan and funding 

proposal 

Officer sign-off completed. Strategy, Action Plan and Funding to be discussed at 

P&R in September prior to CoCo in October. 

Damian 

Nussbaum

; Kate 

Smith 

22-Sep-

2020  

08-Oct-

2020 

CR30j Agree appropriate governance to embed Climate 

Action in departmental scrutiny, mechanisms for 

releasing staged financing, and set up regular 

tracking of impact of our actions on targets  

Pending any Member governance changes and changes to the operating model.  Damian 

Nussbaum

; Kate 

Smith 

21-Sep-

2020  

31-Mar-

2027 

CR30k Political and international relationship management Strategy annual reporting Damian 

Nussbaum 

21-Sep-

2020  

31-Mar-

2027 

CR30l Secure adequate capital funding for first six years 

actions 

Strategy annual reporting Peter 

Kane 

22-Sep-

2020  

31-Mar-

2027 

CR30m Mitigate cashflow risk from earmarked savings from 

other workstreams not materialising in full / on time 

Ensuring that the benefits of savings going into 

Build Back Better Fund are ring-fenced to the 

strategy  

Funding proposal included in P&R papers for approval 

 

  

 

Climate integrated into decision-making, not only consideration 

Peter 

Kane 

21-Sep-

2020  

31-Mar-

2027 

CR30n Identify skills shortages and upskill / recruit to meet 

needs. Embed deliverables and departmental risks in 

performance metrics Business Plans, Team Plans 

and individual performance plans, including those of 

Chief Officers 

Funding for the programme Management Office until April 2021 yet to be identified. 

 

Chief Officers yet to identify and set aside budget allocation for climate actions. 

 

Organisational shortages in project and programme management, data gathering and 

analysis, stakeholder research and engagement. 

 

Delivery responsibilities heavily skewed towards one department 

Colin 

Buttery; 

Carolyn 

Dwyer; 

Peter 

Kane; 

Damian 

Nussbaum

; Paul 

Wilkinson 

22-Sep-

2020  

31-Mar-

2027 

CR30o Embed climate messaging in internal comms as a 

key driver for change, and celebrate achievements 

In regular discussions with TOM team and using strategy to pioneer new ways of 

cross-Corporation working 

Damian 

Nussbaum

; Kate 

Smith 

22-Sep-

2020  

31-Mar-

2027 

CR30p Deliver programme of works across operational and 

investment portfolios 

Climate integrated into decision-making, not only consideration Paul 

Wilkinson 

21-Sep-

2020  

31-Mar-

2027 

P
age 202



CR30q Monitor and drive performance against net zero and 

financial targets for financial investments and supply 

chain, continually refreshing learning 

Climate integrated into decision-making, not only consideration Peter 

Kane 

21-Sep-

2020  

31-Mar-

2027 

CR30r Monitor and drive performance against net zero and 

resilience targets, continually refreshing learning 

Climate integrated into decision-making, not only consideration Carolyn 

Dwyer 

21-Sep-

2020  

31-Mar-

2027 

CR30s Set out carbon removal action plan and mobilise Climate integrated into decision-making, not only consideration Colin 

Buttery 

21-Sep-

2020  

31-Mar-

2027 

CR30t Run overarching engagement programme with our 

stakeholders and partners (phase 3 of engagement 

plan) and quality assure engagement for projects 

Recruiting Climate Action Engagement Lead to work for Programme Manager Damian 

Nussbaum

; Kate 

Smith 

21-Sep-

2020  

31-Mar-

2027 

CR30u Carry out impact assessments and equalities analysis 

on projects and stakeholder research and use their 

findings to shape future engagement and delivery 

Will strengthen the resident / community and youth aspects of this using best practice 

guidance from the LGA: https://www.local.gov.uk/our-support/climate-change 

 

 

Andrew 

Carter; 

Kate 

Smith 

21-Sep-

2020  

31-Mar-

2027 

 

P
age 203

https://www.local.gov.uk/our-support/climate-change


T
his page is intentionally left blank

P
age 204



 

Code CR30   Title Climate Action 

                        

Description Cause: Insufficient resources and prioritisation allocated to Climate Action. 
  
Event: The City Corporation fails to reduce and mitigate the impact and effect of climate change. 
 
PHASE 1:  DEVELOP STRATEY & ACTION PLAN - The City Corporation does not adopt a credible Climate Action Strategy to meet 
the challenges and effects of climate change, as it affects the discharge of its role and responsibilities across its own organisational 
assets within the Square Mile and beyond (i.e. we have open spaces, offices, property assets and housing outside the Square Mile), 
as well as its role and responsibilities as the governing body of the Square Mile. This risk register entry relates only to phase 1. 
 
PHASE 2: DELIVER AND REFINE ACTION PLAN – To be addressed in completion of phase 1. 
Impact: As the governing body of the Square Mile dedicated to the City, there are a range of potential impacts including: 

•  

• failing to deliver on the net zero targets climate ambitions in our Responsible Business Climate Action Strategy  

• reducing our ability to effectively reduce carbon emissions in the next two carbon budget periods (2022 and 2027) 

• damaging the City’s credibility in Green Finance and Insurance markets;  

• reducing our ability to play a major role in the 2020 UN Climate Change Conference COP 26 in Nov 2021;  

• reducing our ability to champion sustainable growth globally and enhance the relevance and reputation of the Square Mile 

• failing to adequately invest in climate resilience measures leading to negative impacts on social, economic and environmental 

outcomes 

• failing to adequately invest in net zero initiatives leading to negative impact on our financial and property investments 

                        

Category Environmental   Approach Reduce 

Risk Level Corporate   Risk Owner John Barradell 

                        

Strategic Aim   
  
Key Policy 
Priority 

  

Department Town Clerk’s   Committee Policy and Resources Committee 

                        

P
age 205



Current Risk 
Assessment, Score 
& Trend 
Comparison 

 

  

 

  
Target Risk 
Assessment & 
Score 

 

 

Likelihood    Likelihood  

Impact    Impact  

Risk Score    Risk Score  

Review Date 17-Sept-2020   Target Date 31-Mar-27 

                        

Latest Note PHASE 1:  DEVELOP STRATEY & ACTION PLAN completed subject to approvals on 16 September: 
• 4th All Member briefing held 11 September outlined the strategy and feedback on initial public engagement (13 July – 31 August) 
• Strategy presented for information at various committees, P&R in September and Court in October. 
• Press drip-feed and video and document preparation underway for launch in November at Green Horizon Summit. 
 
PHASE 2: DELIVER AND REFINE ACTION PLAN – To be addressed in completion of phase 1. See initial draft below. 
• Deep dive discussion scheduled for 1/10/20 Audit & Risk Management Committee to help shape phase 2 actions and responsibility 
/ accountability. 

                        

Actions related to this risk:           

Ref No: Title Action Description Action Owner Due Date Progress Latest Note 

CR30a-h PHASE 1 DEVELOP STRATEGY & 
ACTION PLAN 

Damian 
Nussbaum; Kate 
Smith 

16-Sept-20 
100% Completed 

CR30i Climate Action Strategy 
approval 

Gain Officer and then 
Members’ approval of Climate 
Action Strategy, Action Plan 
and funding proposal 

Damian 
Nussbaum; Kate 
Smith 08-0ct-2020 

95% Officer sign-off completed. 
Strategy, Action Plan and 
Funding to be discussed at 
P&R in September prior to 
CoCo in October. 

CR30j Governance and oversight  Agree appropriate 
governance to embed 
Climate Action in 
departmental scrutiny, 
mechanisms for releasing 

Damian 
Nussbaum; Kate 
Smith 31-Mar-27 

% Pending any Member 
governance changes and 
changes to the operating 
model.  

P
age 206



staged financing, and set up 
regular tracking of impact of 
our actions on targets 

CR30k Impact on City financial and 
ability to champion sustainable 
growth of not hitting net zero 
targets / maintaining resilience 

Political and international 
relationship management 

Damian 
Nussbaum 

31-Mar-27 

% Strategy annual reporting 

CR30l Remaining capital funding for 
delivery of first six years of 
Climate Action Strategy Action 
Plan 

Secure adequate capital 
funding for first six years 
actions 

Peter Kane 

31-Mar-27 

% Funding proposal included in 
P&R papers for approval 
 
Climate integrated into 
decision-making, not only 
consideration 

CR30m Revenue funding for delivery 
of first six years of Climate 
Action Strategy Action Plan 

Mitigate cashflow risk from 
earmarked savings from other 
workstreams not materialising 
in full / on time 
 
Ensuring that the benefits of 
savings going into Build Back 
Better Fund are ring-fenced 
to the strategy  

Peter Kane 

31-Mar-27 

% Funding proposal included in 
P&R papers for approval 
 
Climate integrated into 
decision-making, not only 
consideration 

CR30n Capability and capacity of 
delivery teams in each 
department 

Identify skills shortages and 
upskill / recruit to meet needs. 
Embed deliverables and 
departmental risks in 
performance metrics 
Business Plans, Team Plans 
and individual performance 
plans, including those of 
Chief Officers 

Paul Wilkinson; 
Carolyn Dwyer; 
Colin Buttery; 
Peter Kane; 
Damian 
Nussbaum 

31-Mar-27 

% Funding for the programme 
Management Office until April 
2021 yet to be identified. 
Chief Officers yet to identify 
and set aside budget 
allocation for climate actions. 
Organisational shortages in 
project and programme 
management, data gathering 
and analysis, stakeholder 
research and engagement. 
Delivery responsibilities 
heavily skewed towards one 
department 

P
age 207



CR30o Embedding climate action in 
organisational culture 

Embed climate messaging in 
internal comms as a key 
driver for change, and 
celebrate achievements 

Kate Smith 

31-Mar-27 

% In regular discussions with 
TOM team and using strategy 
to pioneer new ways of cross-
Corporation working 

CR30p Risk of not hitting net zero and 
resilience targets for City 
Corporation operational and 
investment assets, whilst 
maximising returns 

Deliver programme of works 
across operational and 
investment portfolios 

Paul Wilkinson 

31-Mar-27 

% Climate integrated into 
decision-making, not only 
consideration 

CR30q Risk of not hitting net zero 
targets for financial 
investments and supply chain 

 Peter Kane 
31-Mar-27 

% Climate integrated into 
decision-making, not only 
consideration 

CR30r Resilience risks of Square Mile 
infrastructure and public realm 
and risk of not hitting net zero 
targets for developments and 
transport 

 Carolyn Dwyer 

31-Mar-27 

% Climate integrated into 
decision-making, not only 
consideration 

CR30s Reaching carbon removal 
targets through open spaces 

Set out carbon removal action 
plan and mobilise 

Colin Buttery 
31-Mar-27 

% Climate integrated into 
decision-making, not only 
consideration 

CR30t Delivery delays and failures 
due to stakeholder / public 
action / inaction 

Run overarching engagement 
programme with our 
stakeholders and partners 
(phase 3 of engagement 
plan) and quality assure 
engagement for projects 

Damian 
Nussbaum: Kate 
Smith 

31-Mar-27 

% Recruiting Climate Action 
Engagement Lead to work for 
Programme Manager 

CR30u Protecting vulnerable groups 
who are most likely to be 
impacted by climate change 
and fulfilling Public Sector 
Equalities Duty 

Carry out impact 
assessments and equalities 
analysis on projects and 
stakeholder research and use 
their findings to shape future 
engagement and delivery 

Andrew Carter; 
Kate Smith 

31-Mar-27 

% Will strengthen the resident / 
community and youth aspects 
of this using best practice 
guidance from the LGA: 
https://www.local.gov.uk/our-
support/climate-change 

 

P
age 208

https://www.local.gov.uk/our-support/climate-change
https://www.local.gov.uk/our-support/climate-change


Committee(s): 
Audit and Risk Management Committee 
 

Date(s): 
1st October 2020 
 

Subject: 
 
Annual Summary of HMICFRS Inspections and Reports 
 

Public 
 

Report of: 
Commissioner of Police 
 

For Information 

Report author: 
Head of Strategic Development, City of London Police 

 
Summary 

This report provides Members with an overview of Her Majesty’s Inspectorate of 
Constabulary, Fire and Rescue Services (HMICFRS) continuing programme of 
inspections and published reports, together with the City of London Police (CoLP) 
response where relevant. It additionally provides assurance that the recommendations 
from reports are being addressed by the Force.    
 
During the reporting period (September 2019 – September 2020) HMICFRS published 
9 reports relevant to the City of London Police:  

• Shining a light on betrayal: Abuse of position for sexual purposes (national 
report by HMICFRS published September 2019); 

• Cyber: Keep the light on (national report of HMICFRS published October 
2019) 

• Evidence led domestic abuse prosecutions (national joint report by 
HMICFRS and HMCPSI published January 2020) 

• Child protection 2019 (national report of HMICFRS, published February 
2020) 

• Integrated offender management (national joint report of HMICFRS and 
HMI Probation, published February 2020) 

• Multi-agency response to child sexual abuse in the family environment 
(national report of HMICFRS, published February 2020) 

• Counter Terrorism (national report of HMICFRS, published March 2020) 

• City of London Police Child Protection (Force report by HMICFRS, 
published July 2020) 

• Roads policing: Not optional (national report by HMICFRS, published July 
2020) 

 
Only one inspection, Child Abuse, involved a physical inspection of the City of London 
Police, with all other inspections being assessed against data returns and self-
assessments. All reports together with details of progress against recommendations 
and areas for further improvement are reported in detail quarterly to the Police 
Performance and Resource Management Committee for scrutiny and oversight.  
During the time the Committees did not sit, detailed progress was reported to the 
Police Authority Board. 

Recommendation 
Members are asked to receive this report and note its contents. 

Page 209

Agenda Item 15



 
 

Main Report 
 

Background 
 

1. This report provides Members with an overview of Her Majesty’s Inspectorate 
of Constabulary, Fire and Rescue Services (HMICFRS) continuing programme 
of inspections and published reports, together with the City of London Police 
(CoLP) response where relevant. It also provides assurance that the 
recommendations from reports are being addressed by the Force.   

 
2. Members are reminded that HMICFRS use the terms ‘recommendation’ and 

‘area for further improvement’ (AFI) to denote specific levels of concern. A 
recommendation is only made where in HMICFRS’s assessment there is a 
significant underlying cause for concern. Where there is no such concern but 
where HMICFRS feel general improvements can be made, areas for further 
improvement are identified. 

 
Current Position 
 

3. During the reporting period (September 2019 – September 2020) HMICFRS 
published 7 reports relevant to the City of London Police. This is fewer than the 
number of reports that would usually be published and is due to the Covid-19 
situation. HMICFRS suspended all inspection activity at the end of March 2020. 
Inspections (conducted remotely) resumed in late August 2020. 

 
Shining a light on betrayal: Abuse of position for sexual purposes (national 
report by HMICFRS published September 2019) 
 
4. This report provides a national picture of abuse of position for a sexual purpose 

in police forces, drawing on the finalised findings from the 29 forces in the first 
two tranches of the integrated PEEL (Police Efficiency, Effectiveness and 
Legitimacy) assessments, and the early findings from the third and final tranche 
of forces. 
 

5. The report made 6 recommendations, 4 of which were relevant to the City of 
London Police. All recommendations except 1 have been implemented by 
CoLP; the outstanding recommendation (which relates to the roll out of new IT) 
is expected to be delivered by November 2020. 
 

Cyber: Keep the light on (national report of HMICFRS published October 
2019) 

 
6. This national report focuses on the effectiveness and efficiency of the police 

service response to cyber dependent crime. HMICFRS assessed the extent to 
which: 

i. Policing has a well-designed strategy for tackling cyber-dependent 
crime; 

Page 210



ii. organisational structures provide the necessary capacity, capabilities 
and partnerships; 

iii. victims of cyber-dependent crime receive a high-quality response; and 
iv. staff at local and national levels are provided with appropriate learning 

opportunities to deal with cyber-dependent crime. 
 

7. The report made 5 recommendations, 4 of which were relevant to the City of 
London Police. All have been implemented. 

 
Evidence led domestic abuse prosecutions (joint national report by 
HMICFRS and HMCPSI published January 2020) 
 

8. This national report looks at situations where if a victim of domestic abuse 
decides not to support a prosecution, police and prosecutors should consider 
whether it is possible to bring a prosecution without that support (an ‘evidence 
led prosecution’). Her Majesty’s Crown Prosecution Service Inspectorate 
(HMCPSI) and HMICFRS conducted the inspection to establish whether the 
guidance and policy on evidence led prosecutions is widely understood by both 
police officers and prosecutors and whether they seek to build viable evidence 
led prosecutions where appropriate. 
 

9. The report made 8 recommendations, 6 of which were relevant to the City of 
London Police. All have been implemented. 
 

Child protection 2019 (national report of HMICFRS, published February 
2020) 

 
10. This national report examines the effectiveness of the decisions made by the 

police at each stage of their interactions with or for children, from initial contact 
through to the investigation of offences against them. The treatment of children 
in custody was scrutinised, together with force structures, leadership and 
governance in relation to their child protection services. 

 
11. The report aimed to build on the findings of previous reports by exploring the 

key themes identified by the evidence gathered from all 64 inspections 
published to date (both individual force and joint targeted area inspections) and 
considered ways in which the police service, its safeguarding partners and the 
government need to adapt and respond in order to meet the presented 
challenges. 
 

12. The report made 6 recommendations, 3 of which were (at the time) relevant to 
the City of London Police. 1 recommendation was subsequently closed as it 
related to those forces that had not been individually inspected, which CoLP 
duly was. The 2 remaining recommendations (relating to mitigating the 
criminalisation of children and reporting performance in this area) are being 
implemented, with progress reported to the Police Performance and Resources 
Management Committee.  
 

 

Page 211



Multi-agency response to child sexual abuse in the family environment 
(national report of HMICFRS, published February 2020) 
 

13. This national report draws together findings from six joint targeted area 
inspections, which does not include the City of London Police, focusing on the 
multi-agency response to child sexual abuse in the family environment. 
The findings consider the extent to which children’s social care, health 
professionals, the police and probation officers were effective in safeguarding 
children who live with sexual abuse in the family environment. National themes 
and issues are identified in the report highlighting the need for professionals to 
give sexual abuse a higher priority in local areas, through improved training and 
awareness-raising of the problem. This report did not make any 
recommendations for implementation.  

 
Integrated offender management (national joint report of HMICFRS and HMI 
Probation, published February 2020) 
 

14. This national inspection report was produced jointly by HMICFRS and HMI 
Probation. The report found that the principal reason Integrated Offender 
Management (IOM) exists (to bring together police, probation services and 
other agencies to identify and manage repeat offenders in local communities) 
was low on forces’ priorities. 
 

15. City of London Police was not inspected for this report. Qualifying offenders for 
IOM are managed by the force in which they reside; there are no qualifying 
offenders residing in the City for the Force to directly manage. Force efforts are 
directed at engaging with forces whose IOM offenders commit crime in the City 
and seeking preventative measures. 
 

16. The report made 11 recommendations, 4 of which were relevant for the City of 
London Police; 3 have been implemented and 1, which relates to the publication 
of a standard operating procedure covering roles and responsibilities of partner 
agencies, is in progress. 
 

 
Counter-terrorism policing - an inspection of the police’s contribution to 
the government’s Prevent programme (national report of HMICFRS 
published March 2020) 
 

17. In this national report, HMICFRS found that forces in general were meeting their 
Prevent duty, working effectively with other organisations and using policies 
and effective processes designed to protect people from being radicalised. 
There were no recommendations for the Force to address.  

 
City of London Police Child Protection (Force report by HMICFRS, 
published July 2020) 

 
18. This Force-level report examined the same themes as the national inspection 

(see paragraphs 10-11) but followed an individual inspection of the Force. The 
subsequent report made 6 recommendations, which have been made into a 

Page 212



comprehensive action plan for delivery. The action plan has been shared with 
HMICFRS who have commented favourably on its comprehensiveness. The 
Force will be re-inspected in six months time to assess progress against the 
action plan. 

 
Roads policing: Not optional (national report by HMICFRS, published July 
2020) 

 
19. This national thematic report by HMICFRS sought to establish how effectively 

the road network of England and Wales is policed, specifically: 
 

i. are national and local roads policing strategies effective? 
ii. does capability and capacity match demand? 
iii. do the police engage effectively with the public and partners? and 
iv. how well police officers are trained to deal with roads policing matters? 

 
20. The report made 9 recommendations, 8 of which are relevant for the Force. 2 

have already been met and 6, which are subject to a detailed action plan, are 
in progress. 
 

Conclusion 
 

21. HMICFRS continues to deliver a comprehensive and robust inspection regime 
to test delivery of policing services and ensure that high standards are 
maintained by forces.  The Force continues to acquit itself well. Members of 
your Committee can be assured that together with the support and oversight of 
the Police Performance and Resource Management Committee, it will continue 
to do so. 

 
 
Appendices 
 
None 
 
Stuart Phoenix 
Head of Strategic Development, City of London Police 
 
T: 020 7601 2213 
E: Stuart.Phoenix@cityoflondon.pnn.police.uk 
 
 

Page 213

mailto:Stuart.Phoenix@cityoflondon.pnn.police.uk


This page is intentionally left blank

Page 214



Document is Restricted

Page 215

Agenda Item 19
By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 217

Agenda Item 20
By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 225

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	3 Order of the Court
	7 Minutes
	Minutes

	8 Appointment to Sub-Committees
	9 Outstanding Actions of the Committee
	10 Committee Work Programme
	Risk Challenge Session Schedule

	11 Bridge House Estates Annual Report and Financial Statements 2019/20
	BHE Annual Report & Financial Statements 2019-20
	Bridge House Estates completion report 2020

	12 Internal Audit Update Report
	Appendix 1 - Programme of Follow-up Activity
	Appendix 2 - High Level Internal Audit Plan

	13 Risk Update
	Ap 1 Corporate Risk Detailed Register EXCLUDING completed actions by risk appetite
	Ap 2 corporate risk short summary report - by risk appetite
	Ap 4 Top red risks only - short summary by department

	14a CR29: Information Management Programme Progress Update and CR29 Information Management Deep Dive
	14b CR30: Refresh of CR30 for Implementation Phase of Climate Action Strategy
	Appendix 1 - CR30 Risk Register Entry
	Appendix 2 - CR30 Climate Action Phase 2

	15 Annual Summary of HMICFRS Inspections and Reports
	19 Non-Public Minutes of the previous meeting
	20 Non-Public Appendices to the Risk Update
	Ap 5 Covid19ALLCOVIDrisksShortSummarybydepartmentNOTFORPUBLICAION (5)


